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          1                              Wednesday Morning Session, 
 
          2                              June 29, 2 016. 
 
          3                           - - - 
 
          4                    EILEEN M. MIKKELSEN 
 
          5   being by me first duly sworn, as here inafter 
 
          6   certified, deposes and says as follow s: 
 
          7                     CROSS-EXAMINATION 
 
          8   By Mr. Fisk: 
 
          9          Q.   Good morning, Ms. Mikkels en. 
 
         10          A.   Good morning. 
 
         11          Q.   How are you today? 
 
         12          A.   Fine. 
 
         13          Q.   Can you hear me okay? 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Actually you are a little 
 
         15   hard to hear. 
 
         16               MR. FISK:  Oh.  Let me tu rn my volume up. 
 
         17   Is that any better? 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Yes. 
 
         19          Q.   (By Mr. Fisk) Okay.  Ms. Mikkelsen, could 
 
         20   you please just state your name for t he record. 
 
         21          A.   My name is Eileen M. Mikk elsen. 
 
         22          Q.   Great.  And could you ple ase state your 
 
         23   business address for the record. 
 
         24          A.   76 South Main Street, Akr on, Ohio. 
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          1          Q.   Okay.  And your rehearing  testimony 
 
          2   describes the companies' proposed mod ifications to 
 
          3   the calculation of costs and revenues  that would flow 
 
          4   through rider RRS; is that correct? 
 
          5          A.   Yes. 
 
          6          Q.   Okay.  And can we agree t o refer to the 
 
          7   modified rider proposal described in your rehearing 
 
          8   testimony as the modified rider RRS? 
 
          9          A.   I think I would prefer co nsistent with my 
 
         10   testimony if we referred to it as the  proposal. 
 
         11          Q.   The proposal?  Okay, okay .  That works 
 
         12   for me.  And can we agree to refer to  the version of 
 
         13   rider RRS that was approved by the Co mmission on 
 
         14   March 31, 2016, as the original rider  RRS? 
 
         15          A.   Again, consistent with my  testimony I 
 
         16   would prefer that we refer to it as r ider RRS. 
 
         17          Q.   Okay.  That works for me.   Is -- 
 
         18               MR. FISK:  Maureen, do yo u have Exhibit 
 
         19   89? 
 
         20               MS. WILLIS:  Yes.  Is tha t the Mikkelsen 
 
         21   workpaper dated November 30, 2015? 
 
         22               MR. FISK:  Yes.  Could yo u pass that out 
 
         23   as an exhibit. 
 
         24               MS. WILLIS:  Sure.  Sierr a Club Exhibit 
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          1   1? 
 
          2               MR. FISK:  Yeah.  Thank y ou. 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  And this is a  document you 
 
          4   are marking for purpose of this depos ition as Sierra 
 
          5   Club Exhibit No. 1? 
 
          6               MR. FISK:  Yes. 
 
          7               (EXHIBIT MARKED FOR IDENT IFICATION.) 
 
          8               MS. WILLIS:  I've only go t three copies. 
 
          9   I'm sorry.  And it's been marked and handed to the 
 
         10   witness. 
 
         11               MR. FISK:  Okay.  Thank y ou. 
 
         12          Q.   (By Mr. Fisk) Okay.  Ms. Mikkelsen, you 
 
         13   have been handed a document that's be en marked as 
 
         14   Sierra Club Exhibit 1 for purposes of  this deposition 
 
         15   which is your workpaper dated Novembe r 30, 2015; is 
 
         16   that correct? 
 
         17          A.   Yes. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  And have you seen this document 
 
         19   before? 
 
         20          A.   Yes. 
 
         21          Q.   Okay.  And this document projects the 
 
         22   annual charges or credits under rider  RRS; is that 
 
         23   correct? 
 
         24          A.   Among other things, yes. 
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          1          Q.   Okay.  And those annual c harges or 
 
          2   credits, projected charges or credits , are reflected 
 
          3   in lines 12 and 13; is that correct? 
 
          4          A.   No. 
 
          5          Q.   Which -- which lines are they reflected 
 
          6   in? 
 
          7          A.   Line 12. 
 
          8          Q.   Okay.  Line 12 and that's  in nominal 
 
          9   dollars, correct? 
 
         10          A.   Yes. 
 
         11          Q.   Okay.  And line 13 is tho se same figures 
 
         12   expressed in net present value dollar s? 
 
         13          A.   Yes. 
 
         14          Q.   And the projected charges  and credits set 
 
         15   forth in line 12, are they the same f or the proposal? 
 
         16          A.   Yes, with the exception o f the 2016 value 
 
         17   which represented a value that was ex pected to start 
 
         18   at June. 
 
         19          Q.   Okay.  So but for 2017 th rough the end of 
 
         20   rider RRS, the values are the same fo r the proposal? 
 
         21          A.   Yes. 
 
         22          Q.   Okay.  And the costs that  would be passed 
 
         23   through the proposal are the same as the costs that 
 
         24   are listed on line 11 of this Exhibit  1; is that 
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          1   correct? 
 
          2          A.   Yes, with, again, the exc eption for '16 
 
          3   relative to the starting date. 
 
          4          Q.   Right.  Okay.  And line 1 0 projected 
 
          5   market revenue with the exception of the 2016 
 
          6   starting date issue, are those projec ted figures the 
 
          7   same for the proposal? 
 
          8          A.   Yes. 
 
          9          Q.   Okay.  And if you could t urn to your 
 
         10   rehearing testimony page 8 and specif ically line 6 to 
 
         11   8 and footnote 1.  And if you could j ust let me know 
 
         12   when you're there. 
 
         13          A.   I'm there. 
 
         14          Q.   Thank you.  Okay.  And he re in your 
 
         15   testimony you explain how the forecas ted annual 
 
         16   energy revenue under the proposal wou ld be 
 
         17   calculated; is that correct? 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
         19   please. 
 
         20               (Record read.) 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         22          A.   Yes. 
 
         23          Q.   And the annual revenues u nder the 
 
         24   proposal would be forecasted based on  the annual 
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          1   generation levels that are already in  the record 
 
          2   multiplied by monthly on-peak and off -peak energy 
 
          3   forwards for the AEP Dayton Hub; is t hat correct? 
 
          4          A.   No. 
 
          5          Q.   How -- what was incorrect  in that 
 
          6   statement? 
 
          7          A.   I thought a couple of thi ngs were 
 
          8   incorrect in the statement. 
 
          9          Q.   Such as? 
 
         10          A.   I believe you referred to  the annual 
 
         11   energy revenue, and the portion of th e testimony you 
 
         12   are focusing on is forecasted energy revenue, not the 
 
         13   actual annual energy revenue. 
 
         14          Q.   Okay.  So -- so forecaste d annual energy 
 
         15   revenue under the proposal would be b ased on annual 
 
         16   generation levels that are already in  the record 
 
         17   multiplied by the on-peak and off-pea k energy 
 
         18   forwards for the AEP Dayton Hub; is t hat correct? 
 
         19          A.   No. 
 
         20          Q.   Okay.  How will forecaste d annual energy 
 
         21   revenues be calculated? 
 
         22          A.   As it says in footnote No . 1, "monthly 
 
         23   on-peak and monthly off-peak generati on output values 
 
         24   derived from the economic dispatch mo del that 
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          1   produced the annual generation output  values 
 
          2   contained in the record will be used.   The monthly 
 
          3   on-peak and off-peak generation outpu t will be 
 
          4   multiplied by average monthly on-peak  and off-peak 
 
          5   forwards for the AD Hub posted on the  
 
          6   Intercontinental Exchange.  To calcul ate the energy 
 
          7   forwards for use in developing the en ergy forecast, 
 
          8   the Companies will average the inform ation from each 
 
          9   trading day in the month of March tha t precedes the 
 
         10   RRS effective date." 
 
         11          Q.   Okay.  And the AD Hub, th at is the AEP 
 
         12   Dayton Hub; is that correct? 
 
         13          A.   Yes. 
 
         14          Q.   Okay.  And there will be a quarterly 
 
         15   true-up to reflect the actual monthly  average on-peak 
 
         16   and off-peak energy prices at the AEP  Dayton Hub; is 
 
         17   that correct? 
 
         18               THE WITNESS:  May I have that question 
 
         19   reread, please. 
 
         20               (Record read.) 
 
         21          A.   No. 
 
         22          Q.   Okay.  Will there be a qu arterly true-up 
 
         23   of the -- under the proposal? 
 
         24               THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.  I need that 
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          1   reread.  It broke up at the end.  I a pologize. 
 
          2               (Record read.) 
 
          3          A.   Yes. 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  And how will that -- how will that 
 
          5   quarterly true-up work with regards t o the energy 
 
          6   revenues that are passed through the proposal? 
 
          7          A.   The generation on-peak an d off-peak 
 
          8   values included in the case will be m ultiplied by the 
 
          9   average day-ahead LMP prices at the A D Hub both 
 
         10   on-peak and off-peak to derive the ac tual energy 
 
         11   revenues for use in the reconciliatio n. 
 
         12          Q.   And why -- why are the co mpanies 
 
         13   proposing to use the AEP Dayton Hub e nergy prices 
 
         14   rather than FE's own energy prices in  determining the 
 
         15   energy revenues under the proposal? 
 
         16          A.   It is a more liquid and t ransparent 
 
         17   pricing hub that includes forwards. 
 
         18          Q.   And the "it" you are refe rring to is the 
 
         19   AEP Dayton Hub you are saying is more  liquid and 
 
         20   transparent? 
 
         21          A.   Yes, and there are forwar d price 
 
         22   estimates at the AEP Dayton Hub. 
 
         23          Q.   And so there are not -- a re you saying 
 
         24   that there are not forward price esti mates for the 
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          1   ATSI zone? 
 
          2          A.   Yes. 
 
          3          Q.   Okay.  Turning back to Ex hibit 1, which 
 
          4   is your workpaper from November 30, 2 015, we 
 
          5   discussed earlier that line 10 is the  projected 
 
          6   market revenue that would be passed t hrough the 
 
          7   proposal; is that correct? 
 
          8          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          9   please? 
 
         10          Q.   Looking at Sierra Club Ex hibit 1, line 10 
 
         11   is the projected market revenue for p urposes of the 
 
         12   proposal; is that correct? 
 
         13          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         14   please? 
 
         15          Q.   What -- what do you find confusing about 
 
         16   the question? 
 
         17          A.   I don't understand the qu estion. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  What -- do you see  line 10 on 
 
         19   Sierra Club Exhibit 1? 
 
         20          A.   Yes. 
 
         21          Q.   And it says "Projected Ma rket Revenue." 
 
         22   Do you see that? 
 
         23          A.   Yes. 
 
         24          Q.   And does that line then p roject for each 
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          1   year the market revenue under rider R RS? 
 
          2          A.   Yes. 
 
          3          Q.   Okay.  And that -- those projected market 
 
          4   revenue figures included projected en ergy revenues 
 
          5   from the Sammis and Davis-Besse plant ; is that 
 
          6   correct? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          8               THE WITNESS:  May I have the question 
 
          9   reread, please. 
 
         10               (Record read.) 
 
         11          A.   No. 
 
         12          Q.   What is incorrect about t hat statement? 
 
         13          A.   Line 10 represented proje cted market 
 
         14   revenues from the companies' sale of the capacity, 
 
         15   energy, and ancillary services from D avis-Besse -- 
 
         16   pardon me, Davis-Besse, Sammis, and t he FES OVEC 
 
         17   entitlement. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  So one of the elem ents of that -- 
 
         19   of the figures in line 10 were projec ted revenues 
 
         20   from the sale of energy from Sammis a nd Davis-Besse; 
 
         21   is that correct? 
 
         22          A.   Yes. 
 
         23          Q.   And do you know, were the  energy 
 
         24   revenues -- were the energy revenues from the sale of 
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          1   energy from Sammis and Davis-Besse th at are included 
 
          2   in line 10 developed using ATSI zone energy prices or 
 
          3   AEP Dayton Hub energy prices? 
 
          4          A.   Neither. 
 
          5          Q.   What prices were -- what energy prices 
 
          6   were used? 
 
          7          A.   The prices at the Sammis pricing node and 
 
          8   the prices at the Davis-Besse pricing  node. 
 
          9          Q.   Okay.  And those pricing nodes -- if I 
 
         10   say that those nodes were developed u sing ATSI zone 
 
         11   energy prices plus an adjustment -- a nd a nodal 
 
         12   adjustment, correct? 
 
         13          A.   I don't know. 
 
         14          Q.   Okay.  Do you know if the y were developed 
 
         15   using AEP Dayton Hub energy prices pl us a nodal 
 
         16   adjustment? 
 
         17          A.   I don't know. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  And do you know ho w AEP Dayton Hub 
 
         19   energy prices generally compare to AT SI zone energy 
 
         20   prices? 
 
         21          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         22   please? 
 
         23          Q.   What do you find confusin g about it? 
 
         24          A.   "ATSI zone energy prices. " 
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          1          Q.   What is confusing about " ATSI zone energy 
 
          2   prices"? 
 
          3          A.   I'm not aware of that bei ng a pricing 
 
          4   node. 
 
          5          Q.   So you are not aware or i f there are 
 
          6   energy prices for the ATSI zone that are different 
 
          7   than energy prices for the AEP Dayton  Hub? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  I'm sorry.  D id you finish 
 
          9   your question? 
 
         10               MR. FISK:  Yeah.  That wa s the question. 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  May I have it  read, please. 
 
         12               (Record read.) 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         14          A.   No. 
 
         15          Q.   No, you are not aware or,  no, there are 
 
         16   not different prices? 
 
         17               THE WITNESS:  May I have the original 
 
         18   question reread, please. 
 
         19               (Record read.) 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         21          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         22   please? 
 
         23          Q.   Sure.  Are you aware as t o whether there 
 
         24   are energy prices for the ATSI zone t hat are 
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          1   different than energy prices for the AEP Dayton Hub? 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          3   answered. 
 
          4          A.   No. 
 
          5          Q.   And you mean, no, you are  not aware, or, 
 
          6   no, there are not different prices? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          8          A.   I'm not aware. 
 
          9          Q.   Okay.  Shifting to a new topic, the 
 
         10   proposal did not involve the purchase  or sale of any 
 
         11   energy services; is that correct? 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         13          A.   The proposal is for a ret ail rate 
 
         14   stability rider for the companies' cu stomers. 
 
         15          Q.   Okay.  So does the propos al involve the 
 
         16   purchase or sale of any energy servic es? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         18          A.   May I ask you to restate the question, 
 
         19   please? 
 
         20          Q.   What do you find confusin g about the 
 
         21   question? 
 
         22          A.   All of it but with respec t to who's 
 
         23   purchasing, who's selling, for exampl e. 
 
         24          Q.   Well, the question is are  there any 
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          1   purchases or sales that are part of t he proposal? 
 
          2          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question? 
 
          3          Q.   What do you find confusin g about that 
 
          4   question? 
 
          5          A.   I don't understand what p urchases or 
 
          6   sales are the subject of the question . 
 
          7          Q.   In the proposal that firs t -- that the 
 
          8   companies are making and described in  your rehearing 
 
          9   testimony, are there any purchases or  sales of energy 
 
         10   services as part of that proposal? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         12          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         13   please? 
 
         14          Q.   What is confusing about t hat question? 
 
         15          A.   I don't know what your de finition is of 
 
         16   "energy services." 
 
         17          Q.   Does your -- does the com panies' proposal 
 
         18   pending in -- before the Commission i nvolve the 
 
         19   purchase or sale of any energy? 
 
         20          A.   No. 
 
         21          Q.   Okay.  And does the propo sal involve the 
 
         22   purchase or sale of any capacity? 
 
         23          A.   No. 
 
         24          Q.   Okay.  And does the propo sal involve the 
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          1   supply of any electricity to retail c ustomers? 
 
          2          A.   No. 
 
          3          Q.   Okay.  And does the propo sal place any 
 
          4   restriction on the ability of retail customers to 
 
          5   shop for their energy? 
 
          6          A.   No. 
 
          7          Q.   Okay.  Does the proposal change the price 
 
          8   that shopping customers pay for energ y that they 
 
          9   would receive through such shopping? 
 
         10               MS. WILLIS:  Can I have t hat question 
 
         11   reread, please. 
 
         12               (Record read.) 
 
         13          A.   The proposal does not imp act the price a 
 
         14   customer pays to its generation suppl ier. 
 
         15          Q.   And is that also true for  nonshopping 
 
         16   customers? 
 
         17          A.   The proposal -- 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Objection.  G o ahead. 
 
         19          A.   The proposal does not aff ect the price a 
 
         20   retail customer pays to its generatio n supplier. 
 
         21          Q.   Okay.  Regardless of whet her they are 
 
         22   shopping or nonshopping customers, co rrect? 
 
         23          A.   Yes. 
 
         24          Q.   And the proposal -- strik e that. 
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          1               The charges and credits u nder the 
 
          2   proposal will not be based on actual generation 
 
          3   output of any generation plant, corre ct? 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5          Q.   Okay. 
 
          6               MR. FISK:  Maureen, do yo u have Sierra 
 
          7   Club Set 14-Interrogatory 253? 
 
          8               MS. WILLIS:  Yes. 
 
          9               MR. FISK:  Okay.  Could y ou mark that as 
 
         10   Sierra Club Exhibit 2. 
 
         11               MS. WILLIS:  Sure. 
 
         12               MR. FISK:  Thank you. 
 
         13               (EXHIBIT MARKED FOR IDENT IFICATION.) 
 
         14               MS. WILLIS:  The exhibit has been marked 
 
         15   as Sierra Club 2 and passed to the wi tness. 
 
         16               MR. FISK:  Thank you. 
 
         17          Q.   (By Mr. Fisk) Okay.  Ms. Mikkelsen, you 
 
         18   have been handed a document that's be en marked as 
 
         19   Sierra Club Exhibit 2.  It is the com panies' response 
 
         20   to Sierra Club Set 14-Interrogatory 2 53; is that 
 
         21   correct? 
 
         22          A.   Yes. 
 
         23          Q.   Okay.  And you are identi fied as the 
 
         24   witness responsible for this response ; is that 
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          1   correct? 
 
          2          A.   Yes. 
 
          3          Q.   And have you seen this do cument before? 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5          Q.   Okay.  And if you could l ook at 
 
          6   Subsection D like dog of the request,  it asks -- 
 
          7   specifically Subsection D1 asks the c ompany to 
 
          8   confirm that they are projecting that  the cash 
 
          9   received by the companies from 2019 t hrough May 31, 
 
         10   2024, would be lowered by $623 millio n net present 
 
         11   value as a result of the proposal; is  that correct? 
 
         12          A.   If you add up the numbers  on line 13 of 
 
         13   Sierra Club Exhibit 1 for '19 through  '24, the years, 
 
         14   pardon me, 2019 through 2024, you wou ld get the $623 
 
         15   million net present value referenced here. 
 
         16          Q.   Okay.  And similarly if y ou added up 
 
         17   those values from line 12, you would get a nominal 
 
         18   amount of 976 million; is that correc t? 
 
         19          A.   Yes. 
 
         20          Q.   Okay.  And so the compani es are 
 
         21   projecting that under the proposal th e cash they 
 
         22   would receive from customers would be  lowered by $623 
 
         23   million net present value under the p roposal; is that 
 
         24   correct? 
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          1          A.   Yeah.  I think of the cas h received from 
 
          2   customers as a nominal value but, yes . 
 
          3          Q.   Okay.  So using the nomin al figure then, 
 
          4   the companies are projecting that und er the proposal 
 
          5   the companies would receive -- the ca sh that the 
 
          6   companies would receive would be lowe red by 
 
          7   $976 million in nominal dollars; is t hat correct? 
 
          8          A.   Yes. 
 
          9          Q.   Okay.  And if you look at  Subsection B 
 
         10   like boy of this request, it asks to "State whether 
 
         11   the Companies could seek to recover f rom its 
 
         12   customers additional revenues in orde r to offset the 
 
         13   lowering of the amount of cash receiv ed by the 
 
         14   Companies as a result of Rider RRS cr edits."  Do you 
 
         15   see that? 
 
         16          A.   I see Subpart B. 
 
         17          Q.   Okay.  And if you could t urn to your 
 
         18   response to Subpart B and after vario us objections, 
 
         19   it states "It is not the Companies' i ntent to seek 
 
         20   recovery from customers of additional  revenues in 
 
         21   order to offset the lowering of the a mount of cash 
 
         22   received by the Companies as a result  of Rider RRS 
 
         23   credits"; is that correct? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Well, I'll ob ject.  The 
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          1   request also says "Objection.  This r equest is vague 
 
          2   and ambiguous in its use of 'could,' 'additional 
 
          3   revenues,' and 'the lowering.'  This request also 
 
          4   calls for a legal conclusion and call s for 
 
          5   speculation.  Subject to and without waiving the 
 
          6   foregoing objections" and then it say s what you said. 
 
          7   Go ahead. 
 
          8               MR. FISK:  Yeah.  I noted  that there were 
 
          9   objections. 
 
         10               THE WITNESS:  May I ask y ou to reread the 
 
         11   question, please, ma'am. 
 
         12               (Record read.) 
 
         13          A.   It is correct with the ex ception that the 
 
         14   word "intent" in your question should  be "intention." 
 
         15          Q.   Oh, thank you.  Thank you  for the 
 
         16   correction.  And did you understand w hat the request 
 
         17   was asking in providing that answer? 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         19          A.   No, because -- not entire ly because the 
 
         20   request was vague and ambiguous in th e use of the 
 
         21   words could, additional revenues, and  lowering. 
 
         22          Q.   Okay.  What -- do you -- so you 
 
         23   personally find the phrase "the lower ing" to be vague 
 
         24   and ambiguous? 
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          1          A.   I'm not sure -- perhaps a mbiguous is 
 
          2   better, what is meant by "the lowerin g of the amount 
 
          3   of cash." 
 
          4          Q.   You used -- you used that  phrase in your 
 
          5   response, correct? 
 
          6          A.   Yes. 
 
          7          Q.   And do you understand wha t it means in 
 
          8   your response? 
 
          9          A.   I do. 
 
         10          Q.   Okay.  And what does it m ean? 
 
         11          A.   I just don't know that it  means the same 
 
         12   thing as it meant in your question. 
 
         13          Q.   Okay.  What do you mean b y it in your 
 
         14   response? 
 
         15          A.   The response means that i t is not the 
 
         16   companies' intention to seek recovery  from its 
 
         17   customers of additional revenues in o rder to offset 
 
         18   the amount of cash received as -- tha t is less than 
 
         19   the amount of cash it would have othe rwise received 
 
         20   as a result of the rider RRS credits.  
 
         21          Q.   Okay.  But what did you m ean when you 
 
         22   used the phrase "the lowering" in you r response? 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         24   answered. 
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          1          A.   I just described it in my  answer, sir. 
 
          2          Q.   Okay.  Do you understand what the phrase 
 
          3   "additional revenues" means in your r esponse? 
 
          4          A.   I do. 
 
          5          Q.   Okay.  And what did you m ean when you 
 
          6   used that phrase? 
 
          7          A.   That it was not the compa nies' intention 
 
          8   to seek additional revenues beyond wh at it is 
 
          9   otherwise authorized to collect in or der to offset 
 
         10   revenues that aren't collected as a r esult of the 
 
         11   rider RRS credits. 
 
         12          Q.   Okay.  And are the compan ies willing to 
 
         13   commit to not seek recovery from cust omers of 
 
         14   additional revenues in order to offse t the lowering 
 
         15   of the amount of cash received by the  companies as a 
 
         16   result of rider RRS credits? 
 
         17          A.   As I said, it's not the c ompanies' 
 
         18   intention to recover rider RRS credit s from its 
 
         19   customers. 
 
         20          Q.   Right.  And I'm asking ou tside of -- 
 
         21   regardless of the companies' intentio n are the 
 
         22   companies willing to commit to not do ing so? 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         24   answered. 
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          1          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          2   please? 
 
          3          Q.   What do you find confusin g about the 
 
          4   question? 
 
          5          A.   "Commit." 
 
          6          Q.   Do you not understand wha t the word 
 
          7   "commit" means? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Well, now, yo u are arguing 
 
          9   with the witness so if you have anoth er question, ask 
 
         10   another question. 
 
         11               MR. FISK:  I'm asking her  to -- 
 
         12          Q.   What -- what do you find confusing about 
 
         13   the word "commit"? 
 
         14          A.   I'm asking you what you m ean when you 
 
         15   posed the question to me including th e word "commit." 
 
         16          Q.   Are the companies willing  to state they 
 
         17   will not seek recovery from customers  of additional 
 
         18   revenues in order to offset the lower ing of the 
 
         19   amount of cash received by the compan ies as a result 
 
         20   of rider RRS credit? 
 
         21          A.   No. 
 
         22          Q.   And why not? 
 
         23          A.   As I said, it's not the c ompanies' 
 
         24   intention to seek recovery of additio nal dollars 
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          1   arising from the rider RRS credit. 
 
          2          Q.   But why won't the compani es not state 
 
          3   that they will not do so? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          5   answered. 
 
          6          A.   It's not our proposal. 
 
          7          Q.   Okay.  In the event that the projected 
 
          8   $976 million nominal lowering of cash  received by the 
 
          9   companies under the proposal actually  occurred, do 
 
         10   you believe that would have any finan cial impact on 
 
         11   the companies? 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         13          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         14   please? 
 
         15          Q.   What do you find confusin g? 
 
         16          A.   "Financial impact." 
 
         17          Q.   What do you find confusin g about 
 
         18   "financial impact"? 
 
         19          A.   I don't understand what y ou mean by 
 
         20   "financial impact." 
 
         21          Q.   Well, how would you defin e a "financial 
 
         22   impact"? 
 
         23          A.   I don't know.  That's why  I'm asking you 
 
         24   how you would define it. 
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          1          Q.   Have you ever heard the p hrase "financial 
 
          2   impact"? 
 
          3          A.   I may have. 
 
          4          Q.   And do you have an unders tanding of what 
 
          5   that phrase means? 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Well, I'll ob ject.  You are 
 
          7   arguing with the witness.  She asked you to define 
 
          8   what you meant.  Either define it or move on. 
 
          9               MR. FISK:  It would be ni ce if your 
 
         10   witnesses would use the common meanin g of the 
 
         11   words -- 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Well, since w e are making -- 
 
         13               MR. FISK:  -- rather than  wasting 
 
         14   everybody's time with this game they don't understand 
 
         15   basic English words. 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Well, since y ou are making 
 
         17   speeches, it would be nice if you ask ed questions 
 
         18   that are clear and concise and the wi tness could 
 
         19   understand rather than playing games with the 
 
         20   witness. 
 
         21               MR. FISK:  Well, I think the game playing 
 
         22   award clearly goes to you guys, not t o us. 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  No, it goes t o you.  Since 
 
         24   all we are doing is making Karen rich  let's go. 
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          1          Q.   (By Mr. Fisk) Would -- if  the companies 
 
          2   were to -- if the cash received by th e companies as a 
 
          3   result of the proposal were to be low ered by 
 
          4   $976 million nominal, would that have  any impact on 
 
          5   the companies? 
 
          6          A.   May I ask you to restate the -- rephrase 
 
          7   the question, please? 
 
          8          Q.   What do you find confusin g? 
 
          9          A.   "Any impact on the compan ies." 
 
         10          Q.   And what is confusing abo ut that? 
 
         11          A.   I don't know what you mea n by "any impact 
 
         12   on the companies." 
 
         13          Q.   Well, I am asking you if you can identify 
 
         14   any impact that the reduction of the cash received by 
 
         15   the companies by $976 million, would that have any 
 
         16   impact at all on the companies?  Can you identify any 
 
         17   impact that would have? 
 
         18          A.   I think the companies wou ld be benefited 
 
         19   by the economic development and retai l rate stability 
 
         20   benefits that accrued to the customer s in its service 
 
         21   territory resulting from rider RRS un der the 
 
         22   proposal. 
 
         23          Q.   If the companies brought in $976 million 
 
         24   less in revenue as a result of a prop osal, would that 
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          1   have any negative effects on the comp any? 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, in complete 
 
          3   hypothetical. 
 
          4          A.   When the companies looked  at the rider -- 
 
          5   the rider RRS proposal, it looked at it in the 
 
          6   context of the entirety of the ESP an d all of the 
 
          7   elements of the ESP and concluded tha t in total this 
 
          8   was a benefit to our customers, the S tate of Ohio, 
 
          9   and the companies. 
 
         10          Q.   So did you evaluate in an y way whether 
 
         11   the lowering of the cash that the com panies would 
 
         12   receive from their customers by $976 million would 
 
         13   affect -- would negatively affect the  companies? 
 
         14          A.   The companies evaluated t he entirety of 
 
         15   the ESP IV proposal including rider R RS under the 
 
         16   proposal. 
 
         17          Q.   So the companies did not specifically 
 
         18   evaluate whether the lowering of cash  received by the 
 
         19   companies by $976 million as a result  of the proposal 
 
         20   would negatively affect them? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, mi sstates her 
 
         22   testimony. 
 
         23          A.   The companies evaluated t he proposal in 
 
         24   the context of the entirety of the ES P IV. 
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          1          Q.   And in doing so, did the companies 
 
          2   identify any negative effects of the proposal on the 
 
          3   company? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
          5   please. 
 
          6               (Record read.) 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  You meant the  companies? 
 
          8               MR. FISK:  Yes. 
 
          9          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question? 
 
         10          Q.   What do you find confusin g about the 
 
         11   question? 
 
         12          A.   I thought the question wa s negative 
 
         13   effects on the proposal. 
 
         14          Q.   Negative effects on the c ompany. 
 
         15          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question in 
 
         16   totality, please? 
 
         17          Q.   In evaluating the proposa l, did the 
 
         18   companies identify any negative effec t that the 
 
         19   proposal would have on the companies?  
 
         20          A.   The companies evaluated t he proposal 
 
         21   relative to rider RRS in the context of the entire 
 
         22   ESP IV before agreeing or deciding to  make the 
 
         23   proposal. 
 
         24          Q.   And in doing so, did the companies 
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          1   identify positive benefits to the com panies of the 
 
          2   proposal? 
 
          3          A.   I already answered that q uestion, I 
 
          4   believe. 
 
          5          Q.   And that was your respons e regarding 
 
          6   economic development benefits; is tha t right? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, mi scharacterizes 
 
          8   her testimony. 
 
          9          A.   In part, that was part of  the answer, 
 
         10   yes. 
 
         11          Q.   Okay.  And, conversely, d id the companies 
 
         12   identify any negative effects that th e proposal would 
 
         13   have, or did it only identify positiv e effects of the 
 
         14   proposal? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         16          A.   The companies evaluated t he proposal in 
 
         17   the context of the entirety of the ES P IV and all of 
 
         18   the elements of the ESP IV and in tot al concluded 
 
         19   that the package was beneficial to th e customers, the 
 
         20   companies, and the State of Ohio. 
 
         21          Q.   And so you've identified benefits of the 
 
         22   proposal, but you can't identify to m e a single 
 
         23   negative effect of the proposal on th e companies; is 
 
         24   that correct? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          2          A.   The companies evaluated t he proposal in 
 
          3   the context of the entirety of the ES P IV and 
 
          4   concluded that as a package, the prop osal as part of 
 
          5   ESP IV provided benefits to the compa ny, its 
 
          6   customers, and the State of Ohio. 
 
          7          Q.   Does it concern you that between 2019 and 
 
          8   May 31, 2024, your projections show t hat the 
 
          9   companies would receive $976 million less cash from 
 
         10   their customers as a result of the pr oposal? 
 
         11          A.   No. 
 
         12          Q.   And why not? 
 
         13          A.   When the company evaluate d the proposal 
 
         14   in totality with the other elements o f the ESP IV, it 
 
         15   concluded that it was beneficial to i ts customers, 
 
         16   the State of Ohio, and the companies.  
 
         17          Q.   How will the companies ab sorb a reduction 
 
         18   of $976 million in the cash that they  would be 
 
         19   receiving from their customers as a r esult of the 
 
         20   proposal? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         22          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         23   please? 
 
         24          Q.   What do you find confusin g? 
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          1          A.   How would they absorb. 
 
          2          Q.   Well, would the companies  have to cut 
 
          3   spending as a result of a reduction o f $976 million 
 
          4   in cash received from customers? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, in complete 
 
          6   hypothetical. 
 
          7          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          8   please? 
 
          9          Q.   What do you find confusin g? 
 
         10          A.   Calls for speculation. 
 
         11          Q.   Have you evaluated in any  way whether the 
 
         12   projected lowering of cash received b y the companies 
 
         13   from customers by $976 million would require cuts to 
 
         14   other spending by the company? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as sumes facts. 
 
         16          A.   The energy delivery manag ement team and 
 
         17   our treasury department reviewed the proposal and 
 
         18   were comfortable with moving forward with the 
 
         19   proposal. 
 
         20               MS. WILLIS:  I'm sorry.  Could I have 
 
         21   that answer reread. 
 
         22               (Record read.) 
 
         23          A.   I should add in the conte xt of the 
 
         24   entirety of the ESP IV. 
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          1          Q.   And do you know who on th at team reviewed 
 
          2   the proposal? 
 
          3          A.   Not entirely. 
 
          4          Q.   Can you identify anybody on the team who 
 
          5   reviewed the proposal? 
 
          6          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          7   please? 
 
          8          Q.   What do you find confusin g? 
 
          9          A.   I'm not sure what "team" you are 
 
         10   referring to. 
 
         11          Q.   The energy -- the energy delivery team 
 
         12   that you just referenced in your prev ious answer. 
 
         13          A.   The proposal was approved  by the 
 
         14   president of the utilities group. 
 
         15          Q.   Okay.  I'm asking though -- you referred 
 
         16   to an energy delivery team that revie wed the 
 
         17   proposal; is that correct? 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, mi scharacterizes 
 
         19   her testimony. 
 
         20          A.   I don't know that I did. 
 
         21               MR. FISK:  Could we have the question -- 
 
         22   the answer read back from I believe i t was three or 
 
         23   four questions ago where Ms. Mikkelse n referred to an 
 
         24   energy delivery team. 
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          1               MS. WILLIS:  The referenc e was to "energy 
 
          2   delivery management team." 
 
          3               MR. FISK:  Okay.  Energy delivery 
 
          4   management team. 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  I don't belie ve that's 
 
          6   correct either. 
 
          7               MS. WILLIS:  Try that. 
 
          8          Q.   (By Mr. Fisk) Ms. Mikkels en, did you 
 
          9   refer to an energy delivery managemen t team reviewing 
 
         10   the proposal? 
 
         11          A.   As I said, the proposal w as approved by 
 
         12   the president of the utilities group.  
 
         13          Q.   Right.  But in an earlier  response 
 
         14   about -- I think it's about five ques tions back now, 
 
         15   did you not refer to an "energy deliv ery management 
 
         16   team"? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  No.  She said  energy delivery 
 
         18   and treasury reviewed the proposal.  That was her 
 
         19   testimony. 
 
         20               MS. WILLIS:  Perhaps we s hould go back 
 
         21   because I wrote -- I wrote it all dow n in quotes, so 
 
         22   maybe I misread it so that might help .  Sorry. 
 
         23               MR. FISK:  Could we go ba ck to that 
 
         24   response and have it reread. 
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          1               (Record read.) 
 
          2               MR. FISK:  Thank you. 
 
          3          Q.   (By Mr. Fisk) Okay.  Ms. Mikkelsen, can 
 
          4   you identify anyone on the energy del ivery management 
 
          5   team who reviewed the proposal? 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Well, she alr eady did so 
 
          7   objection, asked and answered.  Go ah ead. 
 
          8          A.   The president of the util ities group 
 
          9   approved the proposal. 
 
         10          Q.   And is the president on t he energy 
 
         11   delivery team? 
 
         12          A.   The president was who I w as referring to 
 
         13   when I made that comment. 
 
         14          Q.   Okay.  Do you know if the  president is on 
 
         15   the energy delivery management team? 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and answered 
 
         17   and mischaracterizes her testimony. 
 
         18               THE WITNESS:  May I have the question 
 
         19   read, please. 
 
         20               (Record read.) 
 
         21          A.   When I referred to the en ergy delivery 
 
         22   management, I was referring to the pr esident of the 
 
         23   energy -- pardon me, the president of  the utilities 
 
         24   group. 
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          1          Q.   Okay.  Is there a separat e energy 
 
          2   delivery management team at the compa nies? 
 
          3          A.   Not that I'm aware of in the context I 
 
          4   used the -- as far as -- 
 
          5          Q.   Sorry.  I missed the end of your response 
 
          6   there. 
 
          7               MR. FISK:  Could I have t hat reread. 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  I am not sure  she finished it 
 
          9   so could we have it. 
 
         10               MR. FISK:  Oh, okay. 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Do you want i t read? 
 
         12               THE WITNESS:  I do. 
 
         13               MR. FISK:  Well, unless y ou weren't 
 
         14   through.  I got cut off with some sta tic. 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  She wasn't th rough but let's 
 
         16   have the question read and the partia l answer, 
 
         17   please. 
 
         18               (Record read.) 
 
         19          A.   The phrase. 
 
         20          Q.   Okay.  Can you identify a nyone in the 
 
         21   treasury department who reviewed the proposal? 
 
         22          A.   The treasurer. 
 
         23          Q.   And who is that? 
 
         24          A.   Steve Staub. 
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          1          Q.   Okay.  And did you discus s the proposal 
 
          2   with the treasurer? 
 
          3          A.   I don't remember. 
 
          4          Q.   Do you recall discussing the proposal 
 
          5   with anybody at the companies? 
 
          6          A.   Yes. 
 
          7          Q.   And who did you discuss i t with? 
 
          8          A.   The president of the util ities group. 
 
          9          Q.   Anyone else? 
 
         10          A.   There may have been other  people I 
 
         11   discussed the proposal with that repr esented or 
 
         12   worked for the companies. 
 
         13          Q.   And do you recall who tho se -- any of 
 
         14   those other people may have been? 
 
         15          A.   I mentioned the treasurer .  I don't 
 
         16   recall whether -- I know he looked at  the proposal. 
 
         17   I don't recall whether I spoke direct ly to him. 
 
         18          Q.   Anyone else? 
 
         19          A.   No employees of the compa ny other than 
 
         20   that that come to mind, employees or officers. 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Of the compan ies? 
 
         22               THE WITNESS:  Companies, right. 
 
         23          Q.   And did you discuss the p roposal with 
 
         24   anyone besides counsel who isn't an e mployee of the 
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          1   companies? 
 
          2               THE WITNESS:  May I have that reread.  I 
 
          3   lost the end of the question. 
 
          4               (Record read.) 
 
          5          A.   Yes. 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  At this -- ok ay.  Okay.  Go 
 
          7   ahead and answer the question.  You c an answer that 
 
          8   question "yes" or "no." 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   Okay.  And who did you di scuss it with? 
 
         11          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         12   please? 
 
         13          Q.   Who was that -- who other  than counsel 
 
         14   who is not an employee of the compani es did you 
 
         15   discuss the proposal with? 
 
         16          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         17   please? 
 
         18          Q.   What is confusing about t he question? 
 
         19          A.   Unclear on the time frame . 
 
         20          Q.   At any time. 
 
         21          A.   Does the at any time appl y to the prior 
 
         22   questions as well? 
 
         23          Q.   Yes. 
 
         24          A.   Then I think I have to mo dify my prior 
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          1   answers as well. 
 
          2          Q.   Okay. 
 
          3          A.   I have spoken to other em ployees of the 
 
          4   company about the proposal -- compani es about the 
 
          5   proposal. 
 
          6          Q.   Did you -- who at the com panies did you 
 
          7   speak with? 
 
          8          A.   Yeah, I don't recall spec ifically all the 
 
          9   names, but the discussions would have  been in the 
 
         10   context of describing the proposal at  -- to 
 
         11   representatives of the companies. 
 
         12          Q.   Okay.  And how about peop le who are not 
 
         13   employed by the companies outside of counsel? 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Well, okay.  I am now not 
 
         15   sure when you say "how about" what yo u are talking 
 
         16   about. 
 
         17          Q.   Did you discuss the propo sal with people 
 
         18   not employed by the companies outside  counsel? 
 
         19          A.   Yes. 
 
         20          Q.   Okay.  And who did you di scuss it with? 
 
         21          A.   Signatory parties, other parties in the 
 
         22   case, for example. 
 
         23          Q.   Anyone else? 
 
         24          A.   Employees of FirstEnergy Service Corp. 
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          1          Q.   Anyone else? 
 
          2          A.   Not that I remember. 
 
          3          Q.   Okay.  And who at FirstEn ergy Service 
 
          4   Corp. did you discuss the proposal wi th? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  And he's excl uding counsel in 
 
          6   these questions, correct? 
 
          7          Q.   Yes, excluding counsel. 
 
          8          A.   I would have discussed th e proposal with 
 
          9   folks from our communications group, our strategy 
 
         10   group, other people in the rates depa rtment. 
 
         11          Q.   Okay.  And did any of tho se 
 
         12   communications occur before you filed  your rehearing 
 
         13   testimony? 
 
         14          A.   Yes. 
 
         15          Q.   Okay.  And who did you di scuss it -- the 
 
         16   proposal with before you filed your r ehearing 
 
         17   testimony outside counsel? 
 
         18          A.   Colleagues in the rates d epartment. 
 
         19          Q.   Anyone else? 
 
         20          A.   Representatives from our risk group. 
 
         21          Q.   Anyone else? 
 
         22          A.   Representatives -- or rep resentative from 
 
         23   our accounting group, our strategy gr oup. 
 
         24          Q.   Anyone else? 
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          1          A.   That's what I remember at  this time. 
 
          2          Q.   And were any of those com munications in 
 
          3   writing? 
 
          4          A.   No. 
 
          5          Q.   Okay.  So -- so going bac k to the 
 
          6   projected $976 million lowering of th e cash received 
 
          7   by the companies as a result of the p roposal, have 
 
          8   you evaluated whether such lowering o f the cash 
 
          9   received by the companies would reduc e dividends paid 
 
         10   to FirstEnergy Corp.? 
 
         11          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         12   please? 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Note my objec tion. 
 
         14          Q.   What do you find confusin g? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Well, first, note my 
 
         16   objection.  Go ahead. 
 
         17          A.   I'm sorry.  Pardon me, si r? 
 
         18          Q.   What do you find confusin g? 
 
         19          A.   I can't accept the premis e of the 
 
         20   question. 
 
         21          Q.   What part of the premise?  
 
         22          A.   The premise -- the premis e about the cash 
 
         23   not received by the companies when yo u parse the 
 
         24   period. 
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          1          Q.   Okay.  Well, earlier we d iscussed, am I 
 
          2   correct, that you -- you were project ing that the 
 
          3   cash received by the companies from 2 019 through 
 
          4   May 31, 2024, would be lowered by $97 6 million as a 
 
          5   result of the proposal, correct? 
 
          6          A.   Yes. 
 
          7          Q.   Okay.  And would that low ering of the 
 
          8   cash received by the companies -- str ike that. 
 
          9               Have you evaluated whethe r that 
 
         10   lowering -- projected lowering of the  cash received 
 
         11   by the companies would impact the div idends that the 
 
         12   companies pay to FirstEnergy Corp.? 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         14               THE WITNESS:  May I ask y ou to reread the 
 
         15   question, please, ma'am. 
 
         16               (Record read.) 
 
         17          A.   No. 
 
         18          Q.   No, you have not evaluate d; is that 
 
         19   right? 
 
         20          A.   Yes. 
 
         21          Q.   Okay.  And have you evalu ated whether the 
 
         22   lowering of the -- the lowering -- th e projected 
 
         23   lowering of the cash received by the companies as a 
 
         24   result of the proposal would require any cuts to 
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          1   spending by the companies? 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and answered 
 
          3   and also incomplete hypothetical. 
 
          4          A.   No. 
 
          5          Q.   And why not? 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          7   answered. 
 
          8          A.   The proposal for rider RR S was evaluated 
 
          9   in the context of the entirety of the  ESP IV. 
 
         10          Q.   Any other reason? 
 
         11          A.   No. 
 
         12          Q.   Okay.  And have you evalu ated whether the 
 
         13   lowering -- the projected lowering of  the cash 
 
         14   received by the companies as a result  of the proposal 
 
         15   would impact the financial health of the company? 
 
         16          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         17   please? 
 
         18          Q.   What do you find confusin g? 
 
         19          A.   "Financial health." 
 
         20          Q.   All right.  Let me try th is, has the 
 
         21   companies evaluated how the projected  lowering of the 
 
         22   cash received by the companies as a r esult of the 
 
         23   proposal would impact the credit rati ng of 
 
         24   FirstEnergy Corp.? 
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          1               THE WITNESS:  May I have the question 
 
          2   reread, please. 
 
          3               (Record read.) 
 
          4          A.   No. 
 
          5          Q.   Okay.  And why not? 
 
          6          A.   I don't know. 
 
          7          Q.   Okay.  Do you know whethe r the lowering 
 
          8   of the cash received by the companies  as a result of 
 
          9   the proposal would impact the credit rating of 
 
         10   FirstEnergy Corp.? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
         12   please. 
 
         13               (Record read.) 
 
         14          A.   I don't know. 
 
         15               MR. FISK:  Can we go off for a second? 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Why don't we go off the 
 
         17   record and take a break. 
 
         18               (Recess taken.) 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Let's go back  on the record. 
 
         20               MR. FISK:  Great. 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Before we do that, before you 
 
         22   ask your next question is there anyon e now on the 
 
         23   phone that wishes to identify themsel ves that hasn't 
 
         24   done so already? 
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          1               MR. PRITCHARD:  Well, thi s is Matt 
 
          2   Pritchard. 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Anyone else?  Okay.  Go 
 
          4   ahead. 
 
          5          Q.   (By Mr. Fisk) Okay.  Ms. Mikkelsen, going 
 
          6   back to Sierra Club Exhibit 1, the wo rkpaper.  Let me 
 
          7   know when you have that. 
 
          8          A.   I have it. 
 
          9          Q.   Okay.  And looking at lin e 12 for the 
 
         10   years 2017 and '18, am I correct that  the companies 
 
         11   are projecting that customers would i ncur charges 
 
         12   under the proposal? 
 
         13          A.   Yes. 
 
         14          Q.   Okay.  And the total char ges for 2017 and 
 
         15   2018 combined are projected at $259 m illion in 
 
         16   nominal dollars; is that correct? 
 
         17          A.   Yes. 
 
         18          Q.   And under the proposal, t hose charges 
 
         19   would be paid to the companies by the  customers; is 
 
         20   that correct? 
 
         21          A.   Yes. 
 
         22          Q.   Okay.  So under the compa nies' 
 
         23   projection, the companies would recei ve from 
 
         24   customers $259 million in cash in 201 7 and 2018 under 
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          1   the proposal; is that right? 
 
          2          A.   Yes. 
 
          3          Q.   Okay.  And have the compa nies developed 
 
          4   any plans for how they would use the cash collected 
 
          5   from customers under the proposal? 
 
          6          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          7   please? 
 
          8          Q.   What do you find confusin g about it? 
 
          9          A.   What you mean by the word  "plans." 
 
         10          Q.   I mean any -- any sort of  -- any sort of 
 
         11   way that they plan to use the -- the cash they are 
 
         12   projecting would be collected from cu stomers under 
 
         13   the proposal. 
 
         14          A.   On page 12 of my testimon y in lines 3 
 
         15   through 7 discusses that the cash pro jected to be 
 
         16   collected in the first few years of r ider RRS could 
 
         17   be used to fund the capital expenditu res necessary to 
 
         18   modernize the companies' distribution  grid through 
 
         19   advanced metering infrastructure, dis tribution 
 
         20   automation, and Volt/VAR controls.  I t could also be 
 
         21   used to invest in battery resources a nd/or to invest 
 
         22   in new Ohio renewable resources. 
 
         23          Q.   Okay.  And are the compan ies willing to 
 
         24   commit to spending the cash collected  under the 
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          1   proposal only on such initiatives tha t are listed on 
 
          2   lines 3 through 7 of your page 12 of your testimony? 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
          4   please. 
 
          5               (Record read.) 
 
          6          A.   If by "commit" you mean o nly spend on the 
 
          7   items listed here and nothing else, t hen no. 
 
          8          Q.   Okay.  And why not? 
 
          9          A.   It's not the companies' p roposal. 
 
         10          Q.   And why isn't it the comp anies' proposal? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         12          A.   I'm not sure I understand  the question in 
 
         13   its entirety.  I mean, the companies have a proposal 
 
         14   that's before the Commission that we are asking the 
 
         15   Commission to consider.  Why somethin g isn't part of 
 
         16   our proposal -- isn't part of the pro posal it's not 
 
         17   part of the proposal that the company  put forward. 
 
         18          Q.   Did the companies ever ev aluate 
 
         19   identifying specific initiatives that  they would 
 
         20   spend -- that they would commit to sp ending the cash 
 
         21   collected under the proposal on? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Well, I'll in struct you at 
 
         23   this time with respect to anything th at's not the 
 
         24   proposal if you had conversations tha t were with 
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          1   counsel for the purpose of giving a l egal -- 
 
          2   receiving legal advice or for the pur pose of 
 
          3   preparing for litigation, I will inst ruct you to 
 
          4   exclude those conversations or that i nformation from 
 
          5   your answer. 
 
          6               THE WITNESS:  May I have the question 
 
          7   reread, please. 
 
          8               (Record read.) 
 
          9          A.   No. 
 
         10          Q.   And are the companies wil ling to commit 
 
         11   to spending a portion of the cash col lected under the 
 
         12   proposal on the initiatives identifie d in lines 3 
 
         13   through 7 on page 12 of your rehearin g testimony? 
 
         14          A.   No. 
 
         15          Q.   Okay.  And why not? 
 
         16          A.   It's not part of the comp anies' proposal. 
 
         17          Q.   And was that -- did you e ver consider 
 
         18   making that part of the companies' pr oposal? 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Same instruct ion as before. 
 
         20          A.   No. 
 
         21          Q.   Do the companies intend i n the future to 
 
         22   present to the Commission for review any plans of how 
 
         23   they would spend the cash collected u nder the 
 
         24   proposal? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          2          A.   The companies have a fili ng before the 
 
          3   Commission with respect to this grid modernization 
 
          4   business plan.  To the extent that th e company 
 
          5   investigates battery resources, they would have to 
 
          6   come before the Commission before the y would move 
 
          7   forward with investment in those reso urces, and the 
 
          8   Commission also has a role in authori zing investment 
 
          9   in the new Ohio renewable resources.  So to the 
 
         10   extent that the companies pursue any of these 
 
         11   matters, it would be with the Commiss ion's 
 
         12   understanding that they were pursuing  it. 
 
         13          Q.   Does the grid -- well, st rike that. 
 
         14               Did you say that there is  a grid 
 
         15   modernization plan that the company - - 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  I'm sorry.  D id you finish 
 
         17   your question? 
 
         18               MR. FISK:  Yes. 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  We didn't hea r the end of it 
 
         20   I don't believe. 
 
         21          Q.   Oh, okay.  I can say it a gain.  Was it 
 
         22   your testimony, Ms. Mikkelsen, that t he companies 
 
         23   have already submitted a grid moderni zation plan to 
 
         24   the Commission for review? 
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          1          A.   The companies made a smar t -- pardon me, 
 
          2   a grid modernization business plan fi ling in February 
 
          3   pursuant to the stipulation in the ES P IV case. 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  And have the compa nies proposed in 
 
          5   that proceeding to fund any grid mode rnization 
 
          6   efforts with cash collected under the  proposal? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as sumes that the 
 
          8   proposal says anything about how the proposal would 
 
          9   be funded. 
 
         10          A.   No. 
 
         11          Q.   Okay.  And are the compan ies proposing 
 
         12   that the Commission would have any ov ersight over how 
 
         13   the cash collected from the customers  under the 
 
         14   proposal would be spent? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         16          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         17   please? 
 
         18          Q.   What's confusing about th e question? 
 
         19          A.   The word "oversight." 
 
         20          Q.   Are the companies proposi ng that the 
 
         21   Commission would be able to in any wa y review how the 
 
         22   cash collected from customers after t he proposal 
 
         23   would be spent? 
 
         24          A.   No. 
 
 
 
 
 
              ARMSTRONG & OKEY, INC., Columbus, Ohi o (614) 224-9481 



 
 
 
 
                                                                54 
          1          Q.   And why not? 
 
          2          A.   Not part of the proposal -- the 
 
          3   companies' proposal. 
 
          4          Q.   And did you ever consider  making that 
 
          5   part of the companies' proposal? 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Same instruct ion as before. 
 
          7          A.   No. 
 
          8          Q.   I'm sorry.  Did you answe r?  I might have 
 
          9   missed it. 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  She said "No. " 
 
         11               MR. FISK:  Okay.  Thank y ou. 
 
         12          Q.   (By Mr. Fisk) Okay.  Am I  correct that 
 
         13   FirstEnergy Corp. uses a consolidated  balance sheet 
 
         14   that includes all of its subsidiaries  including the 
 
         15   companies? 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         17          A.   Yes. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  And would any addi tional revenues 
 
         19   collected by the companies from their  customers under 
 
         20   the proposal appear on that balance s heet? 
 
         21          A.   No. 
 
         22          Q.   And why not? 
 
         23          A.   Revenues are not a line i tem on a balance 
 
         24   sheet. 
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          1               MR. FISK:  I'm sorry.  Co uld I have that 
 
          2   answer read back.  There was some sta tic. 
 
          3               (Record read.) 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  Would the -- would  any cash 
 
          5   collected by the companies from their  customers under 
 
          6   the proposal be reflected in any way on the 
 
          7   FirstEnergy Corp. consolidated balanc e sheet? 
 
          8               THE WITNESS:  May I ask y ou to reread 
 
          9   that question, please, ma'am. 
 
         10               (Record read.) 
 
         11          A.   I don't know. 
 
         12          Q.   Would the -- would the co llection of cash 
 
         13   by the companies from their customers  under the 
 
         14   proposal in any way strengthen FirstE nergy Corp.'s 
 
         15   balance sheet? 
 
         16          A.   I don't know. 
 
         17          Q.   Okay.  And would the coll ection of cash 
 
         18   by the companies from their customers  under the 
 
         19   proposal have any -- have any impact on FirstEnergy 
 
         20   Corp.'s credit rating? 
 
         21          A.   I don't know. 
 
         22          Q.   And what would you need t o do to figure 
 
         23   that out? 
 
         24          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
 
 
 
 
              ARMSTRONG & OKEY, INC., Columbus, Ohi o (614) 224-9481 



 
 
 
 
                                                                56 
          1   please? 
 
          2          Q.   What do you find confusin g about it? 
 
          3          A.   "Figure that out." 
 
          4          Q.   What would you need to do  to determine 
 
          5   whether the collection of cash by the  companies from 
 
          6   the customers under the proposal woul d impact 
 
          7   FirstEnergy Corp.'s credit rating? 
 
          8          A.   I think it would require speculation. 
 
          9          Q.   Why would that require sp eculation? 
 
         10          A.   I think I would have to s peculate how the 
 
         11   credit rating agency would act.  I'm not in a 
 
         12   position to do that, for example. 
 
         13          Q.   Okay.  And so you -- you have not 
 
         14   evaluated how the credit rating agenc ies might act if 
 
         15   the proposal were approved; is that c orrect? 
 
         16          A.   Yes. 
 
         17          Q.   Okay.  And have you seen any evaluation 
 
         18   of how the credit rating agencies mig ht react if a 
 
         19   proposal were approved? 
 
         20          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         21   please? 
 
         22          Q.   What do you find confusin g about it? 
 
         23          A.   I'm not sure what the que stion is 
 
         24   referring to. 
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          1          Q.   Do you know whether the c ompanies have 
 
          2   evaluated how credit rating agencies may react if the 
 
          3   proposal -- may react with regards to  FirstEnergy 
 
          4   Corp.'s credit rating if the proposal  were approved? 
 
          5               THE WITNESS:  May I ask t hat you reread 
 
          6   the question, please, ma'am. 
 
          7               (Record read.) 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          9          A.   Well, if the proposal is approved, there 
 
         10   would be more funds from operations w hich is one of 
 
         11   the metrics that credit rating agenci es look at in 
 
         12   relation to debt. 
 
         13          Q.   Okay.  And have you -- do  you know, have 
 
         14   the companies evaluated how the credi t rating 
 
         15   agencies may react to the availabilit y of more funds 
 
         16   from operations? 
 
         17          A.   The companies' credit met rics would be 
 
         18   improved in the early years if the pr oposal is 
 
         19   accepted. 
 
         20          Q.   Okay.  And which credit m etrics are those 
 
         21   that would be improved? 
 
         22          A.   FFO to debt or FCO to deb t. 
 
         23          Q.   Okay.  Any others? 
 
         24          A.   Not that I'm aware of. 
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          1          Q.   Okay.  And if the proposa l were approved 
 
          2   and the credit to customers from 2019  through May 31, 
 
          3   2024, that the companies are projecti ng end up 
 
          4   occurring, would the companies' credi t metrics over 
 
          5   that time frame then worsen? 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          7          A.   As I said before, when th e companies 
 
          8   evaluated the proposal as it relates to rider RRS, it 
 
          9   evaluated that in the context of the entirety of the 
 
         10   ESP IV, not in isolation. 
 
         11          Q.   Okay.  But would the proj ected reduction 
 
         12   in cash that the companies would rece ive from 2019 
 
         13   through May 31, 2024, have a downward  effect on the 
 
         14   companies' credit metrics? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         16          A.   Again, the company would have evaluated 
 
         17   the credit metric -- pardon me.  The company would 
 
         18   have evaluated ESP IV in its entirety  over the 
 
         19   period, not one isolated element of t he ESP IV. 
 
         20          Q.   Did the companies include  an evaluation 
 
         21   of the tax credit metrics in that eva luation? 
 
         22          A.   Well, as we talked about,  the cash into 
 
         23   the company in the early years will i mprove the 
 
         24   utilities' credit metrics as will cas h over the 
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          1   period associated with other elements  of the ESP.  So 
 
          2   in total you have improved credit met rics early and 
 
          3   stabilization of credit metrics over the term. 
 
          4          Q.   And who -- who performed -- who performed 
 
          5   that evaluation for the company? 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          7          A.   The analysis that -- the discussion we're 
 
          8   having about the impact on the credit  metrics was 
 
          9   based on a summary look at the differ ent elements of 
 
         10   the ESP and expected associated cash rising from or 
 
         11   being utilized due to the provisions of the ESP. 
 
         12          Q.   And who did that summary look? 
 
         13          A.   It was performed by the r ate department. 
 
         14          Q.   Okay.  And did they docum ent that summary 
 
         15   look in any way? 
 
         16          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         17   please? 
 
         18          Q.   What do you find confusin g? 
 
         19          A.   "Document." 
 
         20          Q.   Did they put that -- did they create any 
 
         21   written document about that summary o utlook -- strike 
 
         22   that. 
 
         23               Did the -- did they creat e any written 
 
         24   document regarding that summary look at the ESP? 
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          1          A.   If by written document yo u mean 
 
          2   narrative, no. 
 
          3          Q.   Any written document at a ll. 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5          Q.   And what sort of document  did they 
 
          6   create? 
 
          7          A.   An Excel spreadsheet. 
 
          8          Q.   And have you seen that Ex cel spreadsheet? 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   Okay.  And did you rely o n that Excel 
 
         11   spreadsheet in your -- for your testi mony? 
 
         12          A.   No, not in the preparatio n of my 
 
         13   testimony. 
 
         14          Q.   Did you see the Excel spr eadsheet before 
 
         15   you drafted your testimony? 
 
         16          A.   No. 
 
         17          Q.   Do you know who in partic ular created the 
 
         18   Excel spreadsheet? 
 
         19          A.   Rates personnel. 
 
         20               MR. FISK:  I'm sorry, wha t?  Can I have 
 
         21   that answer read back. 
 
         22               (Record read.) 
 
         23          Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  Do you  know who in 
 
         24   particular in rates created that spre adsheet? 
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          1          A.   No. 
 
          2          Q.   And have you personally e valuated whether 
 
          3   the companies' credit metrics would s tabilize over 
 
          4   the long term under the ESP? 
 
          5          A.   Not beyond what we've alr eady discussed. 
 
          6          Q.   And that was reviewing th e Excel 
 
          7   spreadsheet; is that correct? 
 
          8          A.   Yes. 
 
          9          Q.   Okay.  Anything else besi des that? 
 
         10          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         11   please? 
 
         12          Q.   Have you done anything el se besides 
 
         13   review the Excel spreadsheet to evalu ate whether the 
 
         14   companies' credit metrics would stabi lize over the 
 
         15   term of the ESP? 
 
         16          A.   No. 
 
         17          Q.   And have the companies ev aluated how the 
 
         18   ESP would -- with the proposal would impact 
 
         19   FirstEnergy Corporation -- FirstEnerg y Corp.'s credit 
 
         20   metrics? 
 
         21          A.   I'm sorry.  You broke up in the mid 
 
         22   there. 
 
         23               THE WITNESS:  May I ask y ou to reread the 
 
         24   question if you got it. 
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          1               (Record read.) 
 
          2          A.   No. 
 
          3          Q.   Okay.  Do you have any op inion as to how 
 
          4   the ESP with the proposal would affec t FirstEnergy 
 
          5   Corp.'s credit metrics? 
 
          6          A.   Yes. 
 
          7          Q.   Okay.  What is your opini on? 
 
          8          A.   That improvement in the c ompanies' credit 
 
          9   metrics could result in improvement i n FirstEnergy 
 
         10   Corp.'s credit metrics. 
 
         11               MS. WILLIS:  May I have t hat answer 
 
         12   reread, please. 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  I'm sorry.  H ad you finished 
 
         14   your answer? 
 
         15               MS. WILLIS:  I didn't mea n to interrupt. 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  I didn't know  whether she had 
 
         17   or not. 
 
         18               (Record read.) 
 
         19          Q.   And how would improvement  in the 
 
         20   companies' credit metrics result in i mprovement in 
 
         21   FirstEnergy Corp.'s credit metrics? 
 
         22          A.   By consolidating the impr oved metrics 
 
         23   into the FirstEnergy Corp. view. 
 
         24          Q.   And have you personally e valuated how the 
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          1   stabilization of the companies' credi t metrics over 
 
          2   the long term of the ESP would affect  FirstEnergy 
 
          3   Corp.'s credit metrics? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          5          A.   No. 
 
          6          Q.   Do you have any opinion a s to how the 
 
          7   companies' stabilization of the compa nies' credit 
 
          8   metrics over the long term of the ESP  would affect 
 
          9   FirstEnergy Corp.'s credit metrics? 
 
         10          A.   No. 
 
         11          Q.   Do you know if the FE com panies have 
 
         12   evaluated that question? 
 
         13          A.   I'm not aware of that ana lysis. 
 
         14          Q.   Okay.  As a general matte r, the companies 
 
         15   have allocated dividends to FirstEner gy Corp.; is 
 
         16   that correct? 
 
         17          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         18   please? 
 
         19          Q.   What do you find confusin g? 
 
         20          A.   "As a general matter," I am not sure what 
 
         21   that means. 
 
         22          Q.   Well, I guess I just mean  generally the 
 
         23   companies can pay dividends to FirstE nergy Corp.  I 
 
         24   am not talking about specifically in this case, but 
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          1   just generally they can pay them, rig ht? 
 
          2          A.   Yes. 
 
          3          Q.   Okay.  And are such divid ends based on 
 
          4   the amount of earnings that the compa nies accrue over 
 
          5   a particular time frame? 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
          7   please. 
 
          8               (Record read.) 
 
          9          A.   Dividend decisions would be based on a 
 
         10   number of factors. 
 
         11          Q.   Okay.  And what factors a re those? 
 
         12          A.   It would include things l ike the capital 
 
         13   structure of the company, the current  liquidity of 
 
         14   the company, projected liquidity of t he company, the 
 
         15   companies' credit metrics, the compan ies' cash needs 
 
         16   in the near and medium term, for exam ple. 
 
         17          Q.   All right.  Any other -- any other 
 
         18   factors that you can think of? 
 
         19          A.   There may be.  Those are the ones that 
 
         20   come to mind now. 
 
         21          Q.   Okay.  Are the earnings o f the companies 
 
         22   relevant to whether the companies pay  dividends to 
 
         23   FirstEnergy Corp.? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
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          1          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          2   please? 
 
          3          Q.   What do you find confusin g? 
 
          4          A.   "Are the earnings relevan t."  I am not 
 
          5   sure what you mean by relevant. 
 
          6          Q.   Well, do the earnings of the companies 
 
          7   play a role in determining whether di vidends will be 
 
          8   paid by the companies to FirstEnergy Corp.? 
 
          9          A.   Earnings of the companies  impact the 
 
         10   companies' capital structure which I described as one 
 
         11   of the factors that would be consider ed. 
 
         12          Q.   And if the companies coll ect cash from 
 
         13   their customers under the proposal, t hat will 
 
         14   increase the companies' earnings, cor rect? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
         16   please. 
 
         17               (Record read.) 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, in complete 
 
         19   hypothetical. 
 
         20          A.   All else equal rider RRS revenues would 
 
         21   increase the earnings of the companie s. 
 
         22               MS. WILLIS:  May I have t hat answer 
 
         23   reread, please. 
 
         24               (Record read.) 
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          1          Q.   And so all else equal, ri der RRS revenues 
 
          2   could also increase the dividends the  companies are 
 
          3   able to pay to FirstEnergy Corp.; is that correct? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          5          A.   No. 
 
          6          Q.   And why is that not corre ct? 
 
          7          A.   As I said earlier, divide nd decisions are 
 
          8   based on a number of factors, not one  factor in 
 
          9   isolation.  So without knowing what t he other factors 
 
         10   are in the all else equal, I can't an swer that 
 
         11   question. 
 
         12          Q.   Well, but with all else e qual, you are 
 
         13   holding all those other factors stead y, so given all 
 
         14   other factors being constant, why wou ldn't an 
 
         15   increase in the earnings of the compa nies as a result 
 
         16   of revenues from the proposal increas e the companies' 
 
         17   ability to provide dividends to First Energy Corp.? 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         19          A.   That's I think a differen t question than 
 
         20   the question that was asked but, agai n, you have to 
 
         21   look at all of the items that I discu ssed to make a 
 
         22   determination about whether or not, y ou know, a 
 
         23   dividend would be made to the parent.   So if -- 
 
         24          Q.   If you hold -- 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  I'm sorry, co unsel. 
 
          2               Had you finished your ans wer? 
 
          3          A.   Well, so, for example, if  you are 
 
          4   spending cash on grid modernization, that would be an 
 
          5   item you would take into consideratio n, what your 
 
          6   cash needs were, one of the many elem ents I discussed 
 
          7   that would go into a dividend decisio n. 
 
          8          Q.   Okay.  But if you hold al l those elements 
 
          9   constant, so treat them the same whet her with -- 
 
         10   either with the cash from the proposa l or without the 
 
         11   cash from the proposal, would cash fr om the proposal 
 
         12   increase the ability of the companies  to provide 
 
         13   dividends to FirstEnergy Corp.? 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         15   answered. 
 
         16          A.   I don't think you can hol d all the other 
 
         17   elements constant and then assume cas h in but that 
 
         18   all the other elements that you need to consider in a 
 
         19   dividend decision don't change becaus e I don't think 
 
         20   you can make that assumption. 
 
         21          Q.   Are the companies willing  to commit that 
 
         22   they will not use cash collected from  customers under 
 
         23   the proposal to provide dividends to FirstEnergy 
 
         24   Corp.? 
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          1          A.   The companies' proposal d id not include 
 
          2   any prohibitions with respect to divi dends. 
 
          3          Q.   So does that mean the com panies would -- 
 
          4   are not willing to commit that they w ill not use cash 
 
          5   collected under the proposal to provi de dividends to 
 
          6   FirstEnergy Corp.? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          8   answered. 
 
          9          A.   I stand by my prior answe r. 
 
         10          Q.   So there is no restrictio n in the 
 
         11   companies' proposal on the ability of  the companies 
 
         12   to use cash collected under the propo sal to provide 
 
         13   dividends to FirstEnergy Corp.; is th at correct? 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         15   answered. 
 
         16          A.   I stand by my prior answe r. 
 
         17               MR. FISK:  Maureen, do yo u have Sierra 
 
         18   Club Set 14-INT-252? 
 
         19               MS. WILLIS:  I do. 
 
         20               MR. FISK:  Okay.  If you could hand that 
 
         21   as an exhibit Sierra Club Exhibit 3, I believe. 
 
         22               MS. WILLIS:  Okay.  I am marking and 
 
         23   handing to the court reporter and to counsel. 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  And the witne ss. 
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          1               MS. WILLIS:  And the witn ess. 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Let's not get  carried away. 
 
          3               (EXHIBIT MARKED FOR IDENT IFICATION.) 
 
          4               MS. WILLIS:  Okay.  Every one has copies 
 
          5   of it so you can proceed. 
 
          6               MR. FISK:  Okay.  Thank y ou. 
 
          7          Q.   (By Mr. Fisk) Ms. Mikkels en, you have 
 
          8   been handed a document that's been ma rked as Sierra 
 
          9   Club Exhibit 3.  It is the request an d response to 
 
         10   Sierra Club Set 14-INT 252; is that c orrect? 
 
         11          A.   Yes. 
 
         12          Q.   Okay.  And you are identi fied as the 
 
         13   witness providing the response to thi s request; is 
 
         14   that correct? 
 
         15          A.   Yes. 
 
         16          Q.   And have you seen this do cument before? 
 
         17          A.   Yes. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  And if you look at  Subpart A of 
 
         19   the request, it says to "Confirm that , under the 
 
         20   Companies' Modified Rider RRS proposa l, it would be 
 
         21   permissible for the Companies to tran sfer the cash 
 
         22   associated with the Rider RRS charges  to FirstEnergy 
 
         23   Corp."  Do you see that -- 
 
         24          A.   Yes. 
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          1          Q.   -- request?  Okay.  And i n your answer 
 
          2   there are objections and then says "S ubject to and 
 
          3   without waiving the foregoing objecti ons, not 
 
          4   confirmed."  Do you see that? 
 
          5          A.   Yes. 
 
          6          Q.   Okay.  And why is that no t confirmed? 
 
          7          A.   To start with it is not c lear to me what 
 
          8   you mean by "transfer the cash associ ated with the 
 
          9   Rider RRS." 
 
         10          Q.   Okay.  Anything else? 
 
         11          A.   I think it's not confirme d because it 
 
         12   assumes there's cash specifically des ignated with 
 
         13   rider RRS that would be whatever this  vague reference 
 
         14   to transferred means and that's not h ow the cash is 
 
         15   managed. 
 
         16          Q.   Okay.  How would the cash  under rider RRS 
 
         17   be managed? 
 
         18          A.   Along with all of the com panies' other 
 
         19   cash in and cash requirements out. 
 
         20          Q.   Okay.  And that cash in a nd cash 
 
         21   requirements out, does that play a ro le in the cash 
 
         22   needs of the companies? 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         24          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
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          1   please? 
 
          2          Q.   I believe earlier you ide ntified that the 
 
          3   cash needs of the companies is one of  the factors 
 
          4   that goes into whether the company pa id dividends to 
 
          5   FirstEnergy Corp.; is that correct? 
 
          6          A.   Yes. 
 
          7          Q.   Okay.  And the cash in an d cash 
 
          8   requirements out that you referred to  in your -- in 
 
          9   your answer a couple of answers ago, are the amounts 
 
         10   of the cash in and cash requirements out relevant to 
 
         11   the companies' cash needs? 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         13          A.   Yeah.  I think of the cas h needs as what 
 
         14   the companies' cash requirements are.   I referenced 
 
         15   out the cash that they need to spend on operations or 
 
         16   investments in capital, things of tha t nature.  Those 
 
         17   are the cash needs of the company. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  And then am I corr ect that whether 
 
         19   the cash in exceeds the cash needs pl ays a role in 
 
         20   determining whether the companies pro vide a dividend 
 
         21   to FirstEnergy Corp.? 
 
         22          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         23   please? 
 
         24          Q.   What do you find confusin g? 
 
 
 
 
 
              ARMSTRONG & OKEY, INC., Columbus, Ohi o (614) 224-9481 



 
 
 
 
                                                                72 
          1          A.   Time frame. 
 
          2          Q.   In any particular year. 
 
          3          A.   May I ask you to pose the  question in its 
 
          4   totality, please? 
 
          5          Q.   Actually let me take a st ep back.  How -- 
 
          6   on what time frame do the companies d efine whether to 
 
          7   provide dividends to FirstEnergy Corp .? 
 
          8          A.   As I identified earlier, they would look 
 
          9   at the current liquidity of the compa ny as well as 
 
         10   the expected future liquidity of the company as well 
 
         11   as the current cash needs and future cash needs are 
 
         12   some of the elements that would go in to it.  It's not 
 
         13   the exclusive list but those are ones  that stretch 
 
         14   over an annual period. 
 
         15          Q.   Okay.  So when you -- whe n you refer to 
 
         16   the future cash needs, you are saying  the future cash 
 
         17   needs over the -- over the next year;  is that 
 
         18   correct? 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         20          A.   No. 
 
         21          Q.   Okay.  Over what time per iod are you 
 
         22   referring to when you talk -- when yo u refer to 
 
         23   future cash needs? 
 
         24          A.   I don't have a specific t ime period in 
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          1   mind, but I would expect it to be lon ger than over 
 
          2   the next year. 
 
          3          Q.   Okay.  And so in determin ing whether -- 
 
          4   in comparing the -- strike that. 
 
          5               In deciding whether to pr ovide a dividend 
 
          6   to FirstEnergy Corp., do the companie s look at 
 
          7   whether the cash in over the future t ime frame 
 
          8   exceeds the future cash needs over th at time frame? 
 
          9          A.   Among other things, yes. 
 
         10          Q.   Okay.  And the cash colle cted under the 
 
         11   proposal would factor into the amount  of cash in in 
 
         12   that comparison of cash in versus fut ure cash needs; 
 
         13   is that correct? 
 
         14          A.   Yes. 
 
         15          Q.   And the cash in exceeds - - if the 
 
         16   projected future cash in exceeds the future cash 
 
         17   needs, that would make it more likely  that the 
 
         18   companies would provide a dividend to  FirstEnergy 
 
         19   Corp.; is that correct? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         21          A.   Not necessarily. 
 
         22          Q.   Why not? 
 
         23          A.   It would depend upon the other factors. 
 
         24          Q.   Holding the other factors  constant, if 
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          1   the cash in -- the future cash in exc eeds the future 
 
          2   cash needs, does that make it more li kely that the 
 
          3   companies would provide a dividend to  FirstEnergy 
 
          4   Corp.? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          6          A.   As I said before, I can't  accept the 
 
          7   hypothetical all else being held equa l because things 
 
          8   like capital structure which I mentio ned is one of 
 
          9   the items are -- or potentially would  be affected by 
 
         10   the revenues. 
 
         11          Q.   Are the companies willing  to commit to 
 
         12   not counting the cash received under the proposal 
 
         13   towards the determination of whether future cash in 
 
         14   would exceed future cash needs for pu rposes of 
 
         15   evaluating potential dividends? 
 
         16          A.   The companies' intention is to use this 
 
         17   cash within the operating companies. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  And will the compa nies commit to 
 
         19   only using the cash collected under t he proposal 
 
         20   within the operating companies? 
 
         21          A.   The company's intention i s to use the 
 
         22   cash within the operating companies. 
 
         23          Q.   But the companies are not  willing to 
 
         24   commit to doing so; is that correct? 
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          1          A.   That is not the companies ' proposal. 
 
          2          Q.   Okay.  And why not? 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          4          A.   It's not the companies' p roposal. 
 
          5          Q.   And did the companies eve r consider 
 
          6   making a commitment to using the cash  collected under 
 
          7   the proposal only within the operatin g companies part 
 
          8   of their proposal? 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, in complete 
 
         10   hypothetical, mischaracterizes testim ony, and also 
 
         11   keep in mind my prior instruction. 
 
         12               THE WITNESS:  May I ask t hat you reread 
 
         13   the question, please, ma'am. 
 
         14               (Record read.) 
 
         15          A.   And as I've said, it's th e companies' 
 
         16   intention to use the cash within the companies.  I'm 
 
         17   not aware of any other proposal relat ive to that that 
 
         18   was considered. 
 
         19          Q.   Okay.  If you could turn to page 15 of 
 
         20   your rehearing testimony.  And starti ng at line 8 
 
         21   there's a discussion there that the c ompanies propose 
 
         22   that if less than 3,200 megawatts of certain 
 
         23   generation remains in operation, then  the Commission 
 
         24   could proportionately reduce the char ges or credits 
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          1   under the proposal; is that correct? 
 
          2          A.   Pursuant to a Commission- initiated 
 
          3   proceeding pursuant to Revised Code 4 905.26, yes. 
 
          4               MR. FISK:  Okay.  And, Ma ureen, do you 
 
          5   have Sierra Club Set 13-INT-246? 
 
          6               MS. WILLIS:  Hang on.  Ye s, I do. 
 
          7               MR. FISK:  Okay.  Could y ou mark that as 
 
          8   Sierra Club Exhibit 4 -- 
 
          9               MS. WILLIS:  Sure. 
 
         10               MR. FISK:  -- and pass it  out.  Thank 
 
         11   you. 
 
         12               (EXHIBIT MARKED FOR IDENT IFICATION.) 
 
         13               MS. WILLIS:  It's been ma rked and passed 
 
         14   out. 
 
         15               MR. FISK:  Thank you. 
 
         16          Q.   (By Mr. Fisk) All right.  Ms. Mikkelsen, 
 
         17   you have been handed an exhibit that' s been marked as 
 
         18   Sierra Club Exhibit 4, and it is the response -- the 
 
         19   request and response to Sierra Club S et 13-INT-246; 
 
         20   is that correct? 
 
         21          A.   Yes. 
 
         22          Q.   Okay.  And you are identi fied as the 
 
         23   witness on this response; is that cor rect? 
 
         24          A.   Yes. 
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          1          Q.   Okay.  And have you seen this document 
 
          2   before? 
 
          3          A.   Yes. 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  And a response to Subsection A 
 
          5   provides a list of generating units t hat would count 
 
          6   towards the 3,200 megawatts of genera tion that would 
 
          7   be to remain in operation under your proposal; is 
 
          8   that correct? 
 
          9               THE WITNESS:  May I have that question 
 
         10   reread, please. 
 
         11               (Record read.) 
 
         12          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         13   please? 
 
         14          Q.   Sure.  So on page 15 of y our rehearing 
 
         15   testimony you refer to if less than 3 ,200 megawatts 
 
         16   of certain generation remains in oper ation, then the 
 
         17   Commission may initiate a proceeding to reduce the 
 
         18   charge or credit under the rider RRS;  is that 
 
         19   correct? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         21          A.   I see the testimony you a re referring to, 
 
         22   yes. 
 
         23          Q.   Okay.  And the 3,200 mega watts would come 
 
         24   from formerly rate-based nuclear or f ossil generation 
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          1   owned by the companies on January 200 0; is that 
 
          2   right? 
 
          3          A.   Yes. 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  And turning to Sie rra Club Exhibit 
 
          5   4, your response to Subsection A of t hat request 
 
          6   identifies the list of formerly rate- based nuclear or 
 
          7   fossil generation owned by the compan ies in January 
 
          8   of 2000; is that correct? 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
         10   please. 
 
         11               (Record read.) 
 
         12          A.   Yes. 
 
         13          Q.   Okay.  And that list in - - on Sierra Club 
 
         14   Exhibit 4 includes 9,120 megawatts of  generation; is 
 
         15   that right? 
 
         16          A.   Yes. 
 
         17          Q.   Okay.  So in order for th e Commission to 
 
         18   be able to initiate a proceeding to r educe the charge 
 
         19   or credit under rider RRS, more than 5,900 megawatts 
 
         20   of generation from the list on Sierra  Club Exhibit 4 
 
         21   would have to be retired; is that cor rect? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         23          A.   No. 
 
         24          Q.   Why isn't that correct? 
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          1               THE WITNESS:  May I have the question 
 
          2   reread, please.  The prior question, I'm sorry. 
 
          3               (Record read.) 
 
          4          A.   No. 
 
          5          Q.   Why is that not correct? 
 
          6          A.   The requirement is that l ess than 3,200 
 
          7   megawatts remain in operation includi ng at least 900 
 
          8   megawatts of nuclear resources.  It d oesn't 
 
          9   specifically dictate a retirement cri teria. 
 
         10          Q.   Okay.  So if -- so your - - are you saying 
 
         11   that if the unit were, for example, m othballed rather 
 
         12   than retired, then that unit would no t be in 
 
         13   operation? 
 
         14          A.   Yes. 
 
         15          Q.   Okay.  So if -- so am I c orrect that more 
 
         16   than 5,900 megawatts of generation fr om the list on 
 
         17   Sierra Club Exhibit 4 would have to n ot be in 
 
         18   operation in order for the Commission  to be able to 
 
         19   initiate a proceeding to reduce the c harge or credit 
 
         20   under rider RRS? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         22          A.   Yes. 
 
         23          Q.   Okay.  I understand that.   And such not 
 
         24   in operation could include retirement  or mothballing? 
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          1          A.   Yes. 
 
          2          Q.   Okay.  Could it include a ny -- anything 
 
          3   else besides retirement or mothballin g? 
 
          4          A.   Not that I can think of. 
 
          5          Q.   Okay.  And looking on the  list then, 
 
          6   Sierra Club Exhibit 4, Beaver Valley 1 and 2, that is 
 
          7   a nuclear plant, correct? 
 
          8          A.   Two nuclear units, yes. 
 
          9          Q.   Okay.  And that -- those units are 
 
         10   located in Pennsylvania; is that corr ect? 
 
         11          A.   Yes. 
 
         12          Q.   Okay.  And Bruce Mansfiel d, that plant is 
 
         13   located in Pennsylvania also; is that  correct? 
 
         14          A.   Yes. 
 
         15          Q.   Okay.  And the combined c apacity of Bruce 
 
         16   Mansfield and the Beaver Valley units  is more than 
 
         17   3,200 megawatts; is that correct? 
 
         18          A.   Yes. 
 
         19          Q.   Okay.  So if Bruce Mansfi eld and Beaver 
 
         20   Valley continued operating, then unde r the companies' 
 
         21   proposal then all of the Ohio generat ion listed on 
 
         22   Sierra Club Exhibit 4 could be retire d without 
 
         23   triggering the ability for the Commis sion to initiate 
 
         24   a proceeding to reduce the charges or  credits under 
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          1   rider RRS, correct? 
 
          2          A.   Yes. 
 
          3          Q.   So the proposal did not e nsure the 
 
          4   continued operation of any Ohio-based  generation, 
 
          5   correct? 
 
          6          A.   The proposal did not ensu re the 
 
          7   continuation of any generation, Ohio,  Pennsylvania, 
 
          8   or otherwise. 
 
          9          Q.   Does the proposal encoura ge the continued 
 
         10   operation of any generation? 
 
         11          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         12   please? 
 
         13          Q.   Actually let me -- let me  strike that 
 
         14   question. 
 
         15               If you look at your testi mony -- 
 
         16   rehearing testimony on page 15, line 14, let me know 
 
         17   when you're there. 
 
         18          A.   I'm there. 
 
         19          Q.   Okay.  And you have a sen tence that 
 
         20   starts with the word "Effectively."  It says 
 
         21   "Effectively Rider RRS helps ensure t he continued 
 
         22   operation of 3,200 megawatts of fuel diverse baseload 
 
         23   generation."  Do you see that? 
 
         24          A.   Yes. 
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          1          Q.   Okay.  And so how does --  how does rider 
 
          2   RRS ensure the continued operation of  that 
 
          3   generation? 
 
          4          A.   Rider RRS provides retail  rate stability 
 
          5   and predictability to the customers i n the companies' 
 
          6   service territory and that stability and 
 
          7   predictability helps customers, parti cularly 
 
          8   industrial customers, maintain the lo ad -- the 
 
          9   operations that they have in this are a and, in fact, 
 
         10   may enable them to grow their operati ons in this 
 
         11   area.  And to the extent that there i s stable or 
 
         12   growing load in the companies' servic e territory, 
 
         13   that would help ensure that generatin g plants in the 
 
         14   region continue to operate. 
 
         15               MS. WILLIS:  May I have t hat answer 
 
         16   reread, please. 
 
         17               (Record read.) 
 
         18               MS. WILLIS:  Thank you. 
 
         19          Q.   (By Mr. Fisk) None of the  plants in -- 
 
         20   listed on Sierra Club Exhibit 4 speci fically serve 
 
         21   the companies' customers, correct? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         23          A.   All -- all of the plants listed on Sierra 
 
         24   Club Exhibit 4 were built to serve th e companies' 
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          1   customers across their service territ ories. 
 
          2          Q.   But today they do not spe cifically serve 
 
          3   the companies' customers, correct? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          5          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question? 
 
          6          Q.   What is confusing about t he question? 
 
          7          A.   I'm not sure what you mea n by "they do 
 
          8   not specifically serve." 
 
          9          Q.   Well, these plants all li sted on Sierra 
 
         10   Club Exhibit 4 all sell their energy and capacity 
 
         11   into the PJM market, correct? 
 
         12          A.   That's correct. 
 
         13          Q.   And do not directly provi de energy to the 
 
         14   companies, correct? 
 
         15          A.   Not necessarily. 
 
         16          Q.   Which -- which plants on this list 
 
         17   directly provide energy to the compan ies? 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         19          A.   I guess I'm sorting out s ort of the 
 
         20   electrical path for the electricity t hat's produced 
 
         21   by these plants that were designed wi th transmission 
 
         22   systems to transport the output from these plants to 
 
         23   the companies' service territory and its customers, 
 
         24   and I am distinguishing that from I g uess what sounds 
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          1   like you are talking about a financia l path with 
 
          2   respect to dollars. 
 
          3          Q.   Okay.  So in terms of the  financial path, 
 
          4   none of the plants listed on Sierra C lub Exhibit 4 
 
          5   currently sell energy directly to the  companies, 
 
          6   correct? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          8          A.   I don't know. 
 
          9          Q.   Okay.  Can you identify a ny of the 
 
         10   plants, any plants that are listed on  Sierra Club 
 
         11   Exhibit 4, that directly sells energy  to the company? 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         13          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question as 
 
         14   it relates to "directly sells to the companies"? 
 
         15          Q.   Do any -- can you identif y any plant on 
 
         16   Sierra Club Exhibit 4 that as a finan cial matter 
 
         17   sells energy to any of the companies?  
 
         18          A.   I am aware -- 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Well, hold on  a second.  Is 
 
         20   any of that information confidential?   Put it this 
 
         21   way, if any of that information is co nfidential, I 
 
         22   will instruct you not to answer that question, at 
 
         23   least in this session. 
 
         24               THE WITNESS:  May I have the question 
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          1   reread, please. 
 
          2               (Record read.) 
 
          3          A.   No. 
 
          4          Q.   And going back to your re hearing 
 
          5   testimony, page 15, line 14, the sent ence we were 
 
          6   discussing about how effectively ride r RRS helps 
 
          7   ensure the continued operation of 3,2 00 megawatts of 
 
          8   fuel diverse baseload generation, is that statement 
 
          9   tied in any way to the ability to the  -- of the 
 
         10   Commission to initiate a proceeding t o reduce the 
 
         11   charge or credit of rider RRS if less  than 3,200 
 
         12   megawatts of -- of the generation rem ains in 
 
         13   operation? 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         15               THE WITNESS:  I apologize .  I am going to 
 
         16   need to have that question reread, pl ease. 
 
         17               (Record read.) 
 
         18          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question? 
 
         19   I'm not sure I understand what the qu estion is. 
 
         20          Q.   Okay.  Sure.  So in your rehearing 
 
         21   testimony at page 15, you discuss the  proposal that 
 
         22   if less than 3,200 megawatts of forme rly rate-based 
 
         23   nuclear or fossil generation owned by  the companies 
 
         24   on January 2000 remains in operation,  the Commission 
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          1   can initiate a proceeding to reduce t he charge or 
 
          2   credit of rider RRS, correct? 
 
          3          A.   Yes. 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  And did that propo sal play any 
 
          5   role in your contention that effectiv ely rider RRS 
 
          6   helps ensure the continued operation of 3,200 
 
          7   megawatts of fuel diverse rate-based generation? 
 
          8          A.   No. 
 
          9          Q.   Okay.  And why not? 
 
         10          A.   As I already explained, t he sentence on 
 
         11   14 continuing to 15 references the ec onomic 
 
         12   development and job retention benefit s to our 
 
         13   customers associated with retail rate  stability and 
 
         14   predictability and deals with the pre servation, the 
 
         15   maintenance of their existing operati ons, and the 
 
         16   potential for growth in their operati ons, or for 
 
         17   siting of new operations in the servi ce territory. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  So then what is th e -- what is the 
 
         19   reason for proposing to allow the Com mission to 
 
         20   reduce -- to initiate a proceeding to  reduce the 
 
         21   charge or credit of rider RRS if less  than 3,200 
 
         22   megawatts of the generation identifie d in Sierra Club 
 
         23   Exhibit 4 remains in operation? 
 
         24          A.   To create parity with the  
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          1   Commission-approved rider RRS which r elied upon 3,200 
 
          2   megawatts of generation.  So under th e proposal we 
 
          3   wanted there to be some sense that it  was the same 
 
          4   3,200 megawatts of operating generati on in the -- in 
 
          5   this region, and to the extent that i f that level of 
 
          6   operating plant dipped below the 3,20 0, then as a 
 
          7   consequence the Commission could adju st 
 
          8   proportionately the rider RRS. 
 
          9          Q.   Okay.  But you do not -- it is not your 
 
         10   testimony -- strike that. 
 
         11               The companies do not beli eve that that 
 
         12   ability of the Commission to adjust r ider RRS would 
 
         13   in any way impact the decision of whe ther to keep 
 
         14   more than 3,200 megawatts of the -- o f the identified 
 
         15   generation in operation; is that corr ect? 
 
         16          A.   Yes. 
 
         17          Q.   Okay. 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Are you -- le t's go off the 
 
         19   record. 
 
         20               (Recess taken.) 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Let's go back  on the record. 
 
         22          Q.   (By Mr. Fisk) Okay.  So, Ms. Mikkelsen, 
 
         23   going back to Sierra Club Exhibit 4, which includes 
 
         24   the list of plants that we were discu ssing before the 
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          1   break, do you see that? 
 
          2          A.   Yes. 
 
          3          Q.   Okay.  Is it -- do the co mpanies believe 
 
          4   that any of the generating units list ed on your 
 
          5   response on Sierra Club Exhibit 4 bes ides Sammis and 
 
          6   Davis-Besse are at risk of retiring i f the proposal 
 
          7   is not approved? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Well, I'll in struct you that 
 
          9   if any of that information is confide ntial or 
 
         10   nonpublic that you have, I will instr uct you not to 
 
         11   answer that question, in this session  at least. 
 
         12          A.   I don't know. 
 
         13          Q.   Okay.  Did you do any eva luation of 
 
         14   whether any of those units besides Sa mmis or 
 
         15   Davis-Besse are at risk of retiring? 
 
         16          A.   No. 
 
         17          Q.   Okay.  Do you know if the  companies -- 
 
         18   companies did any evaluation of wheth er any of those 
 
         19   units besides Sammis and Davis-Besse are at risk of 
 
         20   retiring? 
 
         21          A.   I'm not aware of any such  study. 
 
         22          Q.   Okay.  And besides Sammis  and 
 
         23   Davis-Besse, do you know if the compa nies have 
 
         24   performed any evaluation on the trans mission 
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          1   reliability impact of retiring any of  the generating 
 
          2   units listed on Sierra Club Exhibit 4 ? 
 
          3          A.   I don't know. 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  So you have not se en any such 
 
          5   evaluation; is that correct? 
 
          6          A.   Yes. 
 
          7          Q.   And do you know, have the  companies 
 
          8   performed any evaluation of the trans mission upgrades 
 
          9   that would be needed if any of the ge nerating units 
 
         10   listed on Sierra Club Exhibit 4 besid es Sammis and 
 
         11   Davis-Besse were retired? 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         13   answered. 
 
         14               THE WITNESS:  May I have the question 
 
         15   reread, please. 
 
         16               (Record read.) 
 
         17          A.   I think -- I'm not sure w hat you mean by 
 
         18   "evaluation," but from a company pers pective, we have 
 
         19   looked at the transmission upgrade co sts associated 
 
         20   with the Lake plant retirements.  We know what those 
 
         21   costs were.  We had estimates in this  case associated 
 
         22   with transmission upgrades necessitat ed by the 
 
         23   retirement of Davis-Besse and Sammis.   And so from a 
 
         24   company perspective, I think the view  is that all of 
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          1   these plants were built to serve the companies' 
 
          2   customers and are electrically connec ted to serve the 
 
          3   companies' customers.  So should any of these plants 
 
          4   retire, it would necessitate likely t ransmission 
 
          5   investments in the neighborhood of th e dollars that 
 
          6   we saw both with the Lake plant retir ements and in 
 
          7   the studies associated with Sammis an d Davis-Besse. 
 
          8          Q.   Okay.  But so outside of the -- do you -- 
 
          9   do you know of any study that evaluat ed whether the 
 
         10   transmission upgrade costs for the re tirement of any 
 
         11   of those other units besides Sammis a nd Davis-Besse 
 
         12   would be similar? 
 
         13          A.   I've just given you the e valuation in my 
 
         14   mind, but if you are asking if there is a specific 
 
         15   study, I'm not aware of one. 
 
         16          Q.   Okay.  And are you aware of any -- 
 
         17   whether any transmission grid modelin g was performed 
 
         18   to evaluate the cost of transmission upgrades that 
 
         19   might be needed if any of these other  units besides 
 
         20   Sammis and Davis-Besse were retired? 
 
         21          A.   No. 
 
         22          Q.   Okay. 
 
         23          A.   I am not aware of any. 
 
         24          Q.   Okay.  And before the bre ak I believe 
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          1   you -- you mentioned that the stabili ty and 
 
          2   predictability of pricing for energy service that 
 
          3   would be -- strike that. 
 
          4               As you look at Sierra Clu b Exhibit 4, 
 
          5   Subsection B, you have -- you have a response there 
 
          6   that says "The economic development b enefits of Rider 
 
          7   RRS help ensure the continued operati on of 3,200 
 
          8   megawatts of fuel diverse baseload ge neration."  Do 
 
          9   you see that? 
 
         10          A.   Yes. 
 
         11          Q.   And the economic developm ent benefits 
 
         12   that you are referring to there, are those the result 
 
         13   of pricing stability and predictabili ty that you 
 
         14   believe the proposal would provide? 
 
         15          A.   Yes. 
 
         16          Q.   Okay.  Is there any other  basis for the 
 
         17   economic development benefits you are  referring to 
 
         18   there? 
 
         19          A.   No. 
 
         20          Q.   And do you -- have the co mpanies carried 
 
         21   out written analysis showing that the  proposal would 
 
         22   provide economic development benefits  -- would 
 
         23   provide economic benefits that are re ferred to in 
 
         24   your response on Sierra Club Exhibit 4? 
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          1          A.   There are no additional s tudies beyond 
 
          2   the information that's already been p resented in the 
 
          3   case that I'm aware of. 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  And do you know if  any -- any 
 
          5   information that has already been pro vided in the 
 
          6   case supports the contention there ar e economic 
 
          7   development benefits of rider RRS? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Well, I'll ob ject at this 
 
          9   point as beyond the cope of the heari ng, but you can 
 
         10   answer the question. 
 
         11          A.   Yes. 
 
         12          Q.   I'm sorry.  Is that "yes" ? 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Yes, that was  "yes." 
 
         14          Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  And wh at -- what such 
 
         15   information -- what such information has been 
 
         16   provided already supports the economi c benefits of 
 
         17   rider RRS? 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Same objectio n. 
 
         19          A.   For example, Mr. Strah's testimony. 
 
         20          Q.   Okay.  Anything besides M r. Strah's 
 
         21   testimony? 
 
         22          A.   I believe I testified abo ut the benefit 
 
         23   to customers, industrial customers, i n my experience 
 
         24   for having stable, predictable pricin g as well. 
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          1          Q.   Okay.  Anything else? 
 
          2          A.   There may be.  Those are the examples 
 
          3   that come to mind. 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  If you could turn to your 
 
          5   rehearing testimony, page 10, lines 9  to 10, you -- 
 
          6   you state that "The Modified Rider RR S provides all 
 
          7   the benefits of the Rider RRS that wa s originally 
 
          8   approved by the Commission and provid es additional 
 
          9   benefits as well."  Do you see that? 
 
         10          A.   Yes. 
 
         11          Q.   Is it your opinion that t he proposal is 
 
         12   more beneficial for the companies' cu stomers than 
 
         13   rider RRS? 
 
         14          A.   It is my testimony that t he proposal 
 
         15   provides additional benefits over the  approved rider 
 
         16   RRS. 
 
         17          Q.   So why then didn't the co mpanies propose 
 
         18   this proposal to begin with rather th an first 
 
         19   proposing rider RRS? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, be yond the scope 
 
         21   of the hearing. 
 
         22          A.   I recall that the compani es did not 
 
         23   initiate the discussion around the or iginal proposal. 
 
         24   Rather FirstEnergy Solutions approach ed the companies 
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          1   after becoming aware of what AEP was doing, and only 
 
          2   after, you know, the company -- the E DU team did 
 
          3   extensive due diligence and discovery  and 
 
          4   negotiations at that time was there a  decision to 
 
          5   move forward with the original rider RRS. 
 
          6               MR. FISK:  Can we go off?  
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Yes. 
 
          8               (Discussion off the recor d.) 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  Let's go back  on the record. 
 
         10               MR. FISK:  I have nothing  further in the 
 
         11   public session. 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  All right.  L et's go off the 
 
         13   record. 
 
         14               (Discussion off the recor d.) 
 
         15               (Thereupon, at 12:29 p.m. , a lunch recess 
 
         16   was taken.) 
 
         17                           - - - 
 
         18 
 
         19 
 
         20 
 
         21 
 
         22 
 
         23 
 
         24 
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          1                            Wednesday Af ternoon Session, 
 
          2                            June 29, 201 6. 
 
          3                           - - - 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Let's go back  on the record. 
 
          5               MS. WILLIS:  Thank you. 
 
          6                           - - - 
 
          7                    EILEEN M. MIKKELSEN 
 
          8   being by previously first duly sworn,  as hereinafter 
 
          9   certified, deposes and says further a s follows: 
 
         10                     CROSS-EXAMINATION 
 
         11   By Ms. Willis: 
 
         12          Q.   Good afternoon, Ms. Mikke lsen. 
 
         13          A.   Good afternoon. 
 
         14          Q.   I want to walk you throug h the process 
 
         15   starting with the FERC issuing the or der April 27, 
 
         16   2016.  After the FERC issue -- FERC o rder was issued, 
 
         17   what step did the company take in ord ering -- in 
 
         18   developing a response to that order? 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  I will instru ct you to 
 
         20   exclude from your answer any conversa tion that you 
 
         21   had with counsel for the purpose of g iving or 
 
         22   receiving legal advice or for the pur pose of 
 
         23   preparation for hearing. 
 
         24          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question 
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          1   with respect to respond to? 
 
          2          Q.   The company filed -- let' s take it back a 
 
          3   second.  The company filed what we ha ve been -- this 
 
          4   morning you called the proposal.  So I am trying to 
 
          5   understand how that proposal was deve loped so what's 
 
          6   your first -- what was your first int eraction with 
 
          7   any proposal that was to respond to t he FERC order? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Same instruct ion. 
 
          9               THE WITNESS:  What was th e instruction? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  The instructi on is to exclude 
 
         11   from your answer any conversations th at you've had 
 
         12   with counsel for the purpose of givin g or receiving 
 
         13   legal advice or any conversations tha t you had in 
 
         14   preparation -- in preparation for the  hearing. 
 
         15          A.   The companies were notifi ed by FES of the 
 
         16   FERC order, and at that time I think review of that 
 
         17   began subject to attorney's direction , under the 
 
         18   direction of attorneys. 
 
         19          Q.   Okay.  And when you say r eview of the 
 
         20   order began, would that have been you r review as well 
 
         21   as other individuals within FirstEner gy utilities? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Again, same i nstruction in 
 
         23   terms of information that you gave or  provided in 
 
         24   conversations with counsel for giving  or receiving 
 
 
 
 
 
              ARMSTRONG & OKEY, INC., Columbus, Ohi o (614) 224-9481 



 
 
 
 
                                                                97 
          1   legal advice or information you did a t the direction 
 
          2   of counsel in preparation for litigat ion. 
 
          3          A.   I read the order, and sub sequent to that 
 
          4   my activities would have been at the direction of 
 
          5   counsel. 
 
          6          Q.   All right.  Can you tell me who was 
 
          7   involved in developing a -- or develo ping the 
 
          8   proposal that was filed in this case?  
 
          9          A.   That would have been myse lf, other rates 
 
         10   personnel, folks from our legal team,  and others. 
 
         11          Q.   Okay.  Let's start with t he other rates 
 
         12   personnel.  Can you identify who thos e other rates 
 
         13   personnel would have been that were w orking to 
 
         14   develop the proposal that was filed i n this case? 
 
         15          A.   Bill Ridmann, Sonny Fanel li, and Joanne 
 
         16   Savage. 
 
         17          Q.   And you said -- 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Could you hol d on a second. 
 
         19   If there are individuals on the phone  who do not have 
 
         20   their phone on mute, we would appreci ate it if you 
 
         21   would do so.  Thank you. 
 
         22               MS. WILLIS:  Thank you. 
 
         23          Q.   (By Ms. Willis) You menti oned legal and 
 
         24   you said legal and others.  Can you t ell me who the 
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          1   "and others" you were referring to th at -- that you 
 
          2   worked with to develop the proposal t hat was filed in 
 
          3   this case. 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Object to the  extent it has 
 
          5   already been asked and answered but g o ahead. 
 
          6          A.   Yeah.  I worked with acco unting.  I 
 
          7   worked with risk.  I worked with stra tegy. 
 
          8          Q.   Are you -- I was just wai ting. 
 
          9          A.   I am.  I'm done. 
 
         10          Q.   Let's go through them one  by one. 
 
         11   Accounting, who would have been in th e accounting -- 
 
         12   who would that have been?  Can you id entify the 
 
         13   individuals? 
 
         14          A.   John Taylor. 
 
         15          Q.   And what is his position?  
 
         16          A.   Chief accounting officer.  
 
         17          Q.   For what company? 
 
         18          A.   He's the controller also.   He's a 
 
         19   FirstEnergy Service Corp. employee. 
 
         20          Q.   Okay.  Is there anyone el se in accounting 
 
         21   that you worked with to develop the p roposal filed in 
 
         22   this proceeding? 
 
         23          A.   No. 
 
         24          Q.   Now, you mentioned that y ou worked with 
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          1   risk.  Can you tell me what risk -- w hat you were 
 
          2   referring to when you said risk? 
 
          3          A.   The risk department. 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  And who in the ris k department 
 
          5   would you have worked with for purpos es of developing 
 
          6   the proposal filed in this proceeding ? 
 
          7          A.   John Judge. 
 
          8          Q.   And what is his position and who is he 
 
          9   employed by? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Let's take th em one at a 
 
         11   time. 
 
         12          Q.   Sorry. 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  So could you ask it again? 
 
         14          Q.   Can you tell me who Mr. J udge is employed 
 
         15   by? 
 
         16          A.   FirstEnergy Service Corp.  
 
         17          Q.   Was there anyone else in the risk 
 
         18   department of FirstEnergy Service Cor p. that you 
 
         19   worked with to develop the proposal f iled in this 
 
         20   proceeding? 
 
         21          A.   No. 
 
         22          Q.   And you mentioned strateg y.  Can you tell 
 
         23   me what you meant by strategy?  You w orked with 
 
         24   strategy. 
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          1          A.   It's an organizational un it. 
 
          2          Q.   Okay.  And can you tell m e where that 
 
          3   organizational unit is or who that or ganizational 
 
          4   unit is associated with, what entity?  
 
          5          A.   FirstEnergy Service Corp.  
 
          6          Q.   And within this strategy organization of 
 
          7   FirstEnergy Service Corp., what indiv idual would you 
 
          8   have worked with to develop the propo sal filed in 
 
          9   this proceeding? 
 
         10          A.   Gary Benz and Dave Pinter  and Nick 
 
         11   Fernandez. 
 
         12          Q.   So can you tell me where the -- where the 
 
         13   proposal -- who -- who came up with t he proposal? 
 
         14   Whose idea was the proposal? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Well, again, I will instruct 
 
         16   you as I have before.  You have my in struction in 
 
         17   mind? 
 
         18          A.   The proposal was develope d under the 
 
         19   direction of counsel. 
 
         20          Q.   So when you developed you r proposal under 
 
         21   the direction of counsel, who was in charge of -- who 
 
         22   was in charge of developing the propo sal?  Was there 
 
         23   a main person that was in charge of i t? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Same instruct ion. 
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          1          A.   I think -- 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Also it was c ompound.  Go 
 
          3   ahead. 
 
          4          A.   I'm sorry.  May I ask you  to rephrase the 
 
          5   question, please? 
 
          6          Q.   Was there a main point pe rson to develop 
 
          7   the proposal that was in charge of th e entire 
 
          8   proposal? 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, an d same 
 
         10   instruction. 
 
         11          A.   No. 
 
         12          Q.   No. 
 
         13          A.   The proposal was develope d under the 
 
         14   direction of counsel. 
 
         15          Q.   Okay.  Now, before the pr oposal was 
 
         16   submitted as part of your rehearing a pplication, did 
 
         17   it have to be approved by any individ ual within 
 
         18   FirstEnergy utilities? 
 
         19          A.   Yes. 
 
         20          Q.   And who would that have b een? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         22          Q.   Whose approval would have  been needed 
 
         23   to -- in order to file the proposal a s part of your 
 
         24   rehearing application? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          2   answered. 
 
          3          A.   Steve Strah. 
 
          4          Q.   And Mr. Strah is the trea surer; is that 
 
          5   correct? 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          7          A.   No. 
 
          8          Q.   Can you tell me what posi tion he holds? 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         10   answered. 
 
         11          A.   I'm not going to have the  title perhaps 
 
         12   exactly correct, but he is the senior  vice president 
 
         13   and I think president in charge of al l the utility 
 
         14   companies. 
 
         15          Q.   Was he who you were refer ring to earlier 
 
         16   this morning? 
 
         17          A.   Yes. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  Before the proposa l was filed as 
 
         19   part of your rehearing application, d id the -- did 
 
         20   the companies or the -- let me start over. 
 
         21               Before the proposal was f iled as part of 
 
         22   the rehearing application, did the co mpanies evaluate 
 
         23   the impact of the proposal as -- let me strike that. 
 
         24               To your knowledge was the re anyone in the 
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          1   FirstEnergy Corporation that had to a pprove the 
 
          2   proposal before it was filed as part of your 
 
          3   rehearing application? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          5          A.   No. 
 
          6          Q.   Was there anyone in First Energy Solutions 
 
          7   that had to approve the proposal befo re it was filed? 
 
          8          A.   No. 
 
          9          Q.   Was the proposal provided  -- let me 
 
         10   strike that. 
 
         11               Was the proposal discusse d with any of 
 
         12   the signatory parties to the stipulat ions prior to 
 
         13   being filed as part of the rehearing application? 
 
         14          A.   Yes. 
 
         15          Q.   And which signatory parti es would have -- 
 
         16   would you have discussed the proposal  with? 
 
         17          A.   All of the signatory part ies. 
 
         18          Q.   And those discussions wou ld have taken 
 
         19   place before the -- the -- your testi mony was filed; 
 
         20   is that correct?  Your rehearing test imony filed. 
 
         21          A.   Yes. 
 
         22          Q.   Now, let's go to page 1 o f your 
 
         23   testimony, specifically line 18, and you indicate 
 
         24   there that "The proposed modification s benefit 
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          1   customers while eliminating any assoc iated risk with 
 
          2   tying Rider RRS to the results of a p urchase power 
 
          3   agreement."  Do you see that? 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5          Q.   Can you tell me specifica lly the benefits 
 
          6   to customers of the proposed modifica tions -- let me 
 
          7   strike that. 
 
          8               Can you identify specific ally the 
 
          9   benefits to customers under the propo sal? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection.  G o ahead. 
 
         11          A.   The proposal benefits cus tomers insomuch 
 
         12   as it eliminates any risk associated with plant -- 
 
         13   actual plant costs exceeding the proj ected values 
 
         14   relied upon in the case.  It benefits  the customers 
 
         15   from avoiding the risk of outages, un planned outages, 
 
         16   at the operating units that would hav e existed under 
 
         17   the original proposal.  It benefits t he customers by 
 
         18   making known what the values are that  will be assumed 
 
         19   cleared for capacity purposes in the base residual 
 
         20   auction eliminating any risk of capac ity not clearing 
 
         21   in the auction as a result of offer s trategies. 
 
         22               It eliminates the risk to  customers 
 
         23   associated with future environmental.   There was 
 
         24   concern in the case there may be emer gent 
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          1   environmental requirements that weren 't reflected in 
 
          2   the forecasts so that risk is elimina ted and to the 
 
          3   benefit of the customers.  It elimina tes any risk of 
 
          4   emergent nuclear regulations which mi ght give rise to 
 
          5   necessary investments under the origi nal proposal. 
 
          6   It eliminates any risk associated wit h just excess 
 
          7   spending. 
 
          8               There seemed to be concer n in the case 
 
          9   about excess spending at the plants, maybe gold 
 
         10   plating the plants.  It eliminates th at risk so all 
 
         11   of the concerns, whether I agree with  them or not, 
 
         12   that were articulated by parties duri ng the case with 
 
         13   respect to risks around the energy th at was produced, 
 
         14   the capacity that cleared in the mark et, or the costs 
 
         15   that were incurred are eliminated und er this 
 
         16   proposal. 
 
         17          Q.   So you would define the b enefits to 
 
         18   customers as the elimination of risk.  
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, mi scharacterizes 
 
         20   her testimony. 
 
         21          A.   That the testimony we are  looking at 
 
         22   discusses how the proposed modificati ons benefit 
 
         23   customers, right. 
 
         24          Q.   I just want to make sure that we are on 
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          1   the same page.  You say it benefits - - the testimony 
 
          2   is that it benefits customers while e liminating any 
 
          3   associated risk, and you've defined t he benefits to 
 
          4   customers basically as the eliminatio n of a number of 
 
          5   risks that were raised by parties to the proceeding; 
 
          6   is that correct? 
 
          7          A.   It also eliminates -- the  modified 
 
          8   proposal eliminates the risk of timin g delay -- 
 
          9          Q.   And the time -- 
 
         10          A.   -- moving forward, the ri sk of 
 
         11   uncertainty associated with whether t he ESP IV will 
 
         12   continue or not continue.  All of tho se risks were in 
 
         13   addition to the plant-related risks. 
 
         14          Q.   And the timing delay is t he timing -- you 
 
         15   are referring to the timing of rates going into 
 
         16   effect; is that what you are referrin g to? 
 
         17          A.   I was referring to the ti me I'm told it 
 
         18   would take to have the PPA reviewed a t FERC. 
 
         19          Q.   Oh, okay.  Thank you.  Is  it -- is it 
 
         20   your understanding -- earlier this mo rning you 
 
         21   referred to the original proposal of rider RRS, so I 
 
         22   am going to pick up on that, and we a re going to talk 
 
         23   about rider RRS.  Is rider -- would y ou agree with me 
 
         24   that rider RRS was an integral compon ent of ESP IV 
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          1   that was proposed in this proceeding?  
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          3          A.   I would say rider RRS was  a very 
 
          4   important provision of the ESP IV. 
 
          5          Q.   And would you agree with me that rider 
 
          6   RRS was intended to achieve rate stab ility? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          8          A.   Yes, retail rate stabilit y. 
 
          9          Q.   Is the retail rate stabil ity that is 
 
         10   intended to be achieved under the pro posal any 
 
         11   different than the retail rate stabil ity intended to 
 
         12   be achieved under rider RRS? 
 
         13          A.   I think that there may be  enhanced retail 
 
         14   rate stability under the proposal due  to the 
 
         15   elimination of the matters that we di scussed earlier 
 
         16   which under the original proposal may  have impacted 
 
         17   the rider and now no longer will. 
 
         18          Q.   And you are talking about  the risks that 
 
         19   you believe are eliminated or avoided  by the 
 
         20   proposal, correct? 
 
         21          A.   Yes. 
 
         22          Q.   Is it your understanding that the rider 
 
         23   RRS -- that rider RRS payments were t ied to the 
 
         24   continued operation of Sammis and Dav is-Besse? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          2          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          3   please? 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  Under rider RRS Sa mmis and 
 
          5   Davis-Besse would continue to operate ; is that your 
 
          6   understanding? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          8          A.   I think there was greater  certainty with 
 
          9   respect to the continued operation.  Certainly there 
 
         10   were provisions in the term sheets su ch as if there 
 
         11   was a capital expenditure that would render the plant 
 
         12   uneconomic, things of that nature, th at allowed for 
 
         13   the not -- for the units not to conti nue to operate. 
 
         14          Q.   Is it your understanding of that under 
 
         15   rider RRS if either plant was retired , that the PUCO 
 
         16   could reopen the rider and look at --  look at the 
 
         17   rider and whether or not it should co ntinue or be 
 
         18   modified? 
 
         19          A.   I don't recall.  I don't remember. 
 
         20          Q.   Do you recall whether the re were 
 
         21   conditions under which the PUCO could  reopen the 
 
         22   rider and modify it or determine whet her it should be 
 
         23   continued? 
 
         24          A.   I do. 
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          1          Q.   Now, on page 2 of your te stimony, you 
 
          2   state that -- 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  We can agree when you are 
 
          4   talking about testimony, we are talki ng about her 
 
          5   rehearing testimony? 
 
          6               MS. WILLIS:  Yes, we can agree to that. 
 
          7          Q.   Under page 2 of your test imony you state 
 
          8   that modified rider RRS continues to meet all of the 
 
          9   objectives identified in the Commissi on's order. 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  I'm sorry.  D o you have a 
 
         11   line reference? 
 
         12               MS. WILLIS:  Yes.  That w ould be lines 1 
 
         13   and 2. 
 
         14          Q.   Do you see that? 
 
         15          A.   Yes. 
 
         16          Q.   Can you identify for me w hat objectives 
 
         17   you are referring to there? 
 
         18          A.   I think I refer on page 3  of my testimony 
 
         19   to the Commission order where they ta lk about rider 
 
         20   RRS operating as a form of insurance.   I would also 
 
         21   be talking about the Commission's det ermination with 
 
         22   respect to qualitative benefits assoc iated with 
 
         23   protections of customers against rate  volatility and 
 
         24   price fluctuations by promoting rate stability for 
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          1   all ratepayers in the state. 
 
          2               MS. WILLIS:  May I have t hat answer 
 
          3   reread, please. 
 
          4               (Record read.) 
 
          5          Q.   Are there any other objec tives that you 
 
          6   can identify that are -- that rider - - that the 
 
          7   proposal continues to meet?  Let me s trike that.  Let 
 
          8   me be more precise. 
 
          9               You identified objectives  that the 
 
         10   modified rider RRS continues to meet.   Are there any 
 
         11   other objectives you can identify as we sit here 
 
         12   today that are -- are met under the p roposal? 
 
         13          A.   Those are -- pardon me. 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Objection.  T o the extent it 
 
         15   hasn't already been asked and answere d, go ahead. 
 
         16          A.   The ones mentioned are th e ones that come 
 
         17   to mind now. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  Under your current  -- under the 
 
         19   proposal what happens if Davis-Besse and Sammis 
 
         20   retire? 
 
         21          A.   All else equal? 
 
         22          Q.   Yes. 
 
         23          A.   Nothing with respect to r ider RRS. 
 
         24          Q.   Rider RRS continues -- 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  I'm sorry.  H ad you finished 
 
          2   your answer? 
 
          3               THE WITNESS:  I had. 
 
          4          Q.   I didn't mean to interrup t. 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  I didn't know  whether she had 
 
          6   finished or not.  That's why I asked.  
 
          7               MS. WILLIS:  She talks fa st so it's a 
 
          8   little hard to judge. 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  And so do we all. 
 
         10               MS. WILLIS:  Yes, and I'm  used to 
 
         11   interrupting people.  I appreciate it . 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Thank you for  letting me ask 
 
         13   her.  Go ahead. 
 
         14               MS. WILLIS:  I think -- d id we have a 
 
         15   question pending or?  I'm not sure. 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Why don't you  ask it again. 
 
         17   I interrupted you. 
 
         18          Q.   Under the proposal -- let  me strike that. 
 
         19               MS. WILLIS:  If we could just have the 
 
         20   last answer and question reread.  I t hink she may 
 
         21   have answered it so I don't need to. 
 
         22               (Record read.) 
 
         23          Q.   So rider RRS would contin ue without 
 
         24   any -- rider RRS would continue, corr ect? 
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          1          A.   All else equal, in the ev ent that 
 
          2   Davis-Besse and Sammis were to retire , rider RRS 
 
          3   would continue under the proposal. 
 
          4          Q.   And under the proposal th e Commission 
 
          5   would not have the opportunity or abi lity to reopen 
 
          6   rider RRS to determine whether it sho uld continue or 
 
          7   be modified? 
 
          8          A.   All else equal, assuming Davis-Besse and 
 
          9   Sammis retire, the Commission would n ot have the 
 
         10   opportunity to revisit rider RRS. 
 
         11          Q.   Thank you.  On page 3 of your testimony, 
 
         12   let's look at line 14.  You note that  the PUCO took 
 
         13   into account -- let me strike that. 
 
         14               You indicate on page 3 th at the 
 
         15   Commission found evidence in the reco rd reliable. 
 
         16   And that was the -- the evidence that  you are 
 
         17   speaking of there is the companies' p rojection that 
 
         18   customers will receive a credit of $5 61 million; is 
 
         19   that correct? 
 
         20          A.   Yes. 
 
         21          Q.   And that was based on the  projections 
 
         22   provided by Mr. Rose; is that correct ? 
 
         23          A.   The projection relied in part upon 
 
         24   information provided by Mr. Rose. 
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          1          Q.   And in part on informatio n provided by 
 
          2   Mr. Lisowski? 
 
          3          A.   Correct. 
 
          4          Q.   And on page -- line 14 of  page 3, you 
 
          5   note that the PUCO took into account another 
 
          6   projection.  Do you see that referenc e? 
 
          7          A.   Yes. 
 
          8          Q.   And that other projection  was based on an 
 
          9   EIA Reference Case, correct? 
 
         10          A.   Yes. 
 
         11          Q.   Is it your understanding that that 
 
         12   projection would have been provided b y OCC Witness 
 
         13   Wilson? 
 
         14          A.   Yes. 
 
         15          Q.   And that is it also your understanding 
 
         16   that Mr. Wilson relied on the EIA Ref erence Case 
 
         17   Outlook for 2015? 
 
         18          A.   Yes. 
 
         19          Q.   Is it your understanding that OCC Witness 
 
         20   Wilson's projection of a net cost of $50 million to 
 
         21   customers using the EIA Reference Cas e Outlook for 
 
         22   2015 was a projection that the PUCO f ound -- PUCO 
 
         23   found to be reasonable and reliable? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
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          1          A.   The Commission incorporat ed the results 
 
          2   of that analysis in its analysis of t he benefits of 
 
          3   the ESP versus the MRO. 
 
          4          Q.   Do you believe that that projection was 
 
          5   reasonable and reliable? 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          7          A.   No, I don't. 
 
          8          Q.   Are you familiar with the  EIA Reference 
 
          9   Case Outlook for 2015? 
 
         10          A.   Not in any detail. 
 
         11          Q.   Okay. 
 
         12          A.   No. 
 
         13          Q.   Have you looked at it? 
 
         14          A.   I may have looked at it i n the course of 
 
         15   the case. 
 
         16          Q.   Have you discussed the EI A Reference Case 
 
         17   Outlook for 2015 with anyone in the c ompany? 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Excluding cou nsel. 
 
         19          Q.   Excluding counsel. 
 
         20          A.   Excluding counsel, no. 
 
         21          Q.   Are you generally familia r with EIA's 
 
         22   Annual Energy Outlook? 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         24          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
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          1   please? 
 
          2          Q.   Are you aware of the Unit ed States Energy 
 
          3   Information Administration's annual p rojections that 
 
          4   are released? 
 
          5          A.   I am aware that the EIA p roduces 
 
          6   projections, yes. 
 
          7          Q.   Is it something that you keep apprised 
 
          8   of? 
 
          9          A.   No. 
 
         10          Q.   Is it something that you discuss 
 
         11   internally with member -- with other employees? 
 
         12          A.   No.  Outside of the insta nt proceeding, 
 
         13   no. 
 
         14          Q.   And do you know whether o r not 
 
         15   FirstEnergy uses the EIA Annual Outlo ok for any 
 
         16   purpose? 
 
         17          A.   I don't know. 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  And when you say FirstEnergy, 
 
         19   you are referring to the companies? 
 
         20          Q.   First -- yes, the utiliti es. 
 
         21          A.   I don't know. 
 
         22          Q.   And are you aware of whet her or not, for 
 
         23   example, the FirstEnergy Service Corp oration utilizes 
 
         24   the EIA Annual Outlook for any purpos es? 
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          1          A.   I don't know. 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  If I could st op there, again, 
 
          3   we are getting noise on our speaker, so if folks on 
 
          4   the phone could make sure that they a re on mute, we 
 
          5   would appreciate it. 
 
          6               MS. WILLIS:  Thank you. 
 
          7          Q.   (By Ms. Willis) Are you a ware of whether 
 
          8   or not FirstEnergy Solutions uses the  EIA Annual 
 
          9   Outlook for any purpose? 
 
         10          A.   I don't know. 
 
         11          Q.   Are you familiar with the  EIA Annual 
 
         12   Energy Outlook for 2016? 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         14               THE WITNESS:  May I have the question 
 
         15   reread, please. 
 
         16               (Record read.) 
 
         17          A.   No. 
 
         18          Q.   Are you aware that there has been an 
 
         19   early release of the EIA Annual Energ y Outlook for 
 
         20   2016 that was released in May of 2016 ? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
         22   please. 
 
         23               (Record read.) 
 
         24          A.   No. 
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          1          Q.   And are you aware of whet her or not there 
 
          2   will be a full release of the EIA Ann ual Outlook 2016 
 
          3   in July of 2016? 
 
          4          A.   No. 
 
          5          Q.   Are you aware generally, Ms. Mikkelsen, 
 
          6   of any changes in the power markets s ince 2014? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          8          Q.   Energy markets, I will tr y to be more 
 
          9   specific. 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Same objectio n. 
 
         11          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         12   please? 
 
         13          Q.   I will try.  Is it your u nderstanding 
 
         14   that the forecasts in -- in this proc eeding that you 
 
         15   are relying upon as part of your prop osal were 
 
         16   developed in 2014? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         18               THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.  May I ask you 
 
         19   to reread the question, please, ma'am . 
 
         20               (Record read.) 
 
         21          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question? 
 
         22          Q.   I'm sorry.  What -- what is your problem 
 
         23   with respect to the question? 
 
         24          A.   What forecast you are ref erring to, 
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          1   ma'am. 
 
          2          Q.   Would the forecasts that were developed 
 
          3   by Mr. Rose that the company -- let m e go back a 
 
          4   second. 
 
          5               Part of the proposal in t his proceeding 
 
          6   relies upon forecasts that were devel oped by Mr. Rose 
 
          7   and by Mr. Lisowski; is that correct?  
 
          8          A.   Yes. 
 
          9          Q.   And let's focus for a mom ent on the 
 
         10   forecast developed by Mr. Rose.  Is i t your 
 
         11   understanding that the forecasts deve loped by 
 
         12   Mr. Rose were developed in 2014? 
 
         13          A.   Yes. 
 
         14          Q.   And how would you charact erize those 
 
         15   forecasts?  What were those forecasts  of, if you 
 
         16   know? 
 
         17          A.   I think Mr. Rose's testim ony speaks for 
 
         18   itself what his forecast was. 
 
         19          Q.   I am just asking you what  your 
 
         20   understanding is of those forecasts. 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         22          A.   My understanding was he m ade forecasts 
 
         23   with respect to energy prices, capaci ty prices.  I 
 
         24   think that there were other elements that he included 
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          1   in his testimony that he forecasted p rices associated 
 
          2   with. 
 
          3          Q.   Okay.  Is it your underst anding that the 
 
          4   energy prices that Mr. Rose forecaste d were -- were 
 
          5   forecasts developed in 2014? 
 
          6          A.   Yes. 
 
          7          Q.   And do you know what has -- do you know 
 
          8   whether or not the energy price -- en ergy prices have 
 
          9   come up or down since the 2014 period ? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         11          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         12   please? 
 
         13          Q.   And where is the problem with the 
 
         14   question? 
 
         15          A.   I am not sure what time f rame you are 
 
         16   talking about, ma'am. 
 
         17          Q.   Let's talk about annually , an annual time 
 
         18   frame.  Do you know, for instance, in  2016 whether 
 
         19   the energy prices have come down from  the energy 
 
         20   prices in 2014? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection.  I t's hopelessly 
 
         22   vague. 
 
         23          A.   I don't know how to answe r the question. 
 
         24          Q.   Okay.  Do you know in gen eral whether or 
 
 
 
 
 
              ARMSTRONG & OKEY, INC., Columbus, Ohi o (614) 224-9481 



 
 
 
 
                                                               120 
          1   not energy price forecasts have chang ed since 2014? 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          3          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question 
 
          4   with respect to time frame? 
 
          5          Q.   Do you know whether the e nergy price 
 
          6   forecasts -- if we compared an energy  price forecast 
 
          7   that Mr. Rose developed in 2014, woul d you expect 
 
          8   there to be changes from the energy p rice forecasts 
 
          9   that are now available in 2016? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         11          A.   I think Mr. Rose's foreca st was developed 
 
         12   using the most reliable forecasting m ethodology in 
 
         13   the case, and I would expect his fore cast -- I would 
 
         14   expect to be able to rely upon his fo recast over the 
 
         15   term of the ESP.  There may be change s in the, you 
 
         16   know, current period with respect to energy prices 
 
         17   that are actually seen versus the for ecast but that 
 
         18   was still the most reliable forecast.  
 
         19          Q.   And if we compared Mr. Ro se's energy 
 
         20   price forecasts with the actual energ y prices that 
 
         21   have occurred in 2015 and 2016 to dat e, how -- what's 
 
         22   your understanding of how they would compare? 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         24          A.   I haven't performed that study. 
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          1          Q.   Okay.  Do you know if any one in the 
 
          2   company has performed that study that  would look at 
 
          3   the difference between Mr. Rose's 201 4 forecasts and 
 
          4   the actual energy prices that -- that  occurred during 
 
          5   2015 and 2016? 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          7          A.   I'm not aware of anyone p erforming that 
 
          8   study in the companies. 
 
          9          Q.   Are you aware of anyone p erforming that 
 
         10   study outside of the companies but wi thin the 
 
         11   FirstEnergy Corporation? 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         13          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         14   please? 
 
         15          Q.   Are you aware of -- of an other entity 
 
         16   that is within the FirstEnergy Corpor ation that would 
 
         17   have looked at the difference between  Mr. Rose's 
 
         18   energy price forecasts in 2014 and co mpared that to 
 
         19   the actual energy prices seen in 2015  and 2016? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         21          A.   I'm not aware of a calcul ation being 
 
         22   performed in any of the FirstEnergy C orporation's 
 
         23   subsidiaries like the one you've desc ribed. 
 
         24          Q.   Are you aware of whether that is being 
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          1   looked at beyond a calculation being performed? 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          3          A.   No. 
 
          4          Q.   Now, on page 4, lines 16 through 17, you 
 
          5   indicate that "Rider RRS will continu e to provide all 
 
          6   the rate stabilization benefits recog nized in the 
 
          7   Order, but without reliance on the PP A."  Can you 
 
          8   identify for me what rate stabilizati on benefits you 
 
          9   are referring to there? 
 
         10          A.   The rate stabilization be nefits I'm 
 
         11   referring to there are the benefits t hat flow to the 
 
         12   customer as a result of the retail ra te stability 
 
         13   rider such that when market prices ar e low, customers 
 
         14   will see a charge associated with rid er RRS, and as 
 
         15   market prices increase over the term of the ESP, that 
 
         16   charge will transition to a credit th ereby 
 
         17   stabilizing retail rates for our cust omers. 
 
         18          Q.   Can you tell me what the benefits of 
 
         19   modified -- let me strike that. 
 
         20               Can you tell me what are the benefits of 
 
         21   the proposal to the FirstEnergy utili ties? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Well, are we talking about 
 
         23   the proposal? 
 
         24               MS. WILLIS:  That is corr ect. 
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          1          A.   The FirstEnergy utilities  are benefited 
 
          2   by the ability to provide that retail  rate stability 
 
          3   to our customers, which as we discuss ed earlier, 
 
          4   provides associated economic developm ent and job 
 
          5   retention benefits which serve to str engthen our 
 
          6   service territories which, in turn, b enefit the 
 
          7   customers -- pardon me, benefit the c ompanies arising 
 
          8   from this.  The companies are benefit ed by the 
 
          9   elimination of all the uncertainty th at has 
 
         10   surrounded and continues to surround the ESP IV and 
 
         11   whether or not certain provisions wil l or will not go 
 
         12   forward. 
 
         13               The utilities are benefit ed, as we 
 
         14   discussed earlier, by additional infl ow of cash in 
 
         15   the early years which would help to i mprove their 
 
         16   credit metrics in the early years of the proposal. 
 
         17   The utilities are benefited by having  the influx of 
 
         18   cash which will help them invest in t hings that could 
 
         19   include things like the grid moderniz ation plan, the 
 
         20   investment in renewable resources in the State of 
 
         21   Ohio, or potentially battery technolo gies.  There may 
 
         22   be others.  Those are the benefits th at come to mind 
 
         23   now. 
 
         24          Q.   I'm sorry.  So those are the ones as we 
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          1   sit here today you can identify that are benefits to 
 
          2   the company of proposed rider RRS -- I'm sorry, of 
 
          3   the proposal. 
 
          4          A.   Correct.  Those are the o nes I can think 
 
          5   of sitting here now, yes. 
 
          6          Q.   Can you tell me what are the benefits of 
 
          7   the proposal to FirstEnergy Solutions ? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          9          A.   There are no benefits to the proposal -- 
 
         10   of the proposal to FirstEnergy Soluti ons. 
 
         11          Q.   And can you tell me if th ere are any 
 
         12   benefits of the proposal to the FE Co rporation? 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  You mean Firs tEnergy Corp.? 
 
         14               MS. WILLIS:  Yes.  It's n ot Corporation? 
 
         15   It's just Corp.? 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  No.  Yes. 
 
         17               MS. WILLIS:  Thank you, M r. Kutik. 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Always willin g to help. 
 
         19               MS. WILLIS:  Yes.  Very n ice. 
 
         20          A.   Again, to the extent that  the utilities' 
 
         21   credit metrics are improved in the ea rly periods and 
 
         22   those utility results consolidate up to parent, that 
 
         23   improvement could give rise to an imp rovement for the 
 
         24   FirstEnergy Corp. consolidated metric s. 
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          1          Q.   When -- I'm sorry.  Were you finished? 
 
          2          A.   I was. 
 
          3          Q.   When you say that the cre dit metrics 
 
          4   are -- could improve and consolidate up to the 
 
          5   parent, can you tell me what you mean  consolidate up 
 
          6   to the parent and how that works? 
 
          7          A.   I was referring to the di scussion we had 
 
          8   earlier this morning with respect to that the 
 
          9   FirstEnergy Corp. represents a consol idation of all 
 
         10   of the subsidiaries, so to the extent  that the 
 
         11   companies are subsidiaries and their credit metrics 
 
         12   are improved when their results conso lidate up in 
 
         13   aggregate with the other members of t he FirstEnergy 
 
         14   Corp., results could be improved. 
 
         15          Q.   And -- let me strike that . 
 
         16               Can you tell me what are the benefits of 
 
         17   the proposal to the shareholders of F irstEnergy 
 
         18   Corp.? 
 
         19          A.   I haven't thought about i t in that 
 
         20   context, but I would assume sharehold ers are 
 
         21   benefited by stronger utility compani es. 
 
         22          Q.   Is there any other benefi ts to -- of the 
 
         23   proposal to the shareholders of FE Co rp.? 
 
         24          A.   It's the benefit that com es to mind as I 
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          1   sit here today. 
 
          2          Q.   And so you can think of n o other benefit 
 
          3   as you sit here today. 
 
          4          A.   Correct. 
 
          5          Q.   Now, on page 5, line 1, y ou talk about 
 
          6   the hedging function of rider RRS bei ng provided 
 
          7   directly by the companies and not thr ough a PPA 
 
          8   construct.  Do you see that? 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   Can you identify the hedg ing that you are 
 
         11   referring to there? 
 
         12          A.   Yes.  That is when market  revenues based 
 
         13   on the assumed generation output and capacity cleared 
 
         14   in the case are greater than the cost s that are 
 
         15   assumed in the proposal.  That revenu e would then 
 
         16   flow back -- the excess of the revenu e over those 
 
         17   proxy costs would flow back to the cu stomers in a 
 
         18   form of a credit, and to the extent t hat that revenue 
 
         19   is less than the proxy costs, that wo uld mean market 
 
         20   prices are low and that would result in a charge to 
 
         21   the companies' customers. 
 
         22          Q.   Is the hedging backed up by any financial 
 
         23   instruments, if you know? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
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          1          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  with respect to 
 
          2   "financial instruments"? 
 
          3          Q.   Did -- does -- do the Fir stEnergy 
 
          4   utilities have to enter into any fina ncial 
 
          5   arrangements in order to provide the hedge to 
 
          6   customers under the proposal? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          8          A.   No. 
 
          9               MS. WILLIS:  Can I have t he question and 
 
         10   answer reread, please. 
 
         11               (Record read.) 
 
         12          Q.   Do any of the entities in  FirstEnergy 
 
         13   Corp. have to enter into any financia l arrangements 
 
         14   in order to provide the hedge? 
 
         15          A.   I don't think that the qu estion makes 
 
         16   sense to me insomuch as the utility c ompanies are 
 
         17   providing the hedge, not any other en tity in the 
 
         18   FirstEnergy Corporation. 
 
         19          Q.   So the answer is no. 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Well, her ans wer is her 
 
         21   answer so I'll object. 
 
         22          Q.   You can respond. 
 
         23          A.   The utilities are offerin g the hedge via 
 
         24   the retail rate stability rider.  Tha t offer on 
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          1   behalf of utilities does not rely upo n any other 
 
          2   actions taken by any other corporate entity. 
 
          3          Q.   Thank you.  Are you aware  of any, 
 
          4   Ms. Mikkelsen, any deregulated utilit ies -- electric 
 
          5   utilities which hedge power costs and  charge 
 
          6   customers for that hedge through nonb ypassable 
 
          7   charges? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection.  I  am not sure 
 
          9   what the term "deregulated electric u tility" means. 
 
         10          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         11   please? 
 
         12          Q.   Are you aware of any othe r electric 
 
         13   utilities which hedge power costs and  charge 
 
         14   customers for that hedge through a no nbypassable 
 
         15   charge? 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         17          A.   As proposed, the customer s will have a 
 
         18   net credit, not a charge, under the c ompanies' hedge 
 
         19   proposal. 
 
         20          Q.   But under the companies' hedge proposal, 
 
         21   by your projections for a certain num ber of years 
 
         22   they will have a charge under the pro posal; isn't 
 
         23   that correct? 
 
         24          A.   Under the proposal there is a projected 
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          1   charge in the early years of the ESP term and then 
 
          2   credit in the later years of the ESP term so that in 
 
          3   total when you look at it, the custom ers have a net 
 
          4   credit associated with the hedge prov ided by the 
 
          5   companies. 
 
          6          Q.   Are you aware of any elec tric utilities 
 
          7   which hedge power costs and charge cu stomers for that 
 
          8   hedge through a nonbypassable charge?  
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         10          A.   I guess I have not perfor med that study. 
 
         11          Q.   So you are not aware of a ny other 
 
         12   utilities that would provide a simila r hedge to their 
 
         13   customers. 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         15   answered. 
 
         16          A.   I'm sorry.  I thought it was a little 
 
         17   different.  That question was a simil ar hedge.  The 
 
         18   first question was just a hedge. 
 
         19          Q.   Right, correct. 
 
         20          A.   So which is it? 
 
         21          Q.   Yes.  Are you aware of an y electric 
 
         22   utilities which provide similar hedge s to customers 
 
         23   for -- for electricity costs through a nonbypassable 
 
         24   charge? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
          2   please. 
 
          3               (Record read.) 
 
          4          A.   I know that AEP has a pro posal pending, 
 
          5   and I think that Dayton may have a pr oposal pending. 
 
          6          Q.   But outside those two uti lities, you are 
 
          7   not aware of any electric utilities w hich provided a 
 
          8   similar hedge for electricity and cha rge customers on 
 
          9   a nonbypassable basis, correct? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         11          A.   Yes. 
 
         12          Q.   Can you explain to me -- can you identify 
 
         13   all the costs that are associated wit h the hedge that 
 
         14   you are providing under your proposal ? 
 
         15          A.   The costs listed on Sierr a Club Exhibit 
 
         16   1, line 11. 
 
         17          Q.   There are no other costs that the company 
 
         18   expects to incur other than the costs  listed on line 
 
         19   1, Sierra Club Exhibit 1, for providi ng the hedge, 
 
         20   correct? 
 
         21          A.   The companies will incur some 
 
         22   administrative-related costs associat ed -- associated 
 
         23   with the preparation of the rider and  the quarterly 
 
         24   true-ups and associated with respondi ng to inquiries 
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          1   associated with the annual audit. 
 
          2          Q.   And can you give me an es timate of what 
 
          3   you would expect those costs to be on  an annual 
 
          4   basis? 
 
          5          A.   No. 
 
          6          Q.   Would you agree with me t hat those costs 
 
          7   would be de minimus? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          9          A.   I don't know. 
 
         10          Q.   Now, in your testimony at  page 5 -- 
 
         11          A.   I should go on to say in addition the 
 
         12   costs associated with credits, if any , that arise 
 
         13   under the proposal. 
 
         14          Q.   Understood.  I was speaki ng outside of 
 
         15   Sierra Club No. 1. 
 
         16          A.   I thought you were, but I  wanted to be 
 
         17   clear on that.  I apologize. 
 
         18          Q.   Thank you.  I appreciate that. 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Before we go on to your next 
 
         20   topic why don't we take a quick break . 
 
         21               MS. WILLIS:  Sure.  That' s great. 
 
         22               (Recess taken.) 
 
         23          Q.   (By Ms. Willis) Ms. Mikke lsen, I want you 
 
         24   to turn to your testimony at page 5, lines 2 to 4, 
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          1   and there you discuss -- you discusse d a little 
 
          2   earlier that the companies will be ab le to use any 
 
          3   rider RRS revenues produced in the ne ar term to 
 
          4   support other ESP initiatives.  Do yo u see that? 
 
          5          A.   Yes. 
 
          6          Q.   Would you agree with me t hat the 
 
          7   companies will be able to use the rev enues for any 
 
          8   purposes -- 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         10          Q.   -- under the proposal? 
 
         11          A.   As I said earlier, it is the companies' 
 
         12   intent to use the rider RRS revenue w ithin the 
 
         13   companies, you know, whether it be fo r grid 
 
         14   modernization or, as we discussed ear lier this 
 
         15   morning, you know, battery technology  or investment 
 
         16   in renewable resources or any other w ay that the 
 
         17   utility company could use the dollars .  The intent is 
 
         18   the dollars will be used within the c ompany. 
 
         19          Q.   Under the proposal there is no 
 
         20   restriction on how the revenues from rider RRS can be 
 
         21   used; is that correct? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         23   answered. 
 
         24          A.   Yes. 
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          1          Q.   And you say that there wi ll be rider RRS 
 
          2   revenues produced in the near term to  support other 
 
          3   initiatives -- let me strike that. 
 
          4               You testify on page 5, li nes 18 and 19, 
 
          5   that the modified RRS will provide a more reliable 
 
          6   hedge.  Do you see that? 
 
          7          A.   Yes. 
 
          8          Q.   Are you saying it is more  reliable than 
 
          9   rider RRS?  Is that the comparison yo u are making? 
 
         10          A.   Yes. 
 
         11          Q.   And why is it more reliab le? 
 
         12          A.   Because as we discussed e arlier, the 
 
         13   companies are using proxy costs which  will not 
 
         14   fluctuate based on actual costs incur red at any 
 
         15   generating unit.  They are using prox y or fixed and 
 
         16   known estimates for output from an en ergy perspective 
 
         17   as well as capacity cleared.  So, aga in, all of that 
 
         18   eliminates things that might have cha nged under the 
 
         19   original proposal, now locks those in  so that the 
 
         20   hedge is more reliable because it is purely moving as 
 
         21   energy markets change and as capacity  prices change. 
 
         22          Q.   You indicate on -- at pag e 6 on lines 1 
 
         23   through 3 that modified Rider RRS hol ds constant the 
 
         24   cost-side of the hedging mechanism us ing costs in the 
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          1   record that were already determined t o be reasonable. 
 
          2   Do you see that? 
 
          3          A.   Yes. 
 
          4          Q.   Did the PUCO determine th at the 
 
          5   forecasted costs were reasonable to c harge customers? 
 
          6          A.   The Commission relied upo n the companies' 
 
          7   forecast in total for what the net cr edit would be 
 
          8   under rider RRS, and the costs that w ere included in 
 
          9   that calculation -- costs were includ ed in that 
 
         10   calculation that gave rise to the num ber relied upon 
 
         11   by the Commission.  Those are the sam e costs that we 
 
         12   will be using as proxy costs going fo rward in this 
 
         13   calculation. 
 
         14          Q.   Would you agree with me t hat the 
 
         15   Commission determined that the foreca st -- or that 
 
         16   the Commission used the costs -- the forecasted costs 
 
         17   to estimate the net costs to customer s under the 
 
         18   rider RRS? 
 
         19          A.   I think that the Commissi on found that 
 
         20   there was a net benefit, not a net co st, to customers 
 
         21   associated with rider RRS. 
 
         22          Q.   But the Commission used t he forecasted 
 
         23   costs to determine whether there was a benefit to 
 
         24   customers; is that correct? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          2          A.   Yeah.  I thought, as I ex plained earlier, 
 
          3   that was one of the elements that wou ld give rise 
 
          4   to -- 
 
          5          Q.   Nowhere -- I'm sorry. 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Excuse me. 
 
          7               Had you finished?  "Give rise to"? 
 
          8               THE WITNESS:  The Commiss ion's 
 
          9   determination that rider RRS provides  a net benefit 
 
         10   to customers. 
 
         11          Q.   And can you point to me a nywhere in the 
 
         12   Commission's order where the PUCO det ermined that 
 
         13   forecasted costs were reasonable to c harge customers? 
 
         14          A.   The Commission in the ESP  versus MRO test 
 
         15   relied upon the forecasts that the re tail rate 
 
         16   stability rider provides $561 million  worth of 
 
         17   benefit to the customers over the ter m and the 
 
         18   derivation of 561, as you know and as  the Commission 
 
         19   knows, was dependent upon a projectio n of costs and 
 
         20   those are the costs that we are propo sing to use as 
 
         21   proxy costs in the RRS proposal going  forward. 
 
         22          Q.   Under the rider RRS the c osts that were 
 
         23   to be charged to customers under ride r RRS were 
 
         24   actual costs that were trued up; is t hat correct? 
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          1          A.   Under the rider RRS propo sal approved 
 
          2   costs included in the rider calculati on were to be 
 
          3   actual costs incurred at the plants. 
 
          4          Q.   On page 6, lines 5 throug h 8, you 
 
          5   indicate that "The proposal uses the generation 
 
          6   output and cleared capacity that were  included in the 
 
          7   record and relied upon by the Commiss ion in reaching 
 
          8   its decision."  Do you see that refer ence? 
 
          9          A.   Not -- no. 
 
         10          Q.   I'm sorry.  Page 6, lines  5 through 8 -- 
 
         11   actually 6 through 8, "The proposal u ses the 
 
         12   generation output and cleared capacit y that were 
 
         13   included in the record and relied upo n by the 
 
         14   Commission in reaching its decision."   Do you see 
 
         15   that? 
 
         16          A.   I see that with the prope r reference now, 
 
         17   yes. 
 
         18          Q.   Yes.  And that decision w as -- was -- was 
 
         19   the Commission was measuring the cost s in order to 
 
         20   determine whether or not the proposal  was in the 
 
         21   public interest; is that correct? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         23          A.   No. 
 
         24          Q.   And why is that not corre ct? 
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          1          A.   Again, I think the Commis sion relied upon 
 
          2   the forecasted market revenues and pr ojected costs. 
 
          3   The forecasted revenues relied upon g eneration output 
 
          4   assumptions and assumptions about cle ared capacity 
 
          5   that gave rise to the forecast in par t for the market 
 
          6   revenue that the Commission relied up on when it made 
 
          7   its determination for the ESP versus MRO test that 
 
          8   the retail rate stability rider along  with other 
 
          9   quantitative measures was more favora ble than an MRO. 
 
         10          Q.   And is it your understand ing that when 
 
         11   the Commission was looking at the mor e favorable in 
 
         12   the aggregate test that it was making  a determination 
 
         13   that the generation output and cleare d capacity 
 
         14   forecasted were a reasonable basis to  base rates 
 
         15   charged to customers? 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         17          A.   May I ask you to restate the question, 
 
         18   please? 
 
         19          Q.   Would you agree with me, Ms. Mikkelsen, 
 
         20   that the Commission did not determine  that it was 
 
         21   reasonable to use the generation outp ut and cleared 
 
         22   capacity projections to set rates to customers? 
 
         23          A.   That's correct, under the  original 
 
         24   proposal. 
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          1          Q.   Now, the only elements th at varied under 
 
          2   the proposal from the rider RRS is th at -- is the 
 
          3   day-ahead prices and the actual capac ity prices, 
 
          4   correct? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          6               THE WITNESS:  May I have the question 
 
          7   reread, please, ma'am. 
 
          8               (Record read.) 
 
          9          A.   I think that the proposal  relies upon 
 
         10   actual energy prices and actual capac ity prices as 
 
         11   did rider RRS. 
 
         12          Q.   Now, all the other elemen ts of the 
 
         13   proposal rely on forecasted informati on; is that 
 
         14   correct? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         16          A.   The proposal suggests tha t the costs that 
 
         17   were projected in the case be utilize d in the hedge 
 
         18   as proxy costs for, you know, generic  nuclear and 
 
         19   fossil fuel generating units in the r egion and that 
 
         20   makes sense because, you know, the co mpanies -- the 
 
         21   EDU team looked at those costs, they did their due 
 
         22   diligence, they compared those to cos ts of other 
 
         23   plants, and concluded they were reaso nable, so we're 
 
         24   using those costs as a proxy for fuel  diverse 
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          1   baseload generation costs in the regi on. 
 
          2               And with respect to the g eneration, 
 
          3   energy, and capacity assumptions, tho se since they 
 
          4   align with the costs that were includ ed in the case 
 
          5   are being used as proxy generation ou tput and 
 
          6   capacity cleared in the market for pu rposes of the 
 
          7   calculation under the proposal. 
 
          8          Q.   Why not rely upon the for ecasts of the 
 
          9   day-ahead energy prices and actual ca pacity prices 
 
         10   for the proposal? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         12          A.   Because the hedge is -- r ider RRS is 
 
         13   designed to provide a service to the customers in the 
 
         14   form of a hedge.  And that hedge that  the company is 
 
         15   trying to provide is against actual m arket prices so 
 
         16   if you don't use actual market prices , you don't have 
 
         17   the hedge function or service provide d to your retail 
 
         18   customers. 
 
         19          Q.   Are the risks that custom ers still bear 
 
         20   with the day-ahead market prices and capacity prices? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         22          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         23   please? 
 
         24          Q.   Well, part of your -- it' s my 
 
 
 
 
 
              ARMSTRONG & OKEY, INC., Columbus, Ohi o (614) 224-9481 



 
 
 
 
                                                               140 
          1   understanding that -- that under the proposal a 
 
          2   number of risks to customers are avoi ded in your -- 
 
          3   in your words or eliminated; is that correct? 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5          Q.   And I was just exploring whether or not 
 
          6   under the proposal if day-ahead energ y prices and 
 
          7   actual capacity prices are used inste ad of forecasted 
 
          8   energy price -- day-ahead energy pric es and actual 
 
          9   capacity prices, then isn't it true t hat customers 
 
         10   still bear risks associated with the hedge? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         12          A.   No. 
 
         13          Q.   And why is that not true?  
 
         14          A.   Because the hedge acts as  a protection 
 
         15   against the risk associated with incr easing and 
 
         16   volatile energy and capacity prices. 
 
         17          Q.   Now, on page 6, line 16, you state that 
 
         18   "The Proposal will preserve the benef its of the 
 
         19   Stipulated ESP IV for customers as pr eviously 
 
         20   determined by the Commission."  Can y ou identify 
 
         21   those specific benefits with -- can y ou name those 
 
         22   benefits associated specifically with  rider RRS? 
 
         23          A.   The statement you are poi nting to does 
 
         24   not specifically point to rider RRS.  It points 
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          1   generally to the benefits included in  the stipulated 
 
          2   ESP IV so may I ask you to restate th e question in 
 
          3   that context? 
 
          4          Q.   Can you tell me how the p roposal -- let 
 
          5   me strike that. 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Again, I woul d ask those on 
 
          7   the phone to make sure that their pho nes are on mute. 
 
          8   We are still hearing noises over the phone. 
 
          9          Q.   (By Ms. Willis) Does the proposal promote 
 
         10   resource diversity? 
 
         11          A.   To the extent that the pr oposal is 
 
         12   approved and the ESP IV moves forward  in its 
 
         13   totality, yes. 
 
         14          Q.   Does the proposal on its own support 
 
         15   resource diversity apart from the oth er provisions of 
 
         16   the ESP IV? 
 
         17          A.   No. 
 
         18          Q.   Does the proposal on its own provide 
 
         19   support for the generation assets of Davis-Besse, 
 
         20   Sammis, and the OVEC entitlement? 
 
         21          A.   No. 
 
         22          Q.   Now, on page 6 carries ov er to page 7, 
 
         23   you testify that "Because the hedging  function would 
 
         24   be provided by the Companies, the cas h associated 
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          1   with Rider RRS charges would not flow  to FES, thereby 
 
          2   potentially making more cash availabl e to support 
 
          3   important initiatives."  Do you see t hat? 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5          Q.   Can you tell me why you - - you indicated 
 
          6   that it is only potentially making mo re cash 
 
          7   available? 
 
          8          A.   Because the actual dollar s collected or 
 
          9   paid to customers in the rider aren't  known until you 
 
         10   go through the true-up process so I g uess in my mind 
 
         11   they are only potentially available u ntil we know 
 
         12   what the actual day-ahead prices are coupled with the 
 
         13   actual capacity prices. 
 
         14          Q.   Now, on page 8 on lines 4  through 5, you 
 
         15   indicate "There is no need for any re conciliation of 
 
         16   costs in Rider RRS since the costs wi ll not change"; 
 
         17   is that -- do you see that? 
 
         18          A.   Yes. 
 
         19          Q.   And this is because FE is  proposing that 
 
         20   forecasted costs be used; is that cor rect? 
 
         21          A.   Again, as I described ear lier, I think 
 
         22   what FE is proposing is that the cost s that were 
 
         23   relied upon in the case be treated as  proxy costs for 
 
         24   fuel diverse baseload generation in t he region and 
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          1   those costs would be used -- those pr oxy costs would 
 
          2   be used in the rider RRS calculation.  
 
          3          Q.   And the proxy -- I'm sorr y.  Were you 
 
          4   finished?  And the proxy costs would have been 
 
          5   developed from the forecasted costs o f Davis-Besse, 
 
          6   Sammis, and the OVEC entitlement? 
 
          7          A.   The proxy costs were base d on the 
 
          8   forecasted costs for those plants but  recognize that 
 
          9   prior to agreeing to the transaction,  the EDU team as 
 
         10   part of its extensive due diligence, you know, did a 
 
         11   very rigorous review of those costs v is-a-vis costs 
 
         12   of other similarly-situated nuclear a nd fossil plants 
 
         13   and concluded at that time that they could rely on 
 
         14   those estimates because they were con sistent with 
 
         15   what they saw when they looked at oth er 
 
         16   similar-situated plants.  So I think it's both of 
 
         17   those factors which contribute to my comfort using 
 
         18   those as proxy costs for fuel diverse  baseload 
 
         19   generation in the region. 
 
         20          Q.   On page 11 of your testim ony, lines 7 
 
         21   through 9, you indicate that the "ben efits arising 
 
         22   from modified Rider RRS will increase  due to its 
 
         23   design that includes fixed costs and fixed levels of 
 
         24   annual generation output and capacity  clearing in PJM 
 
 
 
 
 
              ARMSTRONG & OKEY, INC., Columbus, Ohi o (614) 224-9481 



 
 
 
 
                                                               144 
          1   auctions."  Do you see that? 
 
          2          A.   Yes. 
 
          3          Q.   Can you explain how the b enefits will 
 
          4   increase? 
 
          5          A.   This is the discussion we  had earlier 
 
          6   that concerns that folks had about ac tual costs being 
 
          7   in excess of the costs that were incl uded in the 
 
          8   case.  That risk is no longer there s o that provides 
 
          9   a benefit.  To the extent that was a concern of 
 
         10   parties, that provides a benefit.  To  the extent the 
 
         11   parties were concerned about long out ages or forced 
 
         12   outages when the units wouldn't be ge nerating 
 
         13   megawatt-hours to drive energy revenu e, that risk no 
 
         14   longer exists. 
 
         15               To the extent the parties  were concerned 
 
         16   about offer strategies that might lea d to capacity 
 
         17   not clearing in the base residual auc tion, that 
 
         18   concern is no longer there.  To the e xtent that there 
 
         19   were concerns about emerging environm ental 
 
         20   regulations which hadn't been reflect ed in the 
 
         21   forecast, that concern is gone.  Conc erns about 
 
         22   emergent nuclear regulations or inves tments 
 
         23   necessitated, those are examples of t he things we 
 
         24   discussed that all of the concerns ab out those that I 
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          1   heard expressed by the parties throug hout the case no 
 
          2   longer exist. 
 
          3          Q.   And when you were saying that the 
 
          4   benefits increased, you are comparing  it to rider 
 
          5   RRS. 
 
          6          A.   Yes. 
 
          7          Q.   Now, on page 11 on lines 20 through 21, 
 
          8   you state that "There are no contract s or any other 
 
          9   form of an agreement between the Comp anies and FES 
 
         10   that would require the Companies to s hare the 
 
         11   revenues or expenses," and I want to focus on the 
 
         12   word "require."  Are there contracts or agreements 
 
         13   that would allow the sharing of reven ues and expenses 
 
         14   between the companies and FES? 
 
         15          A.   No. 
 
         16          Q.   And are there contracts o r agreements 
 
         17   that would allow the sharing of reven ues and expenses 
 
         18   between the companies and FirstEnergy  Corp.? 
 
         19          A.   No. 
 
         20          Q.   And are there any contrac ts or agreements 
 
         21   that would allow the sharing of reven ues and expenses 
 
         22   between the companies and any other o f the electric 
 
         23   utility operating companies that are under the 
 
         24   FirstEnergy Corp.? 
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          1               THE WITNESS:  May I have that question 
 
          2   reread, please. 
 
          3               (Record read.) 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          5          A.   No. 
 
          6          Q.   Now, you also state on pa ge 11, lines 22 
 
          7   through 23, that the "proposal was no t designed to 
 
          8   transfer regulated revenues to the co mpetitive 
 
          9   operations." 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  I'm sorry.  W here are you? 
 
         11               MS. WILLIS:  That would b e lines 22 and 
 
         12   23. 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question 
 
         14   again, please. 
 
         15          Q.   Yes.  I can restate it.  You testify on 
 
         16   page 11, lines 22 through 23, that th e "proposal was 
 
         17   not designed to transfer regulated re venues to the 
 
         18   competitive operations."  Do you see that? 
 
         19          A.   Yes. 
 
         20          Q.   Is it your understanding that the 
 
         21   proposal will allow the companies to transfer 
 
         22   regulated revenues to the competitive  operations? 
 
         23          A.   No. 
 
         24          Q.   Now, you testify on page 12 that there is 
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          1   a benefit to having the revenue colle cted at the 
 
          2   companies, and I am looking at the qu estion posed at 
 
          3   the top of the page on lines 1 and 2.   And you 
 
          4   indicate there in your response that there's some 
 
          5   potential uses for the -- for the cas h projected 
 
          6   under the first few years of rider RR S.  Can you tell 
 
          7   me what factors the utilities will lo ok at for -- to 
 
          8   determine how to use the cash collect ed in the first 
 
          9   years -- first few years of rider RRS ? 
 
         10          A.   No. 
 
         11          Q.   Who will make the decisio n as to how the 
 
         12   cash collected in the first few years  of rider RRS 
 
         13   will be spent? 
 
         14          A.   The management of the com panies. 
 
         15          Q.   And when you say "managem ent of the 
 
         16   companies," can you identify who that  would be? 
 
         17          A.   Not specifically, no. 
 
         18          Q.   You -- or you indicate th ere on page 12, 
 
         19   lines 9 through 10, that "the compani es have a strong 
 
         20   interest in the vitality of their ser vice 
 
         21   territories."  Do you see that? 
 
         22          A.   Yes. 
 
         23          Q.   And is it your testimony that the 
 
         24   proposal contributes to the vitality of the service 
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          1   territories? 
 
          2          A.   Yes. 
 
          3          Q.   And is it your testimony that that 
 
          4   contribution comes in the form of ret ained or growing 
 
          5   load in particular by industrial cust omers? 
 
          6          A.   I mean, I think my testim ony is that 
 
          7   retail rate stability is important to  our customers, 
 
          8   and it influences decision making wit h respect to 
 
          9   maintaining or growing operations in our service 
 
         10   territory and separate -- as a separa te matter siting 
 
         11   of new operations in our service terr itory. 
 
         12          Q.   And when you speak to the  vitality of 
 
         13   your service territory, can you tell me are you 
 
         14   defining that in terms of industrial load and 
 
         15   industrial growth in load? 
 
         16          A.   This is not intended to b e that narrow, 
 
         17   no. 
 
         18          Q.   So can you explain to me then what you 
 
         19   mean by vitality in your service terr itory and how 
 
         20   the modified rider -- and how your pr oposal 
 
         21   contributes to the vitality of the se rvice area? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         23   answered. 
 
         24          A.   Correct.  It's the provis ion of that 
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          1   retail rate stability service which, again, allows -- 
 
          2   it's important to customers.  It allo ws them to 
 
          3   maintain or grow their operations or potentially site 
 
          4   new operations.  So to the extent tha t there are -- 
 
          5   there is that type of economic growth , it has effects 
 
          6   from residential customers in terms o f jobs and 
 
          7   employment.  It has effects for our c ommercial class 
 
          8   of customers with respect to, you kno w, secondary 
 
          9   benefits of growth in the service ter ritory, all of 
 
         10   which contribute to the vitality of o ur service 
 
         11   territory. 
 
         12          Q.   And when you make the cla im that the 
 
         13   rider -- that the proposal contribute s to the 
 
         14   vitality of the service area, are you  relying on -- 
 
         15   in any way on the economic developmen t study 
 
         16   presented by Ms. Murley as part of th e proceedings in 
 
         17   this case? 
 
         18          A.   To the extent that the ec onomic 
 
         19   development that we've been discussin g creates a 
 
         20   robust load requirement in our servic e territory, as 
 
         21   I said earlier, that helps to ensure the continued 
 
         22   operation of generating plants in the  region, and if 
 
         23   those generating plants in the region  continue to 
 
         24   operate, then we would continue to se e the economic 
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          1   benefits that were outlined by Ms. Mu rley in her 
 
          2   testimony. 
 
          3          Q.   Now, on page 13, you test ified that -- 
 
          4   and it's the very top of the page, li nes 1 through 3, 
 
          5   that rider RRS is necessary to ensure  that the 
 
          6   economic value of the PUCO-approved s tipulation is 
 
          7   maintained for the companies and its customers.  Do 
 
          8   you see that? 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   Can you tell me how the p roposal ensures 
 
         11   that the economic value is maintained  for the 
 
         12   companies? 
 
         13          A.   That refers to the contin uation of things 
 
         14   like rider DCR or the investments mad e and recovered 
 
         15   through rider AMI, things of that nat ure, that were 
 
         16   included in ESP IV. 
 
         17          Q.   Is there anything else th at -- that you 
 
         18   would identify that ensures the econo mic value is 
 
         19   maintained for the company? 
 
         20          A.   May I ask you to restate the question, 
 
         21   please? 
 
         22          Q.   What is it that you are h aving a problem 
 
         23   with? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read. 
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          1   Start there. 
 
          2               (Record read.) 
 
          3          A.   This testimony is that ri der RRS is 
 
          4   necessary to ensure the economic valu e. 
 
          5          Q.   And I -- my question is t he modifications 
 
          6   you've made -- or you have a proposal  and how does 
 
          7   the proposal ensure that the economic  value is 
 
          8   maintained for the companies? 
 
          9          A.   The ESP in total continue s to operate as 
 
         10   contemplated and as approved by the C ommission over 
 
         11   the term of the ESP. 
 
         12          Q.   Now, on page 15, lines 1 and 2, you 
 
         13   testify that the proposal -- or the r ider RRS is no 
 
         14   longer tied to plants but is represen tative of 
 
         15   generic fuel diverse baseload units.  Do you see 
 
         16   that? 
 
         17          A.   Actually starting on page  14 continues to 
 
         18   15? 
 
         19          Q.   Yes. 
 
         20          A.   Yes, I do. 
 
         21          Q.   Can you tell me how the p roposal is 
 
         22   representative of generic fuel divers e baseload 
 
         23   units? 
 
         24          A.   Yes.  As we discussed, wh en the EDU team 
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          1   was reviewing the projected costs pro vided by 
 
          2   FirstEnergy Solutions, they compared those costs to 
 
          3   other fuel diverse, so nuclear plants  and fossil 
 
          4   plants in the region, and concluded t hat those costs 
 
          5   were representative or consistent wit h costs incurred 
 
          6   at other fuel diverse baseload genera ting units and 
 
          7   that is why we concluded that they ar e representative 
 
          8   not only for FES plant costs but in t erms of a more 
 
          9   generic look at fuel diverse baseload  generation. 
 
         10          Q.   Now, on page 15 you discu ss in the middle 
 
         11   of the page that in the event that Ri der RRS remains 
 
         12   in effect, less than 3,200 megawatts of formerly 
 
         13   rate-based nuclear or fossil fuel gen eration owned by 
 
         14   the company remains in operation, tha t the Commission 
 
         15   may proceed to reduce the charge or c redit of rider 
 
         16   RRS by a proportionate amount.  Do yo u see that 
 
         17   reference? 
 
         18          A.   I would just clarify that  the reference 
 
         19   is talking to rate-based nuclear and fossil 
 
         20   generation owned by the companies in January of 2000. 
 
         21   You omitted that clause. 
 
         22          Q.   Yes. 
 
         23          A.   If you include that claus e, then, yes, I 
 
         24   see the portion you are referencing. 
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          1          Q.   And the PUCO has the abil ity to modify 
 
          2   rider RRS during the entire eight-yea r term, is that 
 
          3   right, under your proposal? 
 
          4          A.   The Commission has -- und er the proposal 
 
          5   the Commission can initiate a proceed ing pursuant to 
 
          6   Revised Code 4905.26 in the event tha t there is less 
 
          7   than 3,200 megawatts of formerly rate -based nuclear 
 
          8   and fossil generation in operation ov er the term of 
 
          9   the ESP IV. 
 
         10          Q.   Now, earlier today you've  talked with 
 
         11   counsel about what in operation means .  If you reduce 
 
         12   the output of, for instance, a unit b y 80 percent, 
 
         13   would you still consider that in oper ation? 
 
         14          A.   Yes. 
 
         15          Q.   Okay.  And the only insta nces when it 
 
         16   would not be in operation is when it would be 
 
         17   mothballed or retired? 
 
         18          A.   Yes. 
 
         19          Q.   And what if the unit was put on spinning 
 
         20   reserve?  Would that be in operation?  
 
         21          A.   Yes. 
 
         22          Q.   And if the unit was on co ld storage, 
 
         23   would that be considered in operation ? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
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          1          A.   I don't know what cold st orage means in 
 
          2   this context. 
 
          3          Q.   Now, on page 15, lines 17  through 18, 
 
          4   excuse me, you indicate that signific ant economic 
 
          5   development and job benefits and tran smission 
 
          6   reliability benefits contemplated und er the original 
 
          7   proposal for the region would continu e to exist, 
 
          8   albeit for potentially different plan ts.  Do you see 
 
          9   that? 
 
         10          A.   I do. 
 
         11          Q.   And are the potentially d ifferent plants 
 
         12   those identified in Sierra Club Exhib it No. 4? 
 
         13          A.   Yes. 
 
         14          Q.   Okay.  And when you refer red to a 
 
         15   commitment on line 18, can you tell m e what you mean 
 
         16   there? 
 
         17          A.   The commitment on line 18  refers to the 
 
         18   portion of the proposal that says to the extent that 
 
         19   the operating -- the plants in operat ion dip below 
 
         20   3,200 megawatts, then the Commission can adjust the 
 
         21   charge after. 
 
         22          Q.   So the commitment is to t he continued 
 
         23   operation of 3,200 megawatts of fuel diverse baseload 
 
         24   generation? 
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          1          A.   No. 
 
          2          Q.   Can you explain to me why  that's not 
 
          3   correct? 
 
          4          A.   The commitment is that --  the commitment 
 
          5   this refers to is the commitment in t he proposal that 
 
          6   the Commission may reduce the charge or credit of 
 
          7   rider RRS by a proportionate amount s hould less than 
 
          8   3,200 megawatts of formerly rate-base d nuclear or 
 
          9   fossil fuel generation be in operatio n. 
 
         10          Q.   Now, at the bottom of pag e 15 you 
 
         11   testify, and I am looking at lines 21  through 23, 
 
         12   that "As a result of retirements of 2 ,400 megawatts 
 
         13   of coal-fired power plants in Ohio, c osts of 
 
         14   approximately $1 billion were estimat ed for 
 
         15   transmission upgrades amounting to es sentially an 
 
         16   extension cord to the Bruce Mansfield  station."  Do 
 
         17   you see that? 
 
         18          A.   I do. 
 
         19          Q.   Are you referring to the testimony of 
 
         20   Mr. Phillips on that issue? 
 
         21          A.   Yes. 
 
         22          Q.   Now, on page 16, lines 6 through 7, you 
 
         23   say the point being that substituting  previously 
 
         24   rate-based units for Sammis and Davis -Besse would 
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          1   have the benefit of the same nature a s previously 
 
          2   noted in the record.  Can you tell me  what -- first 
 
          3   of all, can you tell me what previous ly rate-based 
 
          4   units you are referring to there? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          6   answered. 
 
          7          A.   That would be the units l isted in Sierra 
 
          8   Club 4. 
 
          9          Q.   Okay.  And can you tell m e how they are 
 
         10   substituted for Sammis and Davis-Bess e under your 
 
         11   proposal? 
 
         12          A.   I think what I'm saying h ere is not 
 
         13   necessarily that the plants are being  substituted or 
 
         14   aren't being substituted.  What I'm s aying is that to 
 
         15   the extent that in that list of plant s there remains 
 
         16   fuel diverse baseload generation equa l to or greater 
 
         17   than 3,200 megawatts, then the benefi ts associated 
 
         18   with the continued operation of 3,200  megawatts of 
 
         19   fuel diverse baseload generation cont inued to exist, 
 
         20   whether that's the avoidance of relia bility 
 
         21   investments from a transmission persp ective or the 
 
         22   economic development, job retention b enefits 
 
         23   associated with the continued operati on of the 
 
         24   plants, the tax dollars, all of those  things. 
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          1          Q.   Why did you use the term "substituted"? 
 
          2          A.   I use the term substitute d because under 
 
          3   our proposal we're not -- the proposa l is no longer 
 
          4   tied specifically to Sammis and Davis -Besse as the 
 
          5   original rider RRS was.  This portion  of the proposal 
 
          6   says generically that 3,200 megawatts  of fuel diverse 
 
          7   baseload generation -- as long as 3,2 00 megawatts of 
 
          8   fuel diverse baseload generation cont inues to 
 
          9   operate, the -- our rider RRS remains  intact as 
 
         10   proposed, intact as proposed. 
 
         11               To the extent that it doe sn't, then the 
 
         12   Commission has the opportunity as a c onsequence of 
 
         13   that to adjust the rider, so I use th e term 
 
         14   substitute to reflect I don't know wh ich plants or, 
 
         15   in fact, if all of the plants will co ntinue to 
 
         16   operate or if they don't, which will be left of the 
 
         17   3,200 or below the 3,200, so just tre ating the fuel 
 
         18   diverse generation so long as there i s 900 megawatts 
 
         19   of nuclear as fungible. 
 
         20          Q.   Would you agree with me t hat the proposal 
 
         21   is tied to -- instead of Sammis and D avis-Besse it's 
 
         22   tied to 9,200 megawatts of fuel diver se units? 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         24          A.   No. 
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          1          Q.   Is it tied to any units? 
 
          2          A.   No. 
 
          3          Q.   Would you agree with me t hat the proposal 
 
          4   is tied to the continued operation of  at least 3,200 
 
          5   megawatts? 
 
          6          A.   No. 
 
          7          Q.   Under what conditions cou ld the company 
 
          8   terminate the proposal? 
 
          9          A.   If the proposal is approv ed by the 
 
         10   Commission and the company accepts th e ESP in total, 
 
         11   there would be no provision where the  company could 
 
         12   terminate this during the term of the  ESP. 
 
         13          Q.   If the ESP is terminated -- let me strike 
 
         14   that. 
 
         15               Is there anything in the proposal that 
 
         16   precludes the utilities from seeking recovery of 
 
         17   customers of additional revenue to co mpensate for 
 
         18   credits given to customers under the proposal? 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         20   answered. 
 
         21          A.   That is not the intention  of the 
 
         22   companies under the proposal. 
 
         23          Q.   I understand it's not the  intention but 
 
         24   is there anything in the proposal tha t precludes, 
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          1   emphasizing precludes, the company fr om seeking to 
 
          2   collect from customers the additional  revenues given 
 
          3   through the proposal as credits? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Same objectio n. 
 
          5          A.   No.  Well, I guess I shou ld clarify that 
 
          6   in my mind, I guess as part of ESP IV , the companies 
 
          7   have committed to a base distribution  rate freeze, 
 
          8   and so in so much as we've said we ar e going to 
 
          9   freeze our base distribution rates ov er the term of 
 
         10   the ESP, that commitment remains inta ct along with 
 
         11   this proposal if it's approved.  So d oes that help in 
 
         12   that context? 
 
         13          Q.   Thank you, Ms. Mikkelsen.   Now, earlier 
 
         14   on you discussed the review of the pr oposal by the 
 
         15   energy -- energy delivery management and your 
 
         16   treasury department.  And you indicat ed that the 
 
         17   energy delivery management and the tr easury 
 
         18   department were comfortable moving fo rward with the 
 
         19   proposal.  Can you tell me who the pr esident of the 
 
         20   utilities group would be that is part  of the energy 
 
         21   delivery management? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         23   answered. 
 
         24          A.   That reference was to Ste ve Strah. 
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          1          Q.   Strah. 
 
          2          A.   Strah. 
 
          3          Q.   And the treasurer is Stev e Staub; is that 
 
          4   correct? 
 
          5          A.   Yes. 
 
          6          Q.   Thank you.  Now, you indi cated that you 
 
          7   discussed the proposal with employees  as well as 
 
          8   non-employees, and specifically you s aid you had 
 
          9   discussions with the communication gr oup.  Do you 
 
         10   recall that testimony? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         12          A.   That would have been -- w ell, yes. 
 
         13          Q.   Can you identify who the communication 
 
         14   group would have been? 
 
         15          A.   Well, I don't remember. 
 
         16          Q.   What does the communicati on group refer 
 
         17   to? 
 
         18          A.   The organization area wit hin the company 
 
         19   responsible for communications. 
 
         20          Q.   The communications to out side entities or 
 
         21   communications internally? 
 
         22          A.   Both. 
 
         23          Q.   Now, when you discussed t he proposal 
 
         24   internally with employees, were there  any documents 
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          1   created with respect to your discussi ons of the 
 
          2   proposal? 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          4   answered. 
 
          5          A.   Any documents that would have been 
 
          6   created would have been created prior  to the 
 
          7   proposal -- prior to filing the propo sal would have 
 
          8   been created at the direction of coun sel. 
 
          9          Q.   You indicated that before  the filing of 
 
         10   your testimony that you had communica tions with 
 
         11   different employees within the compan y and different 
 
         12   divisions, and you indicated that you  had 
 
         13   communications with the risk group.  Do you recall 
 
         14   that? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Objection to the extent it 
 
         16   mischaracterizes her testimony. 
 
         17          A.   I did speak to a represen tative of the 
 
         18   risk group prior to the filing of the  proposal, yes. 
 
         19          Q.   And can you tell me what the risk group 
 
         20   is? 
 
         21          A.   It is the organizational entity 
 
         22   responsible for cataloging risks and risk mitigation 
 
         23   in the company. 
 
         24          Q.   When you say cataloging r isks and risk 
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          1   mitigation, what do you mean by catal oging? 
 
          2          A.   Capturing, capturing, ide ntifying. 
 
          3          Q.   Assessing? 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5          Q.   And they assess risks to whom? 
 
          6          A.   The entire corporate enti ty. 
 
          7          Q.   And do you remember who i n the risk group 
 
          8   you would have communicated with with  respect to the 
 
          9   proposal? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         11   answered.  She told you this already.  
 
         12          A.   John Judge. 
 
         13          Q.   Thank you.  And when you indicated that 
 
         14   you had communications with the strat egy group, can 
 
         15   you identify what the strategy group consists of? 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         17          A.   Not with any specificity,  no. 
 
         18          Q.   Do you know what the purp ose of the 
 
         19   strategy group is? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         21          A.   To articulate the mission  and vision of 
 
         22   the organization and ensure that ther e's strategic 
 
         23   alignment with the mission and vision . 
 
         24          Q.   Would the strategy group be a group that 
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          1   is outside the utilities group? 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          3          A.   Organizationally it works  out of 
 
          4   FirstEnergy Service Corp. 
 
          5          Q.   Did you, Ms. Mikkelsen, e valuate whether 
 
          6   the ESP IV with the proposal would im pact the 
 
          7   utilities' ability to pay dividends t o FirstEnergy 
 
          8   Corp.? 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         10          A.   No. 
 
         11          Q.   Did -- are you aware of a ny evaluation 
 
         12   that was done by an entity within the  FirstEnergy 
 
         13   Corp. structure that evaluated whethe r the ESP IV 
 
         14   with the proposal would impact the ab ility of 
 
         15   FirstEnergy utilities to pay dividend s to FirstEnergy 
 
         16   Corp.? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         18          A.   No. 
 
         19          Q.   Did you -- are you aware of whether an 
 
         20   evaluation was done on behalf of the FirstEnergy 
 
         21   utilities or an entity within the Fir stEnergy Corp. 
 
         22   structure that evaluated whether the ESP IV with the 
 
         23   proposal would impact the FirstEnergy  utilities' 
 
         24   ability to pay dividends to FirstEner gy Corp.? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          2          A.   I'm not aware of such a s tudy; and, 
 
          3   again, the intent of the companies' p roposal is that 
 
          4   the cash received the early years of the proposal to 
 
          5   the extent there is cash received wou ld be used by 
 
          6   the operating companies. 
 
          7          Q.   Are you aware, Ms. Mikkel sen, of whether 
 
          8   FirstEnergy utilities evaluated wheth er the ESP IV 
 
          9   with the proposal would impact the cr edit rating of 
 
         10   FirstEnergy Corp.? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         12   answered. 
 
         13               THE WITNESS:  May I ask t hat you reread 
 
         14   the question, please. 
 
         15               (Record read.) 
 
         16          A.   No. 
 
         17          Q.   You are not aware of any evaluation being 
 
         18   done. 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         20   answered. 
 
         21          A.   Correct. 
 
         22          Q.   Are you aware of whether there's been an 
 
         23   evaluation done by a third party or b y another entity 
 
         24   within the FirstEnergy corporate that  looked at 
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          1   the -- whether ESP IV with the propos al would impact 
 
          2   the credit rating of FirstEnergy Corp .? 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          4   answered. 
 
          5               THE WITNESS:  May I have the question 
 
          6   reread, please. 
 
          7               (Record read.) 
 
          8          A.   I'm not aware of any, whe ther or not any 
 
          9   third party entity looked at it.  Whe n I think about 
 
         10   the credit ratings of the company, th ose are based on 
 
         11   actual results, so I don't know that anybody could 
 
         12   look and make a determination about t he credit rating 
 
         13   until the actual results would be ava ilable. 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Okay.  Let's take a break. 
 
         15               (Recess taken.) 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Let's go back  on the record. 
 
         17               MS. WILLIS:  Thank you. 
 
         18          Q.   (By Ms. Willis) Ms. Mikke lsen, do you 
 
         19   recall earlier testifying as to an Ex cel spreadsheet 
 
         20   that was created by the rates departm ent? 
 
         21          A.   Yes. 
 
         22          Q.   Can you tell me at whose direction the 
 
         23   spreadsheet was created? 
 
         24          A.   Mine. 
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          1          Q.   And why did you create --  have a 
 
          2   spreadsheet created? 
 
          3          A.   To provide a directional sense on the 
 
          4   impact of the ESP IV in totality. 
 
          5          Q.   And what did you do with the directional 
 
          6   sense that was provided in the spread sheet, if 
 
          7   anything? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection.  A nd I'll also 
 
          9   instruct you with respect to not to d ivulge anything 
 
         10   that would be privileged as for attor ney-client 
 
         11   product -- attorney-client communicat ion or work 
 
         12   product. 
 
         13          A.   I reviewed it. 
 
         14          Q.   And did you do anything w ith that Excel 
 
         15   spreadsheet? 
 
         16          A.   No. 
 
         17          Q.   And was there -- you indi cated that it 
 
         18   was prepared at your direction.  Let me strike that. 
 
         19               When was that spreadsheet  created, if you 
 
         20   know? 
 
         21          A.   After the proposal was fi led. 
 
         22          Q.   Do you know if that sprea dsheet has been 
 
         23   provided to any parties in the case? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Well, I will object and 
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          1   instruct you to exclude any -- any co nversations that 
 
          2   were undertaken as part of further se ttlement or 
 
          3   joint privileged discussions. 
 
          4          A.   Subject to that caveat, n o. 
 
          5          Q.   Well, I am only asking if  it was 
 
          6   provided.  I am not asking for the co ntent. 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Well, by aski ng if it's 
 
          8   provided, you are necessarily asking for the content. 
 
          9               MS. WILLIS:  I think ther e's a 
 
         10   difference. 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Well, we will  agree to 
 
         12   disagree but go ahead. 
 
         13          Q.   (By Ms. Willis) Can you a nswer my 
 
         14   question whether it was provided to o ther parties? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  I think she j ust did subject 
 
         16   to my objection. 
 
         17          A.   No. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  Do you know if tha t spreadsheet 
 
         19   has been shared with anyone outside t he company? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Same. 
 
         21          Q.   Outside the FirstEnergy u tilities? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Same objectio n and 
 
         23   instruction. 
 
         24          A.   Just counsel. 
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          1          Q.   Has that spreadsheet been  provided to 
 
          2   anyone within FirstEnergy Corp.? 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Same objectio n as before. 
 
          4          A.   No. 
 
          5          Q.   And has that spreadsheet been provided to 
 
          6   any outside third parties including i nvestment 
 
          7   analysts or credit rating agencies? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Again, exclud ing settlement 
 
          9   or joint privileged discussions. 
 
         10          A.   No. 
 
         11          Q.   And -- strike that. 
 
         12               Now, earlier this morning  you spoke with 
 
         13   Mr. Fisk about factors that affect th e companies' 
 
         14   ability to pay dividends to FirstEner gy Corp.  Do you 
 
         15   recall that discussion? 
 
         16          A.   I recall a discussion abo ut factors that 
 
         17   would be considered as part of decisi ons to make a 
 
         18   dividend. 
 
         19          Q.   And you mentioned capital  structure, 
 
         20   correct? 
 
         21          A.   Yes. 
 
         22          Q.   Can you tell me how the E SP propos -- the 
 
         23   ESP IV with the proposal affects the capital 
 
         24   structure factor taken into account r egarding the 
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          1   ability to make dividend payments to FirstEnergy 
 
          2   Corp.? 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          4   answered. 
 
          5          A.   It could impact it in a n umber of ways. 
 
          6          Q.   And can you tell me the w ays? 
 
          7          A.   Well, for example, if cas h is used to 
 
          8   reduce debt, that would impact the ca pital structure 
 
          9   of the company. 
 
         10          Q.   Is there anything else th at you could 
 
         11   provide or identify as to how the ESP  with the 
 
         12   proposal affects the capital structur e factor? 
 
         13          A.   To the extent that there is net income 
 
         14   greater than it would be absent ESP I V, that income 
 
         15   would affect the cap structure of the  company. 
 
         16          Q.   And you mentioned another  factor being 
 
         17   the current liquidity.  Can you tell me how the ESP 
 
         18   IV with the proposal affects that fac tor? 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Note my objec tion to lack of 
 
         20   relevance in these questions. 
 
         21          A.   Yeah, I don't know.  I ha ven't done that 
 
         22   study. 
 
         23          Q.   Okay.  And can you tell m e -- you 
 
         24   mentioned -- let me strike that. 
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          1               You mentioned another fac tor being the 
 
          2   projected liquidity.  Can you tell me  how the ESP 
 
          3   with the proposal affects that factor ? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Same. 
 
          5          A.   The point of the mentioni ng projected 
 
          6   liquidity is that to the extent you h ave liquidity 
 
          7   concerns, that would have a bearing o n your decision 
 
          8   making with respect to whether or not  you would have 
 
          9   a dividend to the parent. 
 
         10          Q.   Are you aware of any anal ysis conducted 
 
         11   by FirstEnergy utilities that looks a t the ESP with 
 
         12   the proposal and determines the abili ty -- let me 
 
         13   strike that. 
 
         14               You discussed earlier thi s morning the 
 
         15   cash management associated with rider  RRS.  Do you 
 
         16   recall that discussion? 
 
         17          A.   I recall a discussion abo ut cash 
 
         18   management this morning. 
 
         19          Q.   Would you agree with me t hat under the 
 
         20   proposal there would be no segregatio n of cash 
 
         21   associated with rider RRS revenues? 
 
         22          A.   Yes. 
 
         23          Q.   Are you familiar with the  dividends that 
 
         24   have been paid in the past by FirstEn ergy utilities 
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          1   to FirstEnergy Corp.? 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
          3   please. 
 
          4               (Record read.) 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection and  specifically to 
 
          6   the relevance of this. 
 
          7          A.   Yes.  May I ask you to re phrase the 
 
          8   question? 
 
          9          Q.   Do you know if there have  been any 
 
         10   dividends paid by the FirstEnergy uti lities to 
 
         11   FirstEnergy Corporation in the last, let's say, three 
 
         12   years? 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Same objectio n. 
 
         14          A.   Yes. 
 
         15          Q.   You do know. 
 
         16          A.   Yes. 
 
         17          Q.   And do you know the amoun t of dividends 
 
         18   that were paid by the FirstEnergy uti lities to 
 
         19   FirstEnergy Corp.? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Same objectio n. 
 
         21          A.   I don't remember. 
 
         22          Q.   Do you know if in, for in stance, 2015 
 
         23   there were dividends paid by FirstEne rgy utilities to 
 
         24   FirstEnergy Corp.? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Same objectio n. 
 
          2          A.   May I ask you to restate the question? 
 
          3          Q.   What is it that you don't  understand 
 
          4   about my question? 
 
          5          A.   "FirstEnergy utilities." 
 
          6          Q.   The companies, I'm speaki ng of Toledo 
 
          7   Edison Company, Cleveland Electric Il luminating 
 
          8   Company, and Ohio Edison Company as t he FirstEnergy 
 
          9   utilities. 
 
         10          A.   May I ask you to restate the question in 
 
         11   that context for me, please? 
 
         12          Q.   Sure.  Do you know if in 2015 the 
 
         13   FirstEnergy utilities paid dividends to FirstEnergy 
 
         14   Corp.? 
 
         15          A.   I don't remember. 
 
         16          Q.   Ms. Mikkelsen, what alter natives are 
 
         17   there to providing -- what alternativ es are there to 
 
         18   the proposal that you have put forth your -- in your 
 
         19   testimony? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         21          A.   I am not aware of any alt ernatives. 
 
         22          Q.   Did you look at alternati ves to your 
 
         23   proposal? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, an d I'll instruct 
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          1   you to exclude from your answer any d iscussions that 
 
          2   you had with counsel for the purpose of receiving or 
 
          3   giving legal advice or any discussion s that you had 
 
          4   at the direction of counsel in prepar ation for 
 
          5   litigation. 
 
          6          A.   Any discussions with resp ect to the 
 
          7   proposal were done under the directio n of counsel. 
 
          8          Q.   Okay.  Did you consider u sing a 
 
          9   competitive bid for the hedge instead  of the 
 
         10   proposal? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection wit h respect to its 
 
         12   vagueness but also I would instruct y ou the same way, 
 
         13   to exclude from your answer any conve rsation you had 
 
         14   with counsel for the purpose of givin g or receiving 
 
         15   legal advice during discussions you h ad with -- at 
 
         16   the direction of counsel in anticipat ion of 
 
         17   litigation. 
 
         18          A.   Any discussions with resp ect to the 
 
         19   proposal would have been conducted un der the 
 
         20   direction of counsel. 
 
         21               MS. WILLIS:  If I may hav e about 2 
 
         22   minutes, I will run through my notes really quick. 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Certainly.  L et's go off the 
 
         24   record. 
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          1               (Discussion off the recor d.) 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Let's go back  on the record. 
 
          3               MS. WILLIS:  Thank you. 
 
          4          Q.   (By Ms. Willis) Ms. Mikke lsen, we 
 
          5   discussed the spreadsheet where you l ooked at the -- 
 
          6   we discussed -- let me strike that. 
 
          7               You indicated, Ms. Mikkel sen, that the -- 
 
          8   you directed a spreadsheet be created  to provide you 
 
          9   a directional sense of the impact of the ESP IV in 
 
         10   its totality.  Do you recall that tes timony? 
 
         11          A.   Yes. 
 
         12          Q.   Did you provide such a sp readsheet -- or 
 
         13   did you direct that a spreadsheet be created for 
 
         14   purposes of the -- the ESP IV with ri der RRS? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         16          A.   No. 
 
         17          Q.   When the spreadsheet was created, did you 
 
         18   compare that spreadsheet, the spreads heet giving you 
 
         19   the directional sense of the impact o f ESP IV in its 
 
         20   totality, did you compare that to any thing related to 
 
         21   the ESP IV with rider RRS? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Again, just t o be clear we're 
 
         23   talking about as approved. 
 
         24               MS. WILLIS:  Yes.  I thin k when we use 
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          1   the term rider RRS, we were -- it was  synonymous. 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  I wanted to m ake sure we are 
 
          3   still using that convention.  Thank y ou. 
 
          4          A.   No. 
 
          5          Q.   Can you tell me to whom t he spreadsheet 
 
          6   was distributed in the company? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Well, I'll in struct you to 
 
          8   exclude from your answer any conversa tions that you 
 
          9   had with counsel that are privileged or any 
 
         10   discussions that are work product mea ning they are at 
 
         11   the direction of counsel in anticipat ion of 
 
         12   litigation. 
 
         13          A.   As I said earlier, the sp readsheet wasn't 
 
         14   distributed to anybody in the company  other than 
 
         15   counsel. 
 
         16          Q.   Is it your testimony that  the spreadsheet 
 
         17   was created at the direction of couns el? 
 
         18          A.   No. 
 
         19          Q.   It was not.  But it was s hared with 
 
         20   counsel after it was created, correct ? 
 
         21          A.   Yes. 
 
         22          Q.   Was the spreadsheet share d with anyone at 
 
         23   the PUCO including the Attorney Gener als or PUCO 
 
         24   staff members? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  I'll instruct  you not to 
 
          2   answer any question -- that part -- t he question to 
 
          3   the extent it would call for you to r eveal settlement 
 
          4   or joint privileged discussions.  If you can answer 
 
          5   the question without revealing those things, go ahead 
 
          6   and answer the question. 
 
          7          A.   No. 
 
          8          Q.   No meaning you can't answ er the question 
 
          9   or, no, it was not shared? 
 
         10          A.   No, it was not shared. 
 
         11               MS. WILLIS:  I think that 's all the 
 
         12   questions I have.  Thank you, Ms. Mik kelsen. 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Thank you. 
 
         14               Ms. Petrucci, are you sti ll on? 
 
         15               MS. PETRUCCI:  I am. 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Do you have q uestions for the 
 
         17   witness? 
 
         18               MS. PETRUCCI:  I do, yes.   Thank you. 
 
         19                           - - - 
 
         20                     CROSS-EXAMINATION 
 
         21   By Ms. Petrucci: 
 
         22          Q.   Good afternoon, Ms. Mikke lsen.  Am I 
 
         23   being loud enough, or do I need to be  louder? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  No, you are l oud enough. 
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          1               MS. PETRUCCI:  Okay.  Goo d. 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  In fact, you' re too loud. 
 
          3               MS. PETRUCCI:  Wow.  All right.  Is that 
 
          4   better? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Yes, thank yo u. 
 
          6          Q.   The proposal you discuss in your 
 
          7   testimony, Ms. Mikkelsen, part of the  electric 
 
          8   distribution companies' ESP IV? 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   Is it part of the ESP IV that's in effect 
 
         11   today? 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         13          A.   Yes. 
 
         14          Q.   What part of the proposal  is part of the 
 
         15   ESP IV that's in effect today? 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         17          A.   Rider RRS. 
 
         18          Q.   The proposal that you are  presenting in 
 
         19   your testimony is -- is to modify the  rider RRS, 
 
         20   correct? 
 
         21          A.   No. 
 
         22          Q.   If the proposal that you put forth in 
 
         23   your testimony is approved by the Com mission, will 
 
         24   the ESP IV change from what -- from w hat is in effect 
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          1   today? 
 
          2          A.   May I ask you to restate the question?  I 
 
          3   don't understand the question. 
 
          4          Q.   Did you not hear it, or d id you not 
 
          5   understand it?  There was a beep whil e you were 
 
          6   talking and I am not sure what she sa id. 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  I think she s aid she didn't 
 
          8   understand it. 
 
          9          Q.   Is the proposal that you' ve presented in 
 
         10   your testimony going to change the ES P IV that's in 
 
         11   effect today? 
 
         12          A.   I think the proposal we h ave before the 
 
         13   Commission as part of ESP IV will ena ble the 
 
         14   companies with Commission approval to  populate the 
 
         15   Commission-approved rider RRS. 
 
         16          Q.   Is the proposal that you put forth in 
 
         17   your testimony going to change the st ipulation that 
 
         18   the Commission approved in this proce eding? 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         20          A.   That's discussed at page 8 and 9 of my 
 
         21   rehearing testimony where we say the customers will 
 
         22   continue to receive all the benefits of the 
 
         23   stipulated ESP IV as modified by the Commission order 
 
         24   but we do identify that there may be certain 
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          1   provisions in this stipulation that m ay no longer be 
 
          2   needed or that may be implemented dif ferently but 
 
          3   that the stipulations are not changin g, no. 
 
          4          Q.   There are portions of the  Commission's 
 
          5   decision, however, that are going to change if your 
 
          6   proposal is approved by the Commissio n, correct? 
 
          7          A.   I identify on page 13 and  14 continuing 
 
          8   onto 15 in my testimony provisions of  the Commission 
 
          9   order that are no longer applicable. 
 
         10          Q.   And do those items that y ou've listed 
 
         11   change the ESP IV that's in effect to day? 
 
         12          A.   No. 
 
         13          Q.   The removal of them are n ot going to 
 
         14   affect the ESP IV. 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         16   answered. 
 
         17          Q.   I want to make sure I und erstand, please. 
 
         18          A.   No.  Under the proposal t he customers 
 
         19   will continue to receive all the bene fits of the 
 
         20   stipulated ESP IV approved by the Com mission. 
 
         21          Q.   But my question was speci fically with 
 
         22   regard to the full terms of the ESP I V approved by 
 
         23   the Commission.  If your proposal is approved, is -- 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
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          1          Q.   -- the ESP IV in effect t oday going to 
 
          2   change? 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          4   answered. 
 
          5          A.   No. 
 
          6          Q.   Do you believe that the i tems you've 
 
          7   listed on pages 13 through 15 of your  testimony, do 
 
          8   you believe that those items are not provisions of 
 
          9   the ESP IV? 
 
         10          A.   As I say in my testimony,  they are 
 
         11   provisions of the Commission's order that are no 
 
         12   longer applicable, but the lack of ap plicability of 
 
         13   these provisions do not change the be nefits 
 
         14   associated with the ESP IV. 
 
         15          Q.   Okay.  And my question wa sn't about the 
 
         16   benefits of the ESP IV.  I'm asking a bout the terms 
 
         17   of the ESP IV.  If those items would longer be 
 
         18   applicable if your proposal is approv ed, the ESP IV 
 
         19   that's in effect today will change; i s that correct? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Well, you are  arguing with 
 
         21   the witness.  She has answered the qu estion now four 
 
         22   times. 
 
         23               I will instruct you not t o answer any 
 
         24   further.  Move on. 
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          1          Q.   Let's turn to page 13. 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Of the testim ony? 
 
          3          Q.   Yes, of the testimony and  let's look at 
 
          4   line -- I'm sorry.  Let's switch to p age 14, lines 4 
 
          5   through 9.  That -- that section has the third item 
 
          6   that you've indicated would no longer  be applicable 
 
          7   if the proposal is approved? 
 
          8          A.   Yes. 
 
          9          Q.   If it's no longer applica ble, are you 
 
         10   saying that it is not a change to the  ESP IV? 
 
         11          A.   I'm saying it's no longer  applicable but 
 
         12   that the benefits of the ESP IV remai n intact. 
 
         13          Q.   Is that third item applic able currently 
 
         14   even though you haven't populated the  rider? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         16          A.   I mean, the companies and  FES are 
 
         17   precluded from transacting under the PPA absent 
 
         18   additional FERC review, so this provi sion is in 
 
         19   effect, I guess, in the ESP, but it i sn't applicable 
 
         20   in the current ESP because there's no  transaction. 
 
         21          Q.   And would you say that's the same kind of 
 
         22   situation with the fourth item on pag e 14 which is 
 
         23   lines 10 through 13? 
 
         24          A.   Yes. 
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          1          Q.   Has the companies calcula ted what the 
 
          2   first rider rates will likely be unde r the new 
 
          3   proposal that you have put forth? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          5          A.   The -- no. 
 
          6          Q.   But the companies have in dicated that the 
 
          7   rider -- first, rider rates will be a  charge to all 
 
          8   customers, correct? 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   Why is the modified -- or  the proposal, 
 
         11   excuse me, needed by the electric dis tribution 
 
         12   companies? 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         14          A.   We didn't assert that the  proposal was 
 
         15   needed by the electric distribution u tilities. 
 
         16          Q.   You discussed on page 5 a nd 6 of your 
 
         17   testimony and I believe also with Ms.  Willis the 
 
         18   reference to the proposal being a mor e reliable 
 
         19   hedge.  That's specifically line 19 o n page 5.  Do 
 
         20   you recall that? 
 
         21          A.   Yes. 
 
         22          Q.   Are there reasons other t han those that 
 
         23   you've noted previously that make thi s proposal a 
 
         24   more reliable hedge for the customers ? 
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          1          A.   No.  I think in the cours e of our 
 
          2   discussion today we've covered the co mprehensive 
 
          3   list. 
 
          4          Q.   The money that's collecte d when the rider 
 
          5   goes into effect under this proposal will not recover 
 
          6   any actual costs that are incurred by  the electric 
 
          7   distribution companies, correct? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          9          A.   The monies collected from  the customers 
 
         10   would be in payment for the service o f the hedge 
 
         11   provided to the customers pursuant to  the proposal. 
 
         12          Q.   There are not any specifi c costs 
 
         13   associated with that hedge -- I'm sor ry.  Let me 
 
         14   strike and start that again. 
 
         15               There are no specific act ual costs 
 
         16   incurred by the electric distribution  companies to 
 
         17   provide that hedge that are going to be recovered by 
 
         18   the rate charged, correct? 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         20          A.   Well, as we discussed ear lier, there will 
 
         21   be costs incurred by the company to t he extent that 
 
         22   there are credits and then administra tive-type costs 
 
         23   that we also discussed. 
 
         24          Q.   Am I correct though that the 
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          1   administrative costs that you reflect ed earlier are 
 
          2   not going to be included in the rate that is 
 
          3   calculated when there are charges? 
 
          4          A.   That would be subject to Commission 
 
          5   determination whether those administr ative costs 
 
          6   would be recoverable. 
 
          7          Q.   Have you proposed as part  of this 
 
          8   proposal to include the administrativ e costs 
 
          9   associated with the proposal in the r ate when there 
 
         10   is a charge imposed upon the customer ? 
 
         11          A.   We have not included that  in the proposal 
 
         12   whether there is a charge or a credit . 
 
         13          Q.   Do the electric distribut ion companies 
 
         14   know what they are going to do with t he monies that 
 
         15   are collected from the customers unde r rider RRS? 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         17   answered. 
 
         18          A.   Again, as we discussed ea rlier, the cash 
 
         19   collected, you know, could be used to  fund capital 
 
         20   expenditures associated with the comp anies' grid 
 
         21   modernization, distribution automatio n, Volt/VAR 
 
         22   control, possibly investment and batt ery resources, 
 
         23   investment in Ohio renewable resource s. 
 
         24          Q.   Under the -- 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  I'm sorry, co unsel.  She 
 
          2   hasn't finished her answer I don't be lieve. 
 
          3          A.   The intent is that the ca sh will be used 
 
          4   in the operating companies. 
 
          5          Q.   Under the proposal will t he electric 
 
          6   distribution companies choose how to use the monies 
 
          7   that are collected under the rider RR S? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          9   answered. 
 
         10          A.   Yes. 
 
         11          Q.   Will any other entity wit hin the 
 
         12   FirstEnergy family have any input on how that 
 
         13   decision is made? 
 
         14          A.   FirstEnergy Service Corp.  employees 
 
         15   providing service to the companies ma y participate in 
 
         16   that process. 
 
         17          Q.   Will the money collected under rider RRS 
 
         18   be maintained in a separate account o r booked 
 
         19   separately from other monies collecte d from the -- by 
 
         20   the companies? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, co mpound. 
 
         22          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         23   please? 
 
         24          Q.   Will the electric distrib ution companies 
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          1   book the monies collected under rider  RRS -- RRS 
 
          2   separately from other monies collecte d from 
 
          3   customers? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          5          A.   The rider RRS revenue and  cash would not 
 
          6   be segregated from the utilities' rev enue and cash. 
 
          7          Q.   By that do you mean it's going to all 
 
          8   come in in one bucket and remain in o ne bucket? 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         10          A.   May I ask you to rephrase , please? 
 
         11          Q.   On your last answer does that mean that 
 
         12   the money collected under rider RRS w ill be treated 
 
         13   like any other funds received by the utility for -- 
 
         14   period -- question mark. 
 
         15          A.   As I said, the funds will  not be 
 
         16   segregated, and the cash of the compa nies will be 
 
         17   managed in its totality. 
 
         18          Q.   Will a separate accountin g number be 
 
         19   created for the funds received under rider RRS? 
 
         20          A.   I don't think so. 
 
         21          Q.   Under the proposal will t he electric 
 
         22   distribution companies be able to use  the monies 
 
         23   received under the rider to pay for t he commitments 
 
         24   they have agreed to in the stipulatio n that was 
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          1   approved by the PUCO? 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          3   answered. 
 
          4          A.   They could. 
 
          5          Q.   Can you tell me in what w ays the electric 
 
          6   distribution monies -- companies coul d transfer 
 
          7   monies to FirstEnergy Corp.? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          9          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         10   please? 
 
         11          Q.   What part did you not und erstand? 
 
         12          A.   "Transfer." 
 
         13          Q.   Move -- okay.  And in wha t ways can the 
 
         14   electric distribution companies move the monies they 
 
         15   receive under rider -- monies that th ey receive to 
 
         16   FirstEnergy Corp.? 
 
         17          A.   Via a dividend. 
 
         18          Q.   Are there any other ways?  
 
         19          A.   No. 
 
         20          Q.   In what ways can FirstEne rgy Corp. move 
 
         21   monies to FirstEnergy Solutions? 
 
         22          A.   The company has stated th at it is not 
 
         23   intending to invest any additional do llars in 
 
         24   FirstEnergy Solutions, and FirstEnerg y Solutions has 
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          1   to be self-sufficient and is expected  to be 
 
          2   self-sufficient through 2018. 
 
          3          Q.   In what ways can FirstEne rgy Corp. move 
 
          4   monies to FirstEnergy Solutions? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          6   answered. 
 
          7          A.   Right.  FirstEnergy Corpo ration is -- 
 
          8   has -- is not intending to invest any  more dollars in 
 
          9   FirstEnergy Solutions. 
 
         10          Q.   I understand that you've said it doesn't 
 
         11   intend to do so.  I am asking in what  ways is it able 
 
         12   to do so. 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Well, since s he said now 
 
         14   twice, actually more than twice, that  FirstEnergy 
 
         15   Corp. is not going to do so, the abil ity to do so is 
 
         16   irrelevant; and, now, you are arguing  with the 
 
         17   witness again. 
 
         18          Q.   FirstEnergy Corp. could c hange its mind, 
 
         19   couldn't it, tomorrow on that intenti on to not invest 
 
         20   further in FirstEnergy Solutions, cor rect? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         22          A.   I don't know. 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Argumentative .  Go ahead. 
 
         24          A.   I don't know.  I think th ey've made a 
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          1   public statement with respect to the intent not to 
 
          2   invest in FirstEnergy Solutions. 
 
          3          Q.   There's nothing that prec ludes them other 
 
          4   than that stated intention from movin g monies to or 
 
          5   investing further in FirstEnergy Solu tions; is that 
 
          6   correct? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, ar gumentative. 
 
          8          A.   I am not aware of any pro hibition. 
 
          9          Q.   If we could turn to page 7 in your 
 
         10   testimony, lines 17 to 22 at the bott om of the page, 
 
         11   you indicated that under the proposal  the rider rate 
 
         12   will be set annually, and it's going to be set 
 
         13   annually using in part forward-lookin g energy prices, 
 
         14   correct? 
 
         15          A.   Yes. 
 
         16          Q.   When that rider rate is a djusted 
 
         17   quarterly, the companies will use an -- a different 
 
         18   forecasted forward energy price; is t hat correct? 
 
         19          A.   No. 
 
         20          Q.   When the rider rate is ad justed on a 
 
         21   quarterly basis, the adjustment will be based on 
 
         22   historic energy revenues and the same  forecast -- 
 
         23   forward-looking energy price that was  used when it 
 
         24   was set annually; is that correct? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          2          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          3   please? 
 
          4          Q.   What part did you not und erstand? 
 
          5          A.   All of the interactions o f the various 
 
          6   parts that you included in the questi on. 
 
          7          Q.   When the rider rate is ad justed on a 
 
          8   quarterly basis, part of the adjustme nt is going to 
 
          9   include the use of actual energy reve nues, correct? 
 
         10          A.   The rider will be trued u p quarterly to 
 
         11   reconcile projected energy revenues w ith actual 
 
         12   energy revenues based on the actual m onthly average 
 
         13   on-peak and off-peak day-ahead LMP at  the AEP Dayton 
 
         14   Hub and to reconcile actual sales and  billing demands 
 
         15   with projected amounts.  That's the q uarterly 
 
         16   true-up. 
 
         17          Q.   When that quarterly true- up takes place, 
 
         18   is there going to be any amount that is forecasted 
 
         19   forward energy prices? 
 
         20          A.   No. 
 
         21          Q.   So this -- does that mean  that under this 
 
         22   proposal the rider rate will only be based on 
 
         23   forecasted forward energy prices when  it's set 
 
         24   annually? 
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          1          A.   Yes. 
 
          2          Q.   And what information is g oing to be used 
 
          3   by the companies to develop that fore casted forward 
 
          4   energy price when the rate is set ann ually? 
 
          5          A.   Monthly on-peak and month ly off-peak 
 
          6   generation output values multiplied b y monthly 
 
          7   average on-peak and off-peak energy f orwards for the 
 
          8   AEP Dayton Hub posted on the Intercon tinental 
 
          9   Exchange based on the average of the March trade -- 
 
         10   the values on the March trade dates p lus capacity 
 
         11   values based on known capacity prices  and assumed 
 
         12   capacity cleared plus ancillary charg es. 
 
         13          Q.   Now, for the capacity pri ce component in 
 
         14   the calculation, we have an actual ca pacity price for 
 
         15   the period June 2019 to May 2020 that  wasn't 
 
         16   available previously in this proceedi ng, correct? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         18          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         19   please? 
 
         20          Q.   Previously in this procee ding the 
 
         21   distribution companies did not presen t an actual 
 
         22   capacity price for the period June 20 19 to May 2020, 
 
         23   correct? 
 
         24          A.   Correct.  It was not know n at the time. 
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          1          Q.   And it is now known, corr ect? 
 
          2          A.   Yes. 
 
          3          Q.   How does the actual known  capacity price 
 
          4   for June 2019 to May 2020 compare wit h the projection 
 
          5   that was presented by the distributio n company in 
 
          6   this proceeding? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Excuse me.  E xcuse me.  Can I 
 
          8   have the question read, please. 
 
          9               (Record read.) 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection.  I  will instruct 
 
         11   you not to answer.  That's confidenti al. 
 
         12               MS. PETRUCCI:  David, you  are saying it's 
 
         13   confidential because? 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Because it's confidential. 
 
         15          Q.   (By Ms. Petrucci) Is it p ossible under 
 
         16   the proposal that you have put forth that the 
 
         17   quarterly reconciliations could chang e the rider rate 
 
         18   from a credit in one quarter to a cha rge in the 
 
         19   immediately following quarter? 
 
         20               THE WITNESS:  May I have that question 
 
         21   reread, please. 
 
         22               (Record read.) 
 
         23          A.   I suppose anything is pos sible, but I 
 
         24   wouldn't think so. 
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          1          Q.   The companies have not pr esented a rider 
 
          2   rate for each of the quarters over th e period of 
 
          3   time, correct? 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5          Q.   In your testimony on page  4, line 20, you 
 
          6   indicated that the proposal is tied m ore closely to 
 
          7   the existing record.  Do you mean tha t the proposal 
 
          8   is tied more closely to the net credi t that the 
 
          9   companies indicated and projected ear lier for the 
 
         10   rider? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         12          A.   No. 
 
         13          Q.   Why is that? 
 
         14          A.   May I ask you to rephrase , please? 
 
         15          Q.   Why did you answer "No"? 
 
         16          A.   The reference is tied mor e closely to the 
 
         17   existing record refers to the utiliza tion going 
 
         18   forward of the generation output, the  assumed 
 
         19   capacity cleared, and the proxy costs  that were 
 
         20   included in the existing record in th e calculation of 
 
         21   rider RRS going forward. 
 
         22               MS. PETRUCCI:  Can I have  the answer 
 
         23   reread, please. 
 
         24               (Record read.) 
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          1          Q.   So the distribution compa nies pay at 
 
          2   least $561 million in credits to thei r customers over 
 
          3   the term of the rider? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          5          A.   It is projected that ride r RRS will be a 
 
          6   $560 million -- $561 million net cred it over the term 
 
          7   of the ESP. 
 
          8          Q.   And by that you mean it's  still just a 
 
          9   projection at this point, correct? 
 
         10          A.   Yes. 
 
         11          Q.   Under the proposal will F irstEnergy 
 
         12   Solutions receive a direct financial benefit? 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         14          A.   No. 
 
         15          Q.   Under the proposal will F irstEnergy 
 
         16   Solutions receive an indirect financi al benefit? 
 
         17          A.   No. 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         19          Q.   When you discussed earlie r about the 
 
         20   evaluation of the entirety of the ESP  IV including 
 
         21   the new proposal, did the evaluation assume the 
 
         22   outcome of the proposal would be a $5 61 million 
 
         23   credit to customers? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
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          1          A.   Yes. 
 
          2          Q.   And is that evaluation th e Excel 
 
          3   spreadsheet that has been discussed p reviously? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
          5   please. 
 
          6               (Record read.) 
 
          7          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          8   please? 
 
          9          Q.   Is the evaluation of the entirety of the 
 
         10   ESP IV including the proposal the sam e thing as the 
 
         11   Excel spreadsheet that you discussed with Mr. Fisk 
 
         12   and Ms. Willis? 
 
         13          A.   I discussed an evaluation  of the ESP IV 
 
         14   prepared by the rates department.  I did not mean to 
 
         15   suggest that was the entirety of the evaluation of 
 
         16   the ESP IV. 
 
         17          Q.   Was a separate evaluation  conducted of 
 
         18   the entirety of the ESP IV including the proposal? 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         20          A.   The proposal was approved  by energy 
 
         21   delivery management and reviewed by t he treasury 
 
         22   department and others prior to the en ergy delivery 
 
         23   department approving the proposal.  I  consider that 
 
         24   part and parcel of the evaluation of the proposal as 
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          1   part of the ESP IV. 
 
          2               MS. WILLIS:  May I have t hat answer 
 
          3   reread, please. 
 
          4               (Record read.) 
 
          5          Q.   So there was an evaluatio n conducted of 
 
          6   the -- before your testimony was file d and that 
 
          7   evaluation was of the entirety of the  ESP IV with the 
 
          8   proposal, correct? 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   And then after your testi mony was filed, 
 
         11   the Excel spreadsheet was prepared un der your 
 
         12   direction to get a directional sense of the ESP IV's 
 
         13   impact, correct? 
 
         14          A.   Yes. 
 
         15          Q.   Was the -- the evaluation  that I just 
 
         16   described first prior to the filing o f the testimony 
 
         17   prepared in writing? 
 
         18          A.   If it was, it would have been under the 
 
         19   direction of counsel. 
 
         20          Q.   Under the proposal how lo ng is rider RRS 
 
         21   proposed to remain in effect? 
 
         22          A.   May 31, 2024. 
 
         23          Q.   Can the distribution comp anies terminate 
 
         24   the rider RRS -- 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          2          Q.   -- during -- 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  These exact q uestions were 
 
          4   asked by Ms. Willis.  Can we move on?   It's late in 
 
          5   the day. 
 
          6          Q.   Can the electric distribu tion companies 
 
          7   terminate the ESP IV? 
 
          8          A.   The electric distribution  utilities have 
 
          9   the statutory right to withdraw a mod ified ESP. 
 
         10          Q.   Do you agree with me the ESP IV was 
 
         11   modified by the PUCO? 
 
         12          A.   Yes. 
 
         13          Q.   And do you agree that tod ay the 
 
         14   distribution companies have the abili ty to withdraw 
 
         15   or terminate the ESP IV? 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         17          A.   Yes. 
 
         18          Q.   Under the proposal have t he companies 
 
         19   included any provision for terminatio n of rider RRS? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         21   answered. 
 
         22          A.   The proposal, as we discu ssed at length 
 
         23   already today, does allow for the Com mission to 
 
         24   modify after hearing the rider RRS ch arge or credit 
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          1   if as a consequence of there being le ss than 3,200 
 
          2   megawatts of formerly rate-based nucl ear or fossil 
 
          3   generation formerly owned by the comp anies in 
 
          4   operation. 
 
          5          Q.   Besides that portion of t he proposal does 
 
          6   the distribution companies -- strike that. 
 
          7               Besides the ability of th e PUCO to reduce 
 
          8   the rate, does the proposal allow the  distribution 
 
          9   companies the ability to terminate th e rider? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Again, this i s asked and 
 
         11   answered.  Move on.  Next question. 
 
         12          Q.   Please answer my question , Ms. Mikkelsen. 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  No.  Are you done asking a 
 
         14   question?  We'll move onto the next c ounsel then. 
 
         15   Let's stop wasting time. 
 
         16               MS. PETRUCCI:  I am not w asting time. 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  You are wasti ng time because 
 
         18   that question was specifically asked by Ms. Willis. 
 
         19          Q.   (By Ms. Petrucci) Looking  at the 
 
         20   provision of the PUCO's ability to re duce the charge 
 
         21   or credit, is the only ability for th e Commission to 
 
         22   do that through the proceeding initia ted pursuant to 
 
         23   Revised Code 4905.26? 
 
         24          A.   Yes. 
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          1          Q.   And, therefore, the PUCO would not be 
 
          2   able to reduce as a result of its per iodic reviews of 
 
          3   the rider, correct? 
 
          4          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          5   please? 
 
          6          Q.   Under the proposal the Co mmission will 
 
          7   still have the ability to conduct per iodic reviews of 
 
          8   rider RRS, correct? 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   Under the proposal the Co mmission could 
 
         11   not reduce the charge or credit assoc iated with the 
 
         12   3,200 megawatt change in that level i n the periodic 
 
         13   reviews; is that accurate? 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         15               THE WITNESS:  May I ask t hat the question 
 
         16   be reread, please. 
 
         17               (Record read.) 
 
         18          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         19   please? 
 
         20          Q.   Under the proposal will t he PUCO be able 
 
         21   to reduce the rider charge due to the  less than 3,200 
 
         22   megawatts of generation provision in the proposal? 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Could you rea d it, please. 
 
         24               (Record read.) 
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          1          Q.   And I am trying to ask ve ry specifically 
 
          2   can the PUCO make that reduction duri ng a periodic 
 
          3   review? 
 
          4          A.   No. 
 
          5          Q.   Just one moment, please. 
 
          6               Under the proposal rider RRS will no 
 
          7   longer -- would not be revenue neutra l to the 
 
          8   distribution companies, correct? 
 
          9          A.   Correct. 
 
         10          Q.   And that's a change from the original 
 
         11   proposal presented in this proceeding , correct? 
 
         12          A.   It is a change from the o riginal proposal 
 
         13   in this proceeding, but what was ulti mately approved 
 
         14   by the Commission for rider RRS was n ot designed to 
 
         15   be revenue neutral to the utilities. 
 
         16          Q.   Under the proposal rider RRS will be 
 
         17   applicable to all customers, shopping  and 
 
         18   nonshopping, correct? 
 
         19          A.   Yes. 
 
         20          Q.   The proposal does not aff ect any 
 
         21   arrangement for the supply of electri city to the 
 
         22   distribution companies' customers, co rrect? 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         24          A.   Yes. 
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          1          Q.   And the proposal does not  affect the 
 
          2   actual supply of electricity to the d istribution 
 
          3   companies' customers, correct? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          5          A.   Yes. 
 
          6          Q.   In your testimony on page  9, you 
 
          7   indicated that signatory parties are supportive of 
 
          8   the proposal.  Have any of the signat ory parties put 
 
          9   that support in writing? 
 
         10          A.   The signatory parties exp ressed their 
 
         11   support to the company of the proposa l prior to the 
 
         12   company filing the letter in the dock et on May 4, I 
 
         13   believe.  Some of that may have been -- that 
 
         14   expression may have been in writing. 
 
         15          Q.   Have all the stipulating parties 
 
         16   expressed support for the proposal? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         18          A.   The staff has not -- is s till conducting 
 
         19   its review and has not yet expressed support for the 
 
         20   proposal. 
 
         21          Q.   Is there any other signat ory party that 
 
         22   has not expressed support? 
 
         23          A.   Kroger has agreed not to oppose. 
 
         24          Q.   Any other signatory party ? 
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          1          A.   No.  The balance of the s ignatory parties 
 
          2   have expressed support. 
 
          3          Q.   When a customer pays unde r rider RRS, 
 
          4   will that revenue be distribution ser vice related? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          6          A.   The distribution utility will record the 
 
          7   revenues received associated with rid er RRS. 
 
          8               MS. PETRUCCI:  Can I have  the answer 
 
          9   reread, please. 
 
         10               (Record read.) 
 
         11          Q.   And then the inverse, whe n a credit is 
 
         12   provided, will this be recorded as a distribution 
 
         13   credit? 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, mi scharacterizes 
 
         15   her testimony. 
 
         16          A.   The rider RRS credits wil l reduce the 
 
         17   revenues collected by the distributio n utilities. 
 
         18          Q.   Will the credit reduce th e distribution 
 
         19   revenues? 
 
         20          A.   Yes. 
 
         21               MS. PETRUCCI:  Okay.  I j ust need a 
 
         22   moment to see if I have anything else . 
 
         23          Q.   Ms. Mikkelsen, the Excel spreadsheet, 
 
         24   that was nothing that was provided th us far in the 
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          1   discovery responses provided by the c ompanies, 
 
          2   correct? 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5               MS. PETRUCCI:  Then I gue ss the only item 
 
          6   that remains is the item that you had  marked -- you 
 
          7   had notified me is confidential, so I  will reserve 
 
          8   that question for that segment. 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  All right.  L et's go off the 
 
         10   record. 
 
         11               (Recess taken.) 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Let's go back  on the record. 
 
         13               Ms. Bojko, are you there?  
 
         14               MS. BOJKO:  Thank you. 
 
         15                           - - - 
 
         16                     CROSS-EXAMINATION 
 
         17   By Ms. Bojko: 
 
         18          Q.   Good afternoon, Ms. Mikke lsen. 
 
         19          A.   Good afternoon. 
 
         20          Q.   Can you hear me fine? 
 
         21          A.   Yes. 
 
         22          Q.   You discussed today charg es and credits, 
 
         23   and you discussed -- let me start ove r. 
 
         24               The original rider RRS pr oposal consisted 
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          1   of charges and credits and that's dis cussed on page 3 
 
          2   of your testimony; is that right? 
 
          3          A.   Yes. 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  And what you calle d the proposal, 
 
          5   the modified rider RRS, as I understa nd your 
 
          6   testimony today as well as discovery responses, 
 
          7   instead of credits the companies is p roposing to 
 
          8   lower the amount of cash received by the companies as 
 
          9   a result of this proposal; is that co rrect? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         11          A.   No. 
 
         12          Q.   So it's not the companies ' position 
 
         13   instead of issuing a credit that they  just reduce the 
 
         14   amount that a customer would pay unde r distribution 
 
         15   though? 
 
         16          A.   The rider RRS charge woul d be a credit 
 
         17   which when added to all the other cha rges on the bill 
 
         18   would result in a lower bill total th an would have 
 
         19   otherwise existed. 
 
         20          Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  So you  still intend to 
 
         21   actually put a credit on a customer's  distribution 
 
         22   bill. 
 
         23          A.   Yes. 
 
         24          Q.   Thank you for that clarif ication.  If the 
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          1   lowering of the cash receipts receive d by the company 
 
          2   equals $963 million that was discusse d earlier today, 
 
          3   would the companies be able to sustai n their 
 
          4   operations at the same level as they are today? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          6          A.   I don't think you can loo k at the 963 or 
 
          7   a partial term of the agreement.  You  should look, I 
 
          8   think, at the cash over the entirety of the ESP 
 
          9   period as well as the other elements of the ESP and 
 
         10   look at that in its totality. 
 
         11          Q.   Is it your belief that --  let's take an 
 
         12   example.  In 2019 with regard to the depo Sierra Club 
 
         13   Exhibit 1, line 12, is it your unders tanding that the 
 
         14   projected credit to customers would b e $126 million? 
 
         15          A.   Yes. 
 
         16          Q.   So in 2019 if the compani es lowered the 
 
         17   cash that they received by $126 milli on, in your 
 
         18   opinion could the companies sustain o perations at the 
 
         19   same level as they do today? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         21   answered. 
 
         22          A.   The analysis I think woul d have to look 
 
         23   at the totality of the impact of ESP IV and 
 
         24   utilities' operations -- pardon me, a nd the results 
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          1   of the utilities' operations. 
 
          2          Q.   Does that mean in one yea r's time you 
 
          3   believe that the companies could with stand a 
 
          4   reduction in revenues of $126 million ? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as sumes facts. 
 
          6          A.   May I ask you to restate the question, 
 
          7   please? 
 
          8          Q.   Sure.  Assuming that the projection 
 
          9   contained in Sierra Club Exhibit 1 fo r the deposition 
 
         10   comes to fruition and in 2019 the cus tomers receive 
 
         11   credits in the magnitude of $126 mill ion, is it your 
 
         12   opinion that the companies could sust ain their 
 
         13   operations at the same level as they are today if 
 
         14   they received $126 million less in re venues in 2019? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         16          A.   Again, I don't think you can look at one 
 
         17   element of the ESP in isolation.  You  would need to 
 
         18   look at all of the provisions of the ESP as well as 
 
         19   the companies' operations to make tha t determination. 
 
         20          Q.   If in one year the compan ies could no 
 
         21   longer sustain operations because of a large credit 
 
         22   provided to customers, in your opinio n what would the 
 
         23   companies do to -- in order to mainta in operations in 
 
         24   a safe and reliable manner? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, ca lls for 
 
          2   speculation, assumes facts not in evi dence.  Go 
 
          3   ahead. 
 
          4          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          5   please? 
 
          6          Q.   What part of my question do you not 
 
          7   understand? 
 
          8          A.   I'm not sure -- I thought  the question 
 
          9   first assumed you couldn't sustain op erations, and 
 
         10   then it asked what you would do to su stain 
 
         11   operations, so I found it to be inter nally 
 
         12   inconsistent. 
 
         13          Q.   Okay.  Assume that the cr edits was a 
 
         14   significant amount in one year of the  ESP IV plan and 
 
         15   the companies were in a financial sit uation where 
 
         16   they could no longer sustain their op eration, what do 
 
         17   you believe the companies -- what act ion would the 
 
         18   companies take in order to generate m ore revenue for 
 
         19   the companies in order to be able to get back to the 
 
         20   level where they could sustain the op erations in a 
 
         21   safe and reliable manner? 
 
         22          A.   I don't know. 
 
         23          Q.   You mentioned the stipula tion provision 
 
         24   that would not allow the companies to  file a 
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          1   distribution rate -- rate case during  the ESP IV 
 
          2   term.  Do you recall that? 
 
          3          A.   Yes.  I said "Yes."  I'm not sure if you 
 
          4   heard.  There was a disruption on the  phone. 
 
          5          Q.   Oh, thank you.  I did not .  Do you 
 
          6   believe that the Commission also appr oved the 
 
          7   exceptions to the distribution rate f reeze as 
 
          8   outlined in the third supplemental st ipulation? 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
         10   please. 
 
         11               (Record read.) 
 
         12          A.   Yes. 
 
         13          Q.   Is there anything that wa s in the 
 
         14   proposal that would prohibit the comp anies from 
 
         15   filing for an emergency rate increase  under the 
 
         16   Commission's rules and regulations? 
 
         17          A.   No. 
 
         18          Q.   Is there nothing in the p roposal that 
 
         19   would prohibit the companies from fil ing a 
 
         20   self-complaint under the Commission's  rules and 
 
         21   regulations? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         23          A.   No. 
 
         24          Q.   Is there any prohibition -- I know you've 
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          1   discussed intentions and things of th at nature today. 
 
          2   But is there any prohibition of the c ompanies 
 
          3   transferring revenues to FirstEnergy Solutions in the 
 
          4   proposal? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          6   answered. 
 
          7          A.   The companies will not tr ansfer cash to 
 
          8   FES as part of this proposal. 
 
          9          Q.   Is there any prohibition of the companies 
 
         10   transferring revenues to FirstEnergy Corp. under this 
 
         11   proposal? 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         13   answered. 
 
         14          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         15   please? 
 
         16          Q.   Is there any prohibition of the 
 
         17   companies -- 
 
         18               MS. BOJKO:  I don't think  the question 
 
         19   was asked in the prohibition context,  Mr. Kutik. 
 
         20   That's what I am trying to get clarif ication. 
 
         21          Q.   But is there any prohibit ion of the 
 
         22   companies moving, I think is the word  used 
 
         23   previously, revenues to FirstEnergy C orp. in the form 
 
         24   of dividend? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  That was aske d and so I'll 
 
          2   object on that basis. 
 
          3          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          4   please? 
 
          5          Q.   Is there any prohibition of the companies 
 
          6   moving revenues to FirstEnergy Corp. under the 
 
          7   proposal? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          9          A.   I'm not aware of any mech anism for 
 
         10   first -- for the utilities to transfe r revenue to 
 
         11   FirstEnergy Corp. 
 
         12          Q.   And there's no prohibitio n in the 
 
         13   proposal itself with regarding not pr oviding 
 
         14   dividends to FirstEnergy Corp. as a r esult of the 
 
         15   proposal. 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         17   answered. 
 
         18          A.   There is nothing in the p roposal that 
 
         19   prohibits the utility companies from making a 
 
         20   dividend to the parent. 
 
         21          Q.   And there's nothing in th e proposal that 
 
         22   would prohibit the companies from tra nsferring 
 
         23   revenues to any other affiliate, corr ect? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Objection.  M ay I have the 
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          1   question read, please. 
 
          2               (Record read.) 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  That one has also been asked 
 
          4   and answered, particularly with respe ct to FES. 
 
          5          Q.   Right, other than FES. 
 
          6          A.   I'm not aware of a mechan ism that exists 
 
          7   to transfer revenue among affiliates.  
 
          8          Q.   And there's no prohibitio n of moving 
 
          9   money in the proposal to affiliates o ther than FES? 
 
         10               THE WITNESS:  May I ask y ou to reread the 
 
         11   question, please. 
 
         12               (Record read.) 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         14   answered.  She just answered that que stion. 
 
         15               THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.  May I ask you 
 
         16   to read the question again.  I apolog ize. 
 
         17               (Record read.) 
 
         18          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question as 
 
         19   it relates to "moving money"? 
 
         20          Q.   I thought you were trying  to narrow your 
 
         21   response based on my word of transfer , so I used the 
 
         22   moving but there's nothing in the pro posal that 
 
         23   prohibits the companies from providin g revenues to 
 
         24   any affiliates; is that correct? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          2   answered. 
 
          3          A.   There's no mechanism that  exists for the 
 
          4   utilities to transfer revenue. 
 
          5          Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  Was th e power purchase 
 
          6   agreement with FES described on pages  3 and 4 of your 
 
          7   testimony terminated? 
 
          8          A.   No. 
 
          9          Q.   And on page 4 of your tes timony you 
 
         10   discuss the FERC order.  Do the compa nies intend to 
 
         11   file the PPA with FERC for review? 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Well, hold on  a second. 
 
         13          Q.   Strike that.  Let me try that again.  Do 
 
         14   the -- do you know whether FirstEnerg y Corp. or any 
 
         15   of its affiliates intend to file the PPA with FERC 
 
         16   for review? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Well, you sho uld exclude any 
 
         18   question -- any information obtained through 
 
         19   conversations with counsel undertaken  for the purpose 
 
         20   of providing or giving legal advice, seeking or 
 
         21   providing legal advice. 
 
         22          A.   The companies' proposal b efore the 
 
         23   Commission does not rely in any way u pon a purchase 
 
         24   power agreement, so to the extent tha t the companies' 
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          1   proposal is approved, I would not exp ect any of the 
 
          2   FirstEnergy affiliates to file the PP A before FERC. 
 
          3          Q.   To the extent the compani es' proposal is 
 
          4   not approved, would you expect FirstE nergy Corp. or 
 
          5   its affiliates to file the PPA with F ERC? 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Same instruct ion and it's 
 
          7   also irrelevant. 
 
          8          A.   I don't know. 
 
          9          Q.   I have a couple of additi onal questions 
 
         10   with regard to the signatory parties on page 9 of 
 
         11   your testimony with Ms. Petrucci toda y.  Did the 
 
         12   signatory parties expressly support t he modified 
 
         13   rider RRS, what you are calling the p roposal? 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         15          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         16   please? 
 
         17          Q.   Sure.  The signatory part ies that you 
 
         18   mentioned today, all but two, did the y provide 
 
         19   express support for the proposal, the  modified rider 
 
         20   RRS piece of the stipulated ESP IV? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         22          A.   Yes, they have expressed their support of 
 
         23   the proposal. 
 
         24          Q.   Were the signatory partie s that you 
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          1   referenced all but required to suppor t the proposal 
 
          2   in order to maintain the benefits the y received under 
 
          3   the stipulated ESP IV which included the four 
 
          4   stipulations? 
 
          5          A.   No, I don't recall any di scussions of 
 
          6   that nature. 
 
          7          Q.   When you were discussing who reviewed the 
 
          8   proposal before it was filed, you use d the term "our 
 
          9   treasury department" earlier today.  Is the treasury 
 
         10   department located in the FirstEnergy  Service 
 
         11   Company, or were you talking about a treasury company 
 
         12   inside the companies? 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         14   answered. 
 
         15          A.   The treasury department r esides in 
 
         16   FirstEnergy Service Corp. 
 
         17          Q.   And Steve Staub is the tr easurer that you 
 
         18   referenced earlier today.  He's the V P and treasurer 
 
         19   of FirstEnergy Corp., correct? 
 
         20          A.   I don't know.  I assume y es. 
 
         21          Q.   Do you know if he serves as the treasurer 
 
         22   of the Ohio operating companies? 
 
         23          A.   Yes. 
 
         24          Q.   Yes, you know or, yes, he  is? 
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          1          A.   Both, yes. 
 
          2          Q.   He also serves as the ass istant treasurer 
 
          3   and VP to FirstEnergy Generation, LLC ; is that 
 
          4   correct? 
 
          5          A.   I don't know. 
 
          6          Q.   And a question with regar d to the 
 
          7   utilities group that you referenced e arlier.  That is 
 
          8   also housed in the FirstEnergy Servic e Company; is 
 
          9   that correct? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         11               THE WITNESS:  Can I have that question 
 
         12   reread, please. 
 
         13               (Record read.) 
 
         14          A.   Utility companies are sep arate legal 
 
         15   entities from the FirstEnergy Service  Corp.  There 
 
         16   are employees at FirstEnergy Service Corp. who 
 
         17   provide services to the companies. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  I was referencing I thought you 
 
         19   said that Steve Strah was the preside nt of the 
 
         20   utilities group, and is that group no t a Service 
 
         21   Company group?  Is that what you were  referring to, 
 
         22   that the utilities are not in the Ser vice Company? 
 
         23          A.   Right.  The utility compa nies are not in 
 
         24   the Service Company. 
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          1          Q.   Okay.  And Steve Strah is  responsible for 
 
          2   all regulated utilities; is that corr ect? 
 
          3          A.   Yes. 
 
          4          Q.   Sorry.  You hear pages fl ipping.  I'm 
 
          5   down to my -- I am trying not to ask you the same 
 
          6   thing. 
 
          7          A.   Thank you. 
 
          8          Q.   Earlier today, sorry, wit h Ms. Willis you 
 
          9   were talking about page 1 of your tes timony, you are 
 
         10   talking about benefits to customers, and as one of 
 
         11   the benefits to customers, you identi fied the 
 
         12   elimination of risk associated with u ncertainty of 
 
         13   whether the ESP IV will continue or n ot continue.  Do 
 
         14   you recall that? 
 
         15          A.   Yes. 
 
         16          Q.   What uncertainty are you talking about in 
 
         17   this instance? 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         19   answered.  Go ahead tell her again. 
 
         20          A.   The uncertainty surroundi ng whether or 
 
         21   not the ESP IV will continue or not. 
 
         22          Q.   I'm sorry.  I understood that to be the 
 
         23   elimination of risk.  I am asking con tinue or not 
 
         24   continue in what respect.  Not contin ue at all 
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          1   because the rider RRS is not approved  or what are you 
 
          2   referencing? 
 
          3          A.   Yes, I'm referencing the companies' 
 
          4   ability to withdraw a modified ESP an d the 
 
          5   uncertainty surrounding whether the c ompanies will or 
 
          6   won't do that. 
 
          7          Q.   So are you suggesting tha t if rider 
 
          8   RRS -- the proposal, if approved by t he Commission, 
 
          9   that uncertainty is removed because y ou are accepting 
 
         10   the modified ESP? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Can I have th e question read, 
 
         12   please. 
 
         13               (Record read.) 
 
         14          A.   It would not be a decisio n I'm 
 
         15   responsible for, but I would expect t he uncertainty 
 
         16   around that outcome is lessened with the approval of 
 
         17   the rider RRS proposal. 
 
         18          Q.   And you're not speaking t o the other in 
 
         19   making that statement.  You are not s peaking to the 
 
         20   other unknowns that the companies hav e applied for a 
 
         21   rehearing on with regard to whether t hey would 
 
         22   withdraw or not withdraw the ESP depe nding on the 
 
         23   outcome of that hearing? 
 
         24          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
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          1   please?  I am not sure I understood. 
 
          2          Q.   Sorry.  In responding abo ut whether it 
 
          3   would be lessened, the companies woul d likely lessen 
 
          4   the risk of withdrawal if the proposa l was approved, 
 
          5   I guess I am asking if that statement  is considering 
 
          6   the other items that FirstEnergy has applied for 
 
          7   rehearing on and what if they are suc cessful or not 
 
          8   successful at the Commission with tho se items with 
 
          9   regard to the total ESP IV stipulatio n? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         11          A.   My comment addressed the items included 
 
         12   in the application for rehearing that  related to 
 
         13   rider RRS. 
 
         14          Q.   Would the projected credi ts under the 
 
         15   proposal create regulatory liabilitie s of the 
 
         16   company? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         18          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question? 
 
         19          Q.   What part do you not unde rstand? 
 
         20          A.   Timing. 
 
         21          Q.   Well, if there is a proje cted credit in a 
 
         22   particular year, wouldn't that not cr eate a 
 
         23   regulatory liability that the compani es would have to 
 
         24   account for? 
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          1          A.   No. 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          3          Q.   And why not? 
 
          4          A.   It would not be required under the 
 
          5   Generally Accepted Accounting Princip les. 
 
          6          Q.   If -- if a credit is dete rmined through 
 
          7   the reconciliation process or the ann ual process in 
 
          8   that year where that credit was deter mined to be 
 
          9   necessary, at that point would a regu latory liability 
 
         10   be created for the company? 
 
         11          A.   No. 
 
         12          Q.   Isn't a regulatory liabil ity required 
 
         13   when there's a probable future reduct ion in the 
 
         14   revenue received from customers for a  utility? 
 
         15               THE WITNESS:  May I have the question 
 
         16   reread, please. 
 
         17               (Record read.) 
 
         18          A.   No. 
 
         19          Q.   When do you believe a reg ulatory 
 
         20   liability would need to be created? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         22          A.   If and when future circum stances are 
 
         23   consistent with Generally Accepted Ac counting 
 
         24   Principles associated with recording a regulatory 
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          1   liability. 
 
          2          Q.   And under the proposal wh en do you think 
 
          3   that would occur, if at all? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          5          A.   I don't think it would oc cur on an annual 
 
          6   basis.  It may occur on a monthly bas is pursuant to 
 
          7   the quarterly true-up after actual va lues are known. 
 
          8          Q.   Thank you.  And although the companies 
 
          9   are still projecting a net credit to customers under 
 
         10   the proposal, the companies are not g uaranteeing that 
 
         11   customers will receive the credit in the amount 
 
         12   projected; is that correct? 
 
         13          A.   Yes. 
 
         14          Q.   You made a comment earlie r that the 
 
         15   FirstEnergy Corp. has stated its inte nt not to invest 
 
         16   any further into FirstEnergy Solution s, and you also 
 
         17   referenced 2018.  Is it your understa nding that the 
 
         18   FirstEnergy Corp. statement of its in tent not to 
 
         19   invest in FES is limited to the 2018 time frame? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, mi scharacterizes 
 
         21   her testimony. 
 
         22          A.   The reference to 2000 -- pardon me, the 
 
         23   reference to 2018 was provided in the  context that 
 
         24   the FES is projected to be self-susta ining or cash 
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          1   positive through 2018. 
 
          2          Q.   Thank you.  So you don't believe that the 
 
          3   intent to not -- do you know whether FirstEnergy 
 
          4   Corp.'s statement of its intent not t o invest in 
 
          5   FirstEnergy Solutions is limited to a ny time period? 
 
          6          A.   I'm not aware of any time  period 
 
          7   limitation. 
 
          8          Q.   Do you know whether any s tatements have 
 
          9   been made about whether FES will be a ble to be 
 
         10   self-sufficient after 2018? 
 
         11          A.   No, I don't. 
 
         12               MS. BOJKO:  If I could ha ve 2 minutes, I 
 
         13   think I'm almost done. 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Let's go off the record. 
 
         15               (Discussion off the recor d.) 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Let's go back  on the record. 
 
         17   POI. 
 
         18               MS. BOJKO:  Sorry about t hat.  Thank you. 
 
         19          Q.   (By Ms. Bojko) Ms. Mikkel sen, you were 
 
         20   talking -- you were testifying earlie r today about 
 
         21   the page 15 of your testimony and the  continued 
 
         22   operation of a fuel diverse baseload generating unit. 
 
         23   Do you recall that? 
 
         24          A.   I recall a discussion mor e particularly 
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          1   with respect to page 15 generally fro m line 8 to 14. 
 
          2          Q.   Okay.  In that discussion  you talked 
 
          3   about rider RRS the benefits remainin g intact.  Do 
 
          4   you recall that? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  I' sorry.  Wh at you did say? 
 
          6          Q.   I am trying not to repeat  everything.  I 
 
          7   apologize.  You made the comment that  the benefits of 
 
          8   rider RRS will remain intact with the  proposal with 
 
          9   regard to the continued operation of fuel diverse 
 
         10   baseload generation.  Do you recall t hat? 
 
         11          A.   No. 
 
         12          Q.   Let's try if you look at page 16, 
 
         13   lines -- the end of line 7 through 10 , you state that 
 
         14   the Commission has recognized the con tinued operation 
 
         15   of fuel diverse baseload generating u nits provides 
 
         16   significant positive economic and tax  impact for 
 
         17   employees, suppliers, and governmenta l entities in 
 
         18   the region.  Do you see that? 
 
         19          A.   Yes. 
 
         20          Q.   And you state that as lon g as 3,200 
 
         21   megawatts are located within the ATSI  zone, customers 
 
         22   will continue to receive those reliab ility benefits 
 
         23   of the original proposal; is that cor rect? 
 
         24          A.   That's what -- yes, that' s what it says 
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          1   on lines 10, 11, and 12. 
 
          2          Q.   And your testimony is tha t you believe 
 
          3   that those benefits will continue und er the new 
 
          4   proposal regardless of where the plan ts are located; 
 
          5   is that correct? 
 
          6          A.   No. 
 
          7          Q.   Let me clarify.  Regardle ss of where the 
 
          8   plants are located in the region.  Th ey don't have to 
 
          9   be located in Ohio; is that correct? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         11          A.   The benefits enumerated o n page 16 from 
 
         12   line 8 to line 12 will only exist to the extent that 
 
         13   there are 3,200 megawatts of formerly  rate-based 
 
         14   nuclear fuel or fossil generation tha t remain in 
 
         15   operation including at least 900 mega watts of nuclear 
 
         16   during the term of the ESP. 
 
         17          Q.   But those megawatts you j ust referenced 
 
         18   do not have to be located within the boundaries of 
 
         19   the State of Ohio, correct? 
 
         20          A.   Correct. 
 
         21               MS. BOJKO:  That's all I have.  Thank you 
 
         22   very much, Ms. Mikkelsen, for your ti me today. 
 
         23               THE WITNESS:  Thank you. 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Okay.  We wil l read the 
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          1   transcript.  And at this time we'll c omplete the 
 
          2   public portion of Ms. Mikkelsen's dep osition, and we 
 
          3   will begin shortly the confidential p ortion.  Thank 
 
          4   you. 
 
          5               (CONFIDENTIAL PORTION EXC ERPTED.) 
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          1   State of Ohio                 : 
                                            :  SS: 
          2   County of ___________________ : 
 
          3          I, Eileen M. Mikkelsen, do her eby certify that 
              I have read the foregoing transcript of my deposition 
          4   given on Wednesday, June 29, 2016; th at together with 
              the correction page attached hereto n oting changes in 
          5   form or substance, if any, it is true  and correct. 
 
          6 
 
          7                          ______________ ______________ 
                                     Eileen M. Mikk elsen 
          8 
 
          9          I do hereby certify that the f oregoing 
              transcript of the deposition of Eilee n M. Mikkelsen 
         10   was submitted to the witness for read ing and signing; 
              that after she had stated to the unde rsigned Notary 
         11   Public that she had read and examined  her deposition, 
              she signed the same in my presence on  the ________ 
         12   day of ______________________, 2016. 
 
         13 
                                       ____________ ______________ 
         14                            Notary Publi c 
 
         15 
 
         16   My commission expires _______________ __, ________. 
 
         17                           - - - 
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          1                        CERTIFICATE 
 
          2   State of Ohio             : 
                                        :  SS: 
          3   County of Franklin        : 
 
          4          I, Karen Sue Gibson, Notary Pu blic in and for 
              the State of Ohio, duly commissioned and qualified, 
          5   certify that the within named Eileen M. Mikkelsen was 
              by me duly sworn to testify to the wh ole truth in the 
          6   cause aforesaid; that the testimony w as taken down by 
              me in stenotypy in the presence of sa id witness, 
          7   afterwards transcribed upon a compute r; that the 
              foregoing is a true and correct trans cript of the 
          8   testimony given by said witness taken  at the time and 
              place in the foregoing caption specif ied and 
          9   completed without adjournment. 
 
         10          I certify that I am not a rela tive, employee, 
              or attorney of any of the parties her eto, or of any 
         11   attorney or counsel employed by the p arties, or 
              financially interested in the action.  
         12 
                     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have her eunto set my 
         13   hand and affixed my seal of office at  Columbus, Ohio, 
              on this 1st day of July, 2016. 
         14 
 
         15                      __________________ ______________ 
                                 Karen Sue Gibson, Registered 
         16                      Merit Reporter and  Notary Public 
                                 in and for the Sta te of Ohio. 
         17 
              My commission expires August 14, 2020 . 
         18 
              (KSG-6213) 
         19 
                                      - - - 
         20 
 
         21 
 
         22 
 
         23 
 
         24 
 
 
 
 
 
              ARMSTRONG & OKEY, INC., Columbus, Ohi o (614) 224-9481 
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1 State of Ohio

SS:

County of -Sj r^twv A-2

3 I, Eileen M. Mikkelsen, do hereby certify that
I have read the foregoing transcript of my deposition

given on Wednesday, June 29, 2016; that together with

the correction page attached hereto noting changes in
form or substance, if any, it is true and correct.

4

5

6

7

Eileen M. Mikkelsen
8

9 I do hereby certify that the foregoing

transcript of the deposition of Eileen M. Mikkelsen

was submitted to the witness for reading and signing;

that after she had stated to the undersigned Notary

Public that she had read and examined her deposition,

she signed the same in my presence on the
day of

10

11

c?th
J"uiu.12 , 2016.

13

'{UAsd

14 Notary Public

15

My commission expires f~&jb • 2
' •

16

17

18

VAm. Nancy Davis
, | Resident Summit County
* ! Notary Public, State of Ohio
/ My Commission Expires: 02A)8/2O21

19

i*
\20
Va
"<% of

21

22

23

24

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481



ERRATA SHEET

Please do not write on the transcript. Any changes in form or substance you
desire to make should be entered upon this sheet.

TO THE REPORTER:

ikI have read the entire transcript ofmy deposition taken on the day
, . or the same has been read to me. I

request that the following changes be entered upon the record for the reasons
indicated. I have signed my name to the signature page and authorize you to
attach the same to the original transcript.

of JHULi

Change Reason
Page Line

" f^C^O sVvo AcL CjF^Q	hrW;cr ^pJtdncj an -
Z2_ST

Ih3jl

Date 1-j (*j lis	Signature: ^x
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1 CERTIFICATE

State of Ohio2

SS:

County of Franklin3

I, Karen Sue Gibson, Notary Public in and for

the State of Ohio, duly commissioned and qualified,

certify that the within named Eileen M. Mikkelsen was

by me duly sworn to testify to the whole truth in the

cause aforesaid; that the testimony was taken down by

me in stenotypy in the presence of said witness,

afterwards transcribed upon a computer; that the

foregoing is a true and correct transcript of the

testimony given by said. witness taken at the time and

place in the foregoing caption specified and

completed without adjournment.

4

5

6

7

8

9

10 I certify that I am not a relative,

or attorney of any of the parties hereto,

attorney or counsel employed by the parties,

financially interested in the action.

employee,

or of any

11 or

12

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my

hand and affixed my seal of office at Columbus, Ohio,

on this 1st day of July, 2016.

13

14

iren Sue Gibson, Regist^r:^^^~\,^t.--t|t
Merit Reporter and Notafy

in and for the State of ^Oh&Jfe,,'

Wife - 4

15

16

17

My commission expires August 14, 2020.

18

(KSG-6213)

19

20

21

22

23

24

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481
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